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CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEH

SHARE REGISTRARS

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited
| 7/F, Far East Finance Centre
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Hong Kong

Cayman Islands principal share registrar and transfer office
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Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO. Box 309
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Units 2005-2007
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Hong Kong
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LISTING INFORMATION

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
Stock Code: 1418

WEBSITE

www.sinomax.com/group

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Email: if@sinomax.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
RA T 22

2024 2023
20244 2023F
Operating results (HK$'000) REZEE (THT)
Revenue WA 4,091,144 3,608,894
Gross profit EX 1,046,982 919,723
Profit before tax BRI AR T 199,495 122,612
Profit for the year FREA 162,649 80,502
Profit for the year attributable to owners AT B NEAEF AR
of the Company 138,068 62,593
Financial position (HK$’000) BN (FH&T)
Total assets MEE 2,556,986 2,406,144
Net current assets RBEEFE 370,198 339417
Unsecured bank borrowings FILIRRITREM 401,102 441,878
Net assets BEZFE 999,756 918490
Net assets attributable to owners of the Company EREBBANEGEEERE 973,705 925,758
Per share data (HK cents) SREE (Bl)
Dividend per share SRES
— Interim —H 1.0 04
~ Final — K 1.3 13
~Total —H85t 23 1.7
Earnings per share gkl
— Basic —&K 7.89 3.58
~ Diluted -8 7.89 358
Net assets value per share BREERME 57.1 52.5
Share price as at 31 December R12B31 BNKE 25.0 70

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
RA TS 22

2024 2023
20245 20234
Key statistics TEHE
Gross profit margin (%) EFE %) 25.6% 25.5%
Net profit/(loss) margin (%) FaA S (B8 E%) 4.0% 22%
Inventory turnover (days) FEREXH (X 59.1 722
Debtors’ turnover (days) BEBANBEXH (X 63.3 594
Creditors’ turnover (days) BEANBEXH (X) 60.0 542
Payout ratio (%) TREE (%) 10.7% 37.0%*
Dividend yield (%) % B U (%) 9.2% 24.3%
Return on total assets (%) BB ERIWE (%) 6.4% 3.3%
Return on net assets (%) B ERIHRE %) 16.3% 8.8%
Gearing ratio (%) BEABBLEE®%) 40.1% 48.1%
Current ratio (%) TRENELZR (%) 128.6% 126.8%

E Payout ratio is equal to dividend divided by profit for the year

RERRERREBRUAFRETR

BEEBEERAA
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERNE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Sinomax Group
Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”), | have great
pleasure of presenting to you our annual report for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 (the "Reporting Period").

The overall economy in 2024 was not as good as previously expected. Trade wars and anti-
dumping measures are becoming increasingly intense which hindered the development of our
global business. However, our strategy of developing more e-commerce sales and reaching
out to more global customers was successful. We are able to achieve a sales growth of
approximately 13.4% in 2024 and profit after taxation amounted to approximately HK$162.6

million.

We will remain cautiously optimistic and we will actively put in resources to explore businesses
with higher growth potential, particularly in the US and European markers, and reduce
expenditure. We will make good use of our strengths and explore opportunities in the
growing “Mattress-in-a-Box" market, and diversify our customer base in order to maintain our
position as one of the leading experts in visco-elastic health and wellness products in the US

and the retail markets in Hong Kong and the PRC.

In June 2024, one of our US subsidiaries, Sinomax USA Inc. (“Sinomax USA"), has been
honored as a Top Foam Technology Solution Provider of 2024 by Manufacturing Outlook.
Sinomax USA was chosen for its leading innovation in foam based bedding and mattress
products with its unique, proprietary foam formulations that are designed for optimal comfort
while also solving many other challenges. Sinomax USA also conducts extensive consumer
research to match its formulations to customer desired tactile characteristics and leverages a
fully vertically integrated supply chain enabling Sinomax USA to be a superior OEM and direct

manufacturer able to commercialize from concept to retail shelf entirely in-house.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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In November 2024, Sinomax USA has been awarded “Company of the Year" by the 2024
BIG Awards for Business. This incredible recognition is a direct result of the Company's hard
work, dedication, and commitment to making Sinomax USA a leader in sustainable innovation
and excellence. From our groundbreaking energy and waste reduction initiatives to the
development of eco-conscious products like Biossentials® memory foam and BioCool® cooling

gel, our team continues to push boundaries and set new standards in the industry.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff members for
their dedication to the Group, and the shareholders, valued customers, suppliers, bankers and

other business partners for their continuous support.

Lam Chi Fan

Chairman

|8 March 2025

Lam Chi Fan #E L
Chairman /&
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwASH

Revenue by operating segments RISEDEREIDHIA

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$482.3 RBREH AEENRAEING48238 8
million or approximately 13.4% to approximately HK$4,091.1 million (FY2023: approximately BITIHA3A%EL4,091. BB BT Q023EF

HK$3,608.9 million). MEERE © £93,6089B BB TT) °

2024 2023 Changes
20244 20234 =l

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET
China market HETHS 1,748,790 1,589,634 10.0%
North American market EEmE 1,624,615 1,384,678 17.3%
Europe and other overseas markets BN e g5 15 717,739 634,582 13.1%
Total fazt 4,091,144 3,608,894 13.4%

The sales in the China market increased by approximately 10.0% as a result of the increase in M BAEENTIZMEIE N REME
the market share of foam sales. BEHE BRI RAV10.0%°

In the North American market, we diversified our customer base by developing business FlEEMG BEMBEEELHERRL

relationship with more new customers, as a result of which sales for the Reporting Period in E¥RBAGLZAERERE RILREHNZ

this region increased by approximately 17.3%, as compared to sales in FY2023. & Wi EBE 03 FEH R FEEHEEM
LB RA917.3%

In Europe and other overseas markets, we recorded an increase of sales for the Reporting EENREMBIIMIE RREHEME

Period in this region of approximately 13.1%, as compared to sales in FY2023. The increase ZHENHEBRB0BFHRFEHESR

was mainly due to the increase in our sales to customers in Europe. BNA13.1% ZIERDEERREMAEK
WNERHERSE

10 Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit

With an increase of approximately 13.4% in the Group's revenue, gross profit (the “GP")
increased by approximately HK$127.3 million or approximately 13.8% to approximately
HK$1,047.0 million during the Reporting Period as compared to approximately HK$919.7
million for FY2023. The GP margin increased by approximately 0.1% from approximately
25.5% to approximately 25.6% as compared with FY2023.

The increase in GP margin was due to the improvement on production efficiency and

decrease in cost of raw materials.

Costs and expenses

Selling and distribution costs for the Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$36.0
million or approximately 7.8% to approximately HK$494.3 million, as compared to
approximately HK$458.4 million for FY2023. The increase in selling and distribution costs
was in line with the increase in revenue for the Reporting Period. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in marketing expenses of approximately HK$1 1.3 million, staff costs and
commission fees of approximately HK$10.6 million and transportation costs of approximately

HK$4.1 million.

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$17.2 million
or approximately 6.9% to approximately HK$267.4 million, as compared to approximately
HK$250.2 million for FY2023. The increase was mainly due to increase in staff cost and
directors emolument of approximately HK$23.3 million as we expanded our workforce to

meet the increasing demand for future expansion.

Profit for the Reporting Period

Profit for the Reporting Period increased by approximately HK$82.1 million or approximately
102.0% to a profit of approximately HK$162.6 million, as compared to approximately HK$80.5
million for FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwASH

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$370.2
million, as compared to approximately HK$339.4 million as at 3| December 2023. Net cash
from operating activities amounted to approximately HK$249.9 million for the Reporting
Period as compared to approximately HK$420.3 million for FY2023. Bank balance and cash as
at 31 December 2024 decreased by approximately HK$47.5 million or approximately 15.3%
to approximately HK$262.4 million as compared to approximately HK$309.9 million as at 31
December 2023.

Borrowings and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had banking facilities amounting to approximately
HK$1,251.9 million of which approximately HK$430.8 million was utilised (FY2023: banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$1,040.0 million of which approximately HK$473.1

million was utilised) (which included unsecured bank borrowings and bills payables).

Capital expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
HK$65.8 million (FY2023: approximately HK$62.2 million) which was mainly for the purchase

of the Group's plant and machinery.

12 Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

RBEE MBERESER

R2024F 12831 B 7 EBNRBEEFE
NA3702B8 8Bt MHR2023F 128318
Al 4339488 BT REHNKLEEE
FREREBEANA2499B B BT 2023
FHREENA4203FBEBIT 12024 EF
RA3IE RITEHERERON47588
BITIHAI53%EA2624B BB TT 0 2023
FNA3IBANAIEEE T

ERRIRIREE

R2024F 128318 AEBNRITHEL
AI25198 8B HPLN4308B8 AT
B8R QOFHMBEE  RTMENS
1,0400B BB HRA473. 1 BB ETE
§H) (ZeHELERERRITERKEN

ES K

BAR%

REHAERNE AR A658EEBT
(QOVEFHEE : Y2 2BEBTT) » =
EANREERERNRE RIS



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEREDH

Financial ratios BAFSEER
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
1220245 120235
128318 12A31H
Current ratio) TRENEEEO 128.6% 126.8%
Quick ratio? RELERO 91.8% 86.6%
Gearing ratio® BXBELEXO 40.1% 48.1%
Debt to equity ratio BERHEREERS 13.9% 14.4%

0 Current ratio is equal to current assets divided by current liabilities.

@ Quick ratio is equal to current assets less inventories and divided by current liabilities.

® Gearing ratio is derived by dividing interest-bearing debt incurred in the ordinary course of

business by total equity.

® Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing net debt by total equity. Net debt is defined to

include all borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group carries on business mainly in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC" or "China"), the United States (the “U.S.") and Vietnam. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk principally in Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong which can be largely offset
by its revenue and expenditure in the PRC and Vietnam. The Group does not expect any
appreciation or depreciation of Hong Kong Dollar against Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong
which could materially affect the Group's results of operations, and therefore no hedging
instrument has been employed. The Group will closely monitor the trends of Renminbi and
Vietnamese Dong and take appropriate measures to deal with the foreign exchange exposure

if necessary.

O RBLERERBEERURBERAE -

©  ERLERADEERGSBERUADAE
stEo

©  BXAREERBHEERBBETELN
BRBHFUEZARMSH

O EHHREERREHRERURERE
B EHFERAEABREMEENINRE
EREEEEY-

1 EE

AEETIZAEE - PEARANR (M4
B xE (TXE) hEEEEH ~&
ERTErEETEARARBREREE
B9 51 B L B o 17D U A R B R R B U S
B -AEERMETRARBRUEE
AESIREFEHAEENCEXREESL
TREATE AMEEXRBEFHEPT
H-zERRERNETARBREEE
£ LERKRIUE SRR UEH I
N

BEREEBMRAT 204FERS

13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEwASH

TREASURY POLICY AND MARKET RISKS

The Group has a treasury policy that aims at better controlling its treasury operations and
lowering borrowing cost. Such treasury policy requires the Group to maintain an adequate
level of cash and cash equivalents and sufficient available banking facilities to finance the
Group's daily operations and to address short term funding needs. The Group reviews and

evaluates its treasury policy from time to time to ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.

PROSPECTS

Despite the unstable economic environment in 2024, the Group successfully recorded a

growth in both revenue and profit after tax for two consecutive years.

We expect that in the coming years, the general economy will be even more dynamic and
challenging. Facing various issues surrounding the trade war, tariffs, anti-dumping duty and
economic conditions in the US. and China, the Group’s global presence in the PRC, the US.
and Vietnam will provide us with a robust advantage amidst future uncertainties. We will
remain cautiously optimistic and will allocate resources to explore business with higher growth
potential and review our costs and implement various cost cutting measures on various areas

including production and logistics.

As disclosed in our announcement dated 14 October 2024, the Group invested in an
associate in Europe with a cost of approximately HK$51.0 million. The Group recorded
lucrative return by sharing profits of the associate of approximately HK$5.02 million from this
investment. More focus will be placed on expanding the US. and Europe markets. Various
sales projects in the US. and Europe were launched and our sales for Mattress-in-a-box are

expected to continue to grow and generate more sales and profits for the Group.

14 Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Prospects” in this report, the Group does not have

other plans for material investments or capital assets.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's listed securities during the Reporting Period.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the employee headcount of the Group was 3,333 (FY2023:
2,846) and the total staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration and share option
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$639.1 million for the Reporting Period (FY2023:
approximately HK$523.6 million). The increase in staff costs was primarily due to increase in

headcount.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice
and provides various fringe benefits to employees including housing and travel allowances
depending on their grade and ranking within the Group. The Group also maintains medical
insurance for the benefit of its employees. The Group conducts induction training for all of its
new employees and on-going training from time to time during their employment. The nature
of training offered depends on their specific field of operation. The Group also operates an
employee incentive scheme pursuant to which rewards take the form of promotions, salary

raises and monetary bonuses, and a share option scheme.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEhEREERE

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company are as

follows:
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

LAM Chi Fan, aged 66

Mr. Lam is a co-founder of the Group, the Chairman of the Group and a non-executive
Director: Mr. Lam is also the chairman of the Company's nomination committee and a member
of the Company’s remuneration committee. Mr. Lam was appointed to the Board in June 2012.
Mr. Lam is responsible for formulation of the overall business strategies of the Group. He is
also responsible for the business planning and management of the Group. Mr. Lam is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 20 years’ experience in the
polyurethane foam business. Prior to founding the Group in January 2000, he was a director of
Luen Tai Component Limited, a company engaging in the sales of foam products, from March
1991 to July 1996. Mr. Lam is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive
Director; the father of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group; and a

cousin of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director.

16 Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHEUNG Tung, aged 49

Mr. Cheung is the President of the Company and an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined
the Group in 2003 as the Chairman’s assistant, responsible for handling the information
technology infrastructure of the Group. He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He is
currently responsible for the overall management and daily operations of the Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung assisted
in setting up C&T Solutions Limited, a company engaging in providing information technology
services, in March 2000. Mr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in computer engineering
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a master's degree in business
administration jointly issued by Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. Mr: Cheung was granted the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong
2014" by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Mr. Cheung is a nephew of Mr. Lam Chi
Fan, the Chairman and a non-executive Director; a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive

Director; and a cousin of Mr. Lam Sze Chiu, a senior management member of the Group.

CHEN Feng, aged 6

Mr. Chen is an executive Director He was appointed to the Board in June 2012. He
is responsible for the overall management of the export sales business and product
development of the Group. He is also the key executive in mapping the sales and marketing
strategies in the US through Sinomax USA Inc. (“Sinomax USA"). He is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr: Chen joined the Group in January 2000 as an export sales
manager and became the vice president of the Group in 2007. He assisted in setting up
Sinomax USA, a company engaging in export sales in the US, and has been the president and
director of Sinomax USA since its establishment in 2005. Mr. Chen holds a Master of Science
degree in industrial engineering from Louisiana State University and a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in safety engineering from Beijing College of Economics, now known as Capital
University of Economics and Business. Mr. Chen is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man,

an executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEhEREERE

LAM Kam Cheung, aged 57

Mr Lam is an executive Director, chief financial officer and company secretary of the Company.
Mr: Lam joined the Group in May 2004 as the financial controller and was appointed to the
Board in June 2012. He was appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company in August
2013 and is responsible for the financial management of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 31 years'
experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, he was an executive director
and company secretary of Yeebo (International Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0259), a listed
public company in Hong Kong, from October 1995 to May 2004. Mr. Lam holds a bachelor's
degree in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a member

of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

LAM Fei Man, aged 50

Ms. Lam is an executive Director: She is responsible for the Group's purchasing operations. She
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Lam joined the Group in January
2000 and served as the assistant administration manager of Sinomax (Holding) Group Limited,
a predecessor company of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”), until January
2003. She was appointed to the Board in June 2012. Ms. Lam has over 19 years experience
in purchasing and logistics. She holds a bachelor's degree in commerce jointly issued by the
University of Canberra and the Hong Kong Baptist University. Ms. Lam is a cousin of Mr. Lam
Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of
Mr. Chen Feng, an executive Director; and an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an

executive Director,
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Keung, aged 58

Mr. Wong is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of each of the audit
committee and corporate governance committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr: Wong was appointed to the Board in 4 March 2014. Mr.Wong
is currently an executive director and the chief financial officer of Win Hanverky Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3322), a listed public company in Hong Kong. He was previously the chief
financial officer of Besunyen Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 0926) from September
2011 to September 2013 and China Dongxiang (Group) Co, Ltd. (stock code: 3818) from
May 2007 to April 2010, all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Between
June 2002 and June 2006, Mr. Wong was a senior finance manager of China Netcom Group
Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited (a company previously listed in Hong Kong (former stock
code: 0906) which subsequently merged with China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock
code: 0762), a listed public company in Hong Kong). Between July 1989 and December 1999,
Mr. Wong was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international public accounting
firm, in Hong Kong as an audit manager. Mr. Wong holds a bachelor's degree in business
administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master's degree in business
administration from the Australian Graduate School of Management, jointly issued by the
University of New South Wales and the University of Sydney. Mr.Wong is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEhEREERE

ZHANG HWO Jie, aged 62

Mr. Zhang is an independent non-executive Director; the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the
corporate governance committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang was appointed to the Board in
March 2014. Mr. Zhang is currently the chairman of EVA Precision Industrial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 838), a listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr. Zhang has more than 26 years
of experience in marketing, strategic planning and corporate management in manufacturing
industry. Mr. Zhang was granted with the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong" by the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2008, and was bestowed as an honorary fellow by The
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in 2014. He is currently the president
honoris causa of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council, the honorary chairman of The Hong
Kong Metals Manufacturers Association and the honorary president of Hong Kong Mould and

Product Technology Association.

CHEUNG Wah Keung, aged 64

Dr. Cheung is an independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Dr. Cheung was appointed to the Board in June 2023. Dr.
Cheung is currently the chairman of each of Shinhint Group and Tai Sing Industrial Company
Limited. He has more than 31 years of experience in trading and manufacturing of consumer
electronic products. Dr: Cheung is currently an independent non-executive director of each
of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2078), Casablanca Group Limited
(stock code: 2223) and Activation Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 9919). He was also
the independent non-executive chairman of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 2078) during the period from 2 August 2019 to 30 June 2022 and an independent non-
executive director of Sky Light Holdings Limited (stock code: 3882) during the period from 12
June 2015 to 28 February 2023.The shares of the above companies with stock code indicated

are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Cheung holds a bachelor's degree in business administration and a master's degree in
global political economy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a master's degree
in corporate governance and a doctorate degree in business administration from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He was awarded by the Federation of Hong Kong Industries as
“Young Industrialist of Hong Kong" in 2005 and “Certificates of Merit in Directorship” by the
Hong Kong Institutes of Directors in 2006. He has taken up a variety of roles, including the
president of the Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council from 2015 to 2016, the chairman
of the Advisory Board for Master of Corporate Governance of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a committee member of the Council of The Hang Seng University of Hong

Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LAM Sze Chiu, aged 42

Mr. Lam is the general manager of Sinohome Household Products (Shenzhen) Ltd. (“Sinomax
Shenzhen"). He is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of Sinomax Shenzhen. Mr.
Lam joined the Group in 2007 and served as the marketing director of the Group from
2012 to 2016, where he was responsible for formulating and communicating the Group's
marketing strategies and coordinating the marketing functions. Mr. Lam also participated in the
research and development of the Group's products, and was the winner of German Red Dot
Design Award. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor of Arts degree with Honours from York University
in Toronto, Canada. Mr: Lam was appointed as Chairman of The Youth Club of Hong Kong
Furniture Association and Executive Chairman of The Hong Kong Overseas Chinese General
Youth Association and a member of the Fujian Youth Federation in 2017, as Chairman of
the Presidium of the Youth Committee of the China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of
Commerce in 2018, as a standing committee member of the Youth Committee of the All-
China Federation of Returned Overseas and Honorary Chairman of the Youth Strategy
Committee of the Tangxia Foreign Investment Enterprises Association since 2019, as Chairman
of the Presidium of Guangdong Furnishing Industry Federation and Standing Deputy Director
of the Youth Strategy Committee of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations since 2020,
as Vice President of the China Furniture & Decoration Chamber of Commerce, Honorary
Chairman of the Youth Committee of the Hong Kong Chinese Association, and Director of
Mainland Affairs Department of the Hong Kong Overseas Chinese General Association since
2021, as Vice President of the Futian District Returnees Association in 2022, as Vice President
of the Shenzhen Overseas Chinese Business International Federation in 2024, and as President
of the Hong Kong Furniture Association in 2025. Mr. Lam is the son of Mr Lam Chi Fan, the
Chairman and a non-executive Director; and the cousin of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and

an executive Director:
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEhEREERE

QIAN Hong Xiang, aged 61

Mr Qian is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group and he is responsible for the
supervision of the daily operation and management of Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co.
Limited (“Sinomax Kuka"). Since 2005, he has been the general manager of Sinomax Kuka. Mr.
Qian joined the Group in 2000 and served as the general manager and chief of foam research.
He also serves as the first rotating chairman of the China Polyurethane Foam Alliance, the
vice officer of the National Standardization Management Committee of Plastic Products
(SACITCA48/SC2), the vice officer of the foam committee of the China Polyurethane Industry
Association, the vice president of the international journal “Polyurethane Industry”, and the vice
president of the foam committee of the China Plastics Processing Industry Association, and he
has been employed as a foam plastic expert by the China Polyurethane Industry Association

and the China Plastics Processing Industry Association for 16 years.

Mr. Qian graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology in 1988 and is a senior economist.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qian worked as a factory manager and foam researcher in East
Asia (Huazi Group) Co, Ltd. (RIE CEEEME) BR/AE]) from 1993 to 2000. Mr. Qian
has more than 31 years of experience in foam production and research, and has participated
in the formulation of more than |l standards, including 4 national standards. He has won the
third prize of scientific and technological progress awarded by China National Light Industry
Federation, the Chinese Standard Innovation Contribution Award jointly issued by the General
Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the People's Republic
of China and the Standardization Administration of China, and the advanced worker in the
plastic industry of China awarded by the China Plastics Processing Industry Association.
Mr Qian was also awarded with a number of honors such as an outstanding contributor
to the standardization work of the National Plastic Products Standardization Management
Committee, a provincial-level high-end talent in Jiaxing, a “Chaoxiang Special Support” category

| talent in Haining, and a model worker and an outstanding entrepreneur in Haining.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHEN Xiao Hua, aged 62

Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2013 and was appointed as a general manager of Sinomax
(Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited (previously known as Sinomax (Zhejiang)
Polyurethane Household Products Limited* (22588 (I1L) BRREXERARBRAR)
("Sinomax Zhejiang") in October 2013. Mr. Chen is responsible for supervision of the daily
operation and management of Sinomax Zhejiang. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was
engaged in foam manufacturing from 2002 to 2013 and was a general manager of Sinomax
Polyurethane (Shanghai) Co, Ltd, a company indirectly controlled by Mr. Lam Chi Fan, a non-
executive Director, Mr. Cheung Tung and Mr. Chen Feng, the executive Directors, and Ms.
Cheung Shui Ying, the mother of Mr. Cheung Tung. Mr. Chen has over 31 years of experience
in foam production and research. Mr. Chen completed the 5th CEO Course in Zhejiang
University in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal

subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page 149 of this report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$1.3 cents per ordinary share
of nominal value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company (“Share”), amounting
to approximately HK$22,750,000 to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 20 June 2025.The final
dividend is subject to the approval of the Directors recommendation by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 16 May 2025 (“AGM"). The final
dividend will be paid on 4 July 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investment
properties of the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 16, 17 and 18 to

the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable and other donations amounting to

approximately HK$179,000.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Period are set

out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Directors consider that the Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
comprise the share premium and the accumulated profits which amounted to approximately
HK$471.5 million as at 31 December 2024 (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$516.7 million). Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend, the Company is able to pay its

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company has a share option scheme, the details of which are set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option” in the section headed “Directors’ Report” in this report and note 32
to the consolidated financial statements. Save as aforesaid, the Company has not entered into

any equity-linked agreement during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

CHEUNG Tung
CHEN Feng

LAM Kam Cheung
LAM Fei Man

Non-Executive Director

LAM Chi Fan (Chairman of the Board) (re-designated from Executive Director
to Non-executive Director with effect from | August 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

WONG Chi Keung
ZHANG HWO Jie
CHEUNG Wah Keung

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, three Directors, namely, Mr.
Cheung Tung, Mr: Lam Chi Fan and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung will retire at the forthcoming AGM,

and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his independence in respect of the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the

Company considers such Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any member of the
Group which is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this report, no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in which
any Director or the Director's connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting

Period.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each of the controlling Shareholders,
namely, Sinomax Enterprises, Mr. Lam Chi Fan, Mr: Cheung Tung, Mr. Chen Feng and Ms. Cheung
Shui Ying, in respect of their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2014 (the “Prospectus”) for the
Reporting Period.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The articles of association of the Company provided that every Director shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in

which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is acquitted.

The Company has arranged for approved Directors' liability insurance policies to protect the

Directors against potential costs and liability arising from claims brought against the Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management
of the Group is formulated and reviewed by the remuneration committee of the Company,
having regards to the comparable market practice, market conditions, individual performance
and the Group's operating results. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are set out in

note |1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuer (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

BRI RARRIRBFE

Interests in the Company REABZ D
Approximate
percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares (" shareholding®
EEH% mtE R ®E" BukERSLE®
LAM Chi Fan Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L)@ 7291%
MER 2REFENMIA
Notes: N
(1) The letter "L" denotes long position. (h FEMLEFE.
(2)  The percentage is compiled based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 shares of the ) ZBEPLHREBEAABN2024F12831HE

Company (the “Shares”) in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(3)  These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by Chi Fan Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The Frankie
Trust. The Frankie Trust is a discretionary family trust established by LAM Chi Fan as settlor
and Vistra Trust (BVI) Limited (“Vistra") acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The Frankie

Trust are LAM Chi Fan and his family members.
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Long positions in associated corporation — Sinomax Enterprises
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HRECEER e R

Approximate

percentage of

Name of Director Nature of interest Number of shares shareholding M
BNy mitE RIP#E BORER DL @2
LAM Chi Fan Beneficiary of The Frankie Trust I5 37.5%
MER FrankiefSsEM932 2 A

CHEUNG Tung Beneficiary of The Cheung's Family Trust 5 12.5%
RAR REKEEENZ @A

CHEN Feng Beneficiary of The Feng Chen's Family Trust 5 12.5%
B BRI EEENR T

Note: The above percentage is compiled based on the total number of 40 shares of Sinomax Bzt Dl E D ER2024E 1283 I HEHEE B

Enterprises in issue as at 31 December 2024, and the remaining |5 shares of Sinomax EORTROBHIORFE MEETI5K
Enterprises in issue is owned by The James" Family Holding Limited, which is owned as to DFEREESETRMAThe James' Family
1009% by The James' Family Trust. The James' Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Holding Limitedff%& » MThe James' Family
CHEUNG Shui Ying the mother of CHEUNG Tung, as settlor and Vistra acting as the trustee. Holding LimitedHJamesZ 1 {5 sE# 5 1 00% 1
The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are CHEUNG Shui Ying and her family members. 1 o JamesK MRS 5ETH IR IR 2 R KSEpR I 2

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

ERED RAEBMERT A MVistras
ZEEAlamesRKEENREARRKER

HERBEHE

ERRERMIETR

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, at no time during the Reporting Period, had any BRARSFEREEN RREHRME
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company AN BEOETAMESIREREZR
been granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children under |8 years old, or BHISEATZFLHFERN  UEEA
had any such rights been exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company or AREIRMOSNESMER  BRETET
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement which enables the Directors, or their respective FEEMZFEN  MARE EERATHR
spouse or children under 18 years old, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate. HWBARTEIIERZH BEES

RREFRBZEBAI8FATZFLARN
EREMEANERESZSER -
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRZEE

As at 31 December 2024, the persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the R2024F 128318 BRAAL (REEEL
Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as BEEHEETHALR) KRGO IEREERH
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as REAC RN AR BREF S KIAE RS
follows: EBMFREFENECMIBRIANSWT

Long positions in Shares BRI E

Approximate

percentage of

Name of substantial Shareholders Nature of interest Number of shares (" shareholding ®

TERFLE HHR mtE R ®E O BAORER DL

Sinomax Enterprises © Beneficial owner 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%

EEBRAXO BmBEBA

Chi Fan Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%
REREEED

The James' Family Holding Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 1,275,906,000 (L)® 7291%
REREEED

Vistra © Trustee of various trusts 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%
ZEFENRTEA

CHEUNG ShuiYing Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L) 7291%

RIKER 2REFENMILA

LAM Chi Fan Founder of a discretionary trust 1,275,906,000 (L)® 7291%

MER 2REFENMILA

LI Ching Hau Interest of spouse 1,275,906,000 (L)® 7291%

=68 EER
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The letter “L" denotes long position.

The percentage is compiled based on the total number of 1,750,002,000 Shares in issue as at

31 December 2024.

Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to 37.5%, 12.5%, 37.5% and 12.5% by Chi Fan Holding
Limited, Wing Yiu Investments Limited, The James' Family Holding Limited and Venture Win
Holdings Limited, respectively, and beneficially owned in the same proportion by The Frankie
Trust, The Cheung’s Family Trust, The James' Family Trust and The Feng Chen's Family Trust,

respectively.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 37.5% by Chi Fan
Holding Limited.

These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises, which is legally owned as to 37.5% by The

James’ Family Holding Limited.

Vistra acts as the trustee of The Frankie Trust, The James' Family Trust, The Cheung's Family
Trust and The Feng Chen’s Family Trust. The beneficiaries of The Frankie Trust are Mr. LAM Chi
Fan and his family members. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust are Ms. CHEUNG
Shui Ying and her family members. The beneficiaries of The Cheung's Family Trust are Mr
CHEUNG Tung and his family members. The beneficiaries of The Feng Chen’s Family Trust are
Mr: CHEN Feng and his family members.
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7. These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by The James' Family Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The
James' Family Trust. The James' Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Ms. CHEUNG
Shui Ying as settlor and Vistra acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The James' Family Trust
are Ms. CHEUNG ShuiYing and her family members.

8. These Shares are held by Sinomax Enterprises. Sinomax Enterprises is legally owned as to
37.5% by Chi Fan Holding Limited, which is beneficially owned as to 100% by The Frankie
Trust. The Frankie Trust is a discretionary family trust established by Mr. LAM Chi Fan as settlor
and Vistra acting as the trustee. The beneficiaries of The Frankie Trust are Mr. LAM Chi Fan and

his family members.

9 These interests belong to Mr. LAM Chi Fan, the spouse of Ms. LI Ching Hau. Under the SFO,
Ms. LI Ching Hau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. LAM
Chi Fan is interested.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group had continuing connected transactions and connected
transactions with certain connected persons, details of which have been disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated |5 April 2021, 17 November 2021, 21 December
2022, 28 November 2023, 16 September 2024 and 10 December 2024. Certain continuing
connected transactions are exempt from one or more of the reporting, announcement,
circular (including independent financial advice), shareholders' approval and annual review

requirements for the purpose of Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.

The following are the continuing connected transactions and connected transactions of the
Group during the Reporting Period that are subject to the reporting and annual review
requirements but otherwise exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant to

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:
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Continuing Connected Transactions

()

Sale of foams by the Company to Gu Jia Household Co., Limited* (BE5< 5 /B /R 17
BIRZAE]) (“Gu Jia Household”)

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and is
owned as to 51% by the Group and 40% by Gu Jia Household. As a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, Gu Jia Household is a connected person
of the Company. As such, each subsidiary of Gu Jia Household is an associate of Gu Jia

Household and hence a connected person of the Company.

On 30 December 2016, Haining Sinomax Trading Co. Limited (“Haining Sinomax’)
and Sinomax Kuka entered into a procurement agreement (the “Original Haining
Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Household and its subsidiaries to govern
the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams between Haining Sinomax, Sinomax
Kuka and Gu Jia Household and its subsidiaries for the term commencing from |
January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2017, after the expiry of the procurement
agreement between, among others, Haining Sinomax and Gu Jia Household entered
into in 2016. On | November 2017, the Original Haining Procurement Agreement was
superseded by a revised procurement agreement (the “Revised Haining Procurement

Agreement”).

On 30 December 2016, Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Household Products
Limited* (B3R (D) MRERERRAERALE) ("Sinomax Zhejiang”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a renewed
procurement agreement (the “2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement’)
with Hangzhou Gu Jia Bedding Co., Limited* (FTMNEBREEBRAE) ('Gu Jia
Bedding"), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Gu Jia Household, to govern the sale
and purchase of polyurethane foams between Sinomax Zhejiang and Gu Jia Bedding
for the term commencing from | January 2017 and ending on 31 December 2017,
after the expiry of the procurement agreement between Sinomax Zhejiang and Gu Jia

Bedding entered into in 2016.
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On 19 December 2017, in view of the prospective expiry of the revised Original
Haining Procurement Agreement (as superseded by the Revised Haining Procurement
Agreement) and the 2017 Renewal Zhejiang Procurement Agreement on 3|
December 2017, the Company as supplier entered into a new procurement agreement
(the “2018-2020 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement”) with Gu Jia Household as
purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams for the three financial years

commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December 2020.

On 18 December 2020, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2018-2020 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement on 31 December 2020, the Company as supplier entered
into a renewal agreement (the “Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement ')
with Gu Jia Household as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams
for the three financial years commencing from | January 2021 and ending on 3l
December 2023.

On 17 November 2021, the Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement was
superseded by a revised procurement agreement (the “Revised 2021-2023 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement”) to revise the annual caps in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate amounts in respect of the transactions under the Original 2021-2023 Gu
Jia Procurement Agreement based on internal estimates and the anticipated growth in

business.

On 28 November 2023, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2021-2023 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement on 3| December 2023, the Company as supplier entered
into a renewal agreement (the 2024-2026 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement’) with Gu
Jia Household as purchaser for the sale and purchase of polyurethane foams for the
three financial years commencing from | January 2024 and ending on 31 December

2026.
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Details of the terms of the Original 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement,
the Revised 2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement, the 2024-2026 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2020, 29 December 2020,
|7 November 2021 and 28 November 2023.

The annual caps determined by the Directors in respect of the annual maximum
aggregate value for such continuing connected transactions under the Revised 2021-
2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement and the 2024-2026 Gu Jia Procurement

Agreement are as follows:

2021-2023 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement

For the year ended 3| December 2021
#E2021F 2831 HIEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
#BE200NFNAIHIEEE
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2021 EE203FEERIREWE

For the year ending 31 December 2023
HE203EFENA3IHIEEE

RMB440.0 million
AERHE44005 8T

RMB520.0 million
ARS2008B T

RMB630.0 million
AR6300BB T

2024-2026 Gu Jia Procurement Agreement

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE2024F 12831 HIEEE

For the year ending 31 December 2025
BE2025F 12831 HIEEE

204 FEE2026 FREEK KB IR

For the year ending 31 December 2026
BE2026F 12831 HIEFE

RMB400.0 million
ARH400088 7T

RMB460.0 million
ARH460088 T

RMB530.0 million
ARIES00BE T

The total amount of sales to Gu Jia Household pursuant to the Revised 2021-2023 Gu
Jia Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately

RMB283.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$313.4 million).

The total amount of sales to Gu Jia Household pursuant to the 2024-2026 Gu Jia
Procurement Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately

RMB233.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$253.6 million).
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions for the Reporting Period

and confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@  inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them and on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the

Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions Under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
the unqualified letters containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the above

continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transaction

()

Lease agreement between Dongguan Sinohome Limited* (585 &4 3¢ /& /i in B IR
2 8]) (“Dongguan Sinohome”) and Dongguan Donglian Furniture Co., Ltd.* (5
FHERERLE) (“Dongguan Donglian”)

Dongguan Donglian is indirectly wholly-owned by Sinomax Enterprises, one of the
controlling Shareholders of the Company. Dongguan Donglian is therefore an associate

of Sinomax Enterprises and a connected person of the Company.

On 2 December 2013, Dongguan Sinohome, as tenant, entered into a lease agreement
(the “Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome™) with Dongguan Donglian, as landlord,
for the lease of certain premises situated at No. | Dajieling Road, Shahu Village, Tang Xia
Town, Dongguan, Guangdong Province, PRC (the “Dongguan Premises") for a term of

slightly more than two years at a monthly rental of approximately RMB695,000.

On 18 December 2015, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of the Dongguan Premises for a term of three years commencing from | January 2016
and ending on 31 December 2018 at a monthly rental of approximately RMBI.3 million

after the expiry of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome.

On 18 December 2018, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease
of the Dongguan Premises for a term of three years commencing from | January 2019
and ending on 31 December 2021 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB660,000

after the expiry of the Renewal Dongguan Lease Agreement.

i
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On 17 November 2021, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2022 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB,330,000
after the expiry of the 2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

On 2| December 2022, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2023 and
ending on 3| December 2023 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB720,000 after
the expiry of the 2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

On 28 November 2023, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the “2024 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2024 and
ending on 3| December 2024 at a monthly rental of approximately RMB750,000 after
the expiry of the 2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement.

On 16 September 2024, Dongguan Sinohome entered into the supplemental lease
agreement to the 2024 Dongguan Lease Agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement’)
with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of the certain premises situated on the parcel
of land situated at No. | Dajieling Road, Shahu Village, Tang Xia Town, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province, PRC* (FEIERE R mIEEED M KAEEE )
with an aggregate area of 18,000 sq.m. for a term of 3 months commencing on |
October 2024 and ending on 3| December 2024 at a monthly rent of approximately
RMB352,800.

On 10 December 2024, Dongguan Sinohome entered into a renewal lease agreement
(the 2025 Dongguan Lease Agreement”) with Dongguan Donglian for the lease of
the Dongguan Premises for a term of one year commencing from | January 2025 and
ending on 3| December 2025 at a monthly rental of approximately RMBI,102,500
after the expiry of the 2024 Dongguan Lease Agreement.
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(i)

Details of the terms of the Lease Agreement of Dongguan Sinohome, the Renewal
Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2019-2021 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the
2022 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2023 Dongguan Lease Agreement, the 2024
Dongguan Lease Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement, the 2025 Lease Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the Prospectus and the
announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2015, 18 December 2018, |7
November 2021, 21 December 2022, 28 November 2023, 16 September 2024 and 10
December 2024.

Lease agreement between Sinomax Kuka and Zhejiang Puruimei Industry Co., Ltd.*

(W IEHEEEERAE) (“Zhejiang Puruimei”)

Sinomax Kuka is an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Zhejiiang
Puruimei is beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Qian Hong Xiang (“Mr. Qian"), who is a
director of Sinomax Kuka, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Zhejiang Puruimei is therefore an associate of Mr. Qian and a connected person of the

Company.

On | January 2018, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2018-2020
Haining Lease Agreement”) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka certain buildings and warehouses situated
on the parcel of land situated at No. 99, Qi Chao Road, Haining Agriculture Foreign
Integrated Development Area, Zheijiang, the PRC* (BT I E EEEEHIMR
EFIEBUEHEZ995E) (the “Land”) with an aggregate area of approximately 18,209
sq.m. for a fixed term commencing from | January 2018 and ending on 31 December
2020 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and
expenses) of RMB411,522.80 (equivalent to approximately HK$452,675.08), subject to

an increase at the rate of 5% annually.

(i)
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On 15 November 2019, Sinomax Kuka entered into a supplemental lease agreement
(the “2019 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement”) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Purimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka: (i) the second floor of a
certain building situated on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 2,706
sqm. for a fixed term commencing from 16 November 2019 to 30 August 2020;
and (i) certain buildings and warehouses situated on the Land with an aggregate
area of approximately 6,469 sqm. for a fixed term commencing from |6 November
2019 to 31 December 2020, at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and
other outgoing charges and expenses) of RMB48,302.10 (equivalent to approximately
HK$53,132.31) and RMB149,242.88 (equivalent to approximately HK$164,167.17),

respectively.

On 18 December 2020, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2018-2020 Hainnig
Lease Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement)
on 31 December 2020, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement (the “2021-
2023 Haining Lease Agreement”’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to which Zhejiang
Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka certain buildings and warehouses situated
on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 23,9469 sqm. for a fixed term
commencing from | January 2021 and ending on 3| December 2023 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of
RMB592,097.41 (equivalent to approximately HK$696,585.19), subject to an annual

increase at the rate of 5%.
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On 17 November 2021, Sinomax Kuka entered into a supplemental agreement (the
2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant
to which Zhejiang Purimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka: (i) certain buildings and
warehouses situated on the Land with an aggregate area of approximately 526
sq.m. for a term of 25 months commencing on | December 2021 and ending on 31
December 2023 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing
charges and expenses) of RMB51,416 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,702), and
(i) certain portion of the second floor of a certain building situated on the Land
with an aggregate area of approximately 1,801 sqm. for a term of seven months
commencing on | December 2021 and ending on 30 June 2022 at a monthly
rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and expenses) of
RMB35,480 (equivalent to approximately HK$43,268).

On 28 November 2023, in view of the prospective expiry of the 2021-2023 Haining
Lease Agreement (as supplemented by the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease
Agreement) on 3| December 2023, Sinomax Kuka entered into a lease agreement
(the “2024-2026 Haining Lease Agreement’) with Zhejiang Puruimei, pursuant to
which Zhejiang Puruimei agreed to lease to Sinomax Kuka the Premises for a fixed
term of three years commencing on | January 2024 and ending on 31 December
2026 at a monthly rent (exclusive of management fees and other outgoing charges and

expenses) of RMB665,340.50 (equivalent to approximately HK$723,196.20).
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Pursuant to HKFRS 16, leases shall be recognised as right-of-use assets in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position for the accounting period on
or after | January 2019. Accordingly, the entering into of the 2018-2020 Haining
Lease Agreement, the 2019 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021-2023
Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement and the
2024-2026 Haining Lease Agreement by the Group shall be regarded as an one-off
acquisition of assets of the Group under Rule 14A24(1) of the Listing Rules.

Details of the terms of the 2018-2020 Haining Lease Agreement, the 2019
Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2021-2023 Haining Lease Agreement,
the 2021 Supplemental Haining Lease Agreement, the 2024-2026 Haining Lease
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated |8 November 2019, 18 December 2020, 24
December 2020, |7 November 202 | and 28 November 2023,

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the requirements under Chapter
[4A of the Listing Rules in respect of all the continuing connected transactions and connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the Reporting Period and all of the above
continuing connected transactions and connected transactions were entered into in the

manners stated above.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and an analysis of the Group's financial performance
for the Reporting Period using financial key performance indicators can be found in the
sections headed “Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”" on pages 6

to 7 and pages 10 to |5 of this report, respectively.

Environmental Policy and Performance

In conducting its business, the Group's objective is to minimise the adverse effects of
its operations on the environment. In addition, in order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, the Group has established an environmental management
system in its operations in accordance with ISOI 4001:2015 international standards. The
environmental management system will be reviewed from time to time in order to reduce
risks related to environmental issues. The Group has complied with a number of PRC
environmental protection laws in connection with water pollutants, air pollutants, solid waste
pollutants, as well as noise pollution generated from its manufacturing operations. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was in compliance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations
on environmental laws and was not subject to any fines or legal action resutting from incidents
of non-compliance with any applicable PRC environmental regulations, nor was there any

threatened or pending action by any PRC environmental regulatory authority.

Details of the Group's environmental policy and performance are set out in the Environmental,

Social and Governance Report on pages 79 to |38 of this report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant

impact on the business and operations of the Group.

Relationship with Employees, Suppliers, Customers, and other Stakeholders

Details of the Group's relationship with employees, suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 79 to

138 of this report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(N

44

Risk of customer concentration

Sales to the Group's top five customers accounted for approximately 28.7% (FY2023:
approximately 33.2%) of the Group's total revenue, with one customer in the Group's
export sales segment accounting for approximately 8.6% (FY2023: approximately 8.6%)

of the Group's total revenue.

The Group has not entered into any long-term agreements with these top five
customers. Their purchases are on an order-by-order basis. The Group cannot
guarantee that it will be able to maintain stable relationships with its key customers.
A substantial decrease of purchases could adversely affect product sales, financial

condition and results of operations of the Group.

The Group will continue to diversify its customer portfolio by actively searching for
new customers and seeking opportunities for strategic acquisition in order to capture

more customers in different markets.

Risk of changing economic conditions

To manage the risk of economic fluctuation in the world, the Group is trying to
diversify its investments geographically. In particular, the Group's factories in the US and

Vietnam have started operations and are expected to generate profit in the future.

Risk of deterioration in the value of the Group’s brands

The Group is dependent on the goodwill in its brands for the continued success and
growth of its business. In particular, the Group relies on sales of its “Sinomax” branded
products in Hong Kong and the PRC, and products under other brands owned by or
licensed to it in other territories. Adverse publicity or regulatory or legal action against
the Group could damage the reputation and brand images of and discourage long-term

demand for the Group's products.
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The Group continues to adopt its strategy to promote its brand names through
different marketing schemes. The Group also uses multi brands strategy to promote
more brands like “Zeosleep”, “PureLUX", “Dream Serenity”, “ComforZen", “Spa
Supreme” and “Tung Ah" so as to reduce the risk of reliance on and deterioration of a

particular brand.

Risk of volatility in the pricing of raw materials

The Group is exposed to commodity price risks resulting from fluctuation of prices
of chemicals including polypropylene glycol and toluene diisocyanate, which are the
principal raw materials for the production of polyurethane foams. The Group has not
entered into any long-term agreement with any of its raw materials suppliers, nor has
it entered into any hedging arrangements or transactions to reduce the exposure to

fluctuations in raw materials costs.

The Group implements a cost-plus pricing policy in the segments of export sales and
polyurethane foam sales. Price quotations for orders are negotiated in an order-by-
order basis. In determining the product prices, the Group usually takes into account
various factors such as production costs (including costs of raw materials), production
cycle, transportation costs, product types, specification, market price and global

economic conditions.

Risk of compliance with laws and regulations

The Group's business is subject to Hong Kong, PRC, Vietnam and US laws and
regulations. Any failure to comply with laws and regulations could resuft in legal
proceedings and expose us to civil and/or criminal liabilities. The long term
development of our business largely depends on a steady legal environment.
Unanticipated changes in policies and regulatory practices may adversely affect our
business. The Group will continue to manage and ensure the highest compliance

standard with first-rate independent legal services.
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PROSPECTS

A description of the likely future development in the Group's business is provided in the

section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 15 of this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 March 2014, the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted by the
Shareholders. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme becomes valid and effective on 10 July
2014 and expired on the business day preceding the tenth anniversary thereof. Subject to the
rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, grantees may exercise the share options granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during the period commencing from
the date of grant and up to such expiry date as determined by the Board. There is no general

requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to
eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the Company, for
their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of the Group or for such
other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may approve from time to time,
linking their interests with the interests of the Group and thereby attracting and encouraging

those parties to work better for the interests of the Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers
(including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or any

of its subsidiaries.
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The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 165,000,000 Shares (the “Limit"), representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue at the listing date of the Company. Options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (or any other share option
schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Limit. Subject
to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the Company may refresh
the Limit at any time subject to certain conditions. The Company may also with the approval
of the Shareholders of the Company in general meeting grant options in respect of Shares
in excess of the Limit (as refreshed from time to time) to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share schemes of the

Group at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

On 26 January 2017 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted a total of 30,800,000 share
options to 58 eligible participants, representing approximately 1.76% of the 1,750,002,000
shares in issue as at the Date of Grant. All 30,800,000 share options are valid for a period of 5
years commencing from the relevant vesting date and shall entitle the grantee to subscribe for

one Share upon exercise of such option at a subscription price of HK$0.69 per Share.

As at the date of this report, the total number of securities available for issue under the Post-
PO Share Option Scheme was 145,400,000 Shares, representing approximately 8.31% of
the total number of issued Shares as at the date of this report, and no Share has been issued
and the Company has not received any monetary or other consideration under the Post-IPO

Share Option Scheme.
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The total number of Shares issued and which fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in
any |2-month period up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1% limit to
any eligible participant shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time
to time with such eligible participant and his close associates (or his associates if he is a

connected person of the Company) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall

determine, save that such price shall at least be the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer; which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the

business of dealing in securities;
(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and
(i) the nominal value of the Shares.

Further details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 32 to the financial

statements.
156,600,000 options and nil options were available for grant under the Limit at the beginning

and the end of the Reporting Period, respectively. No option was granted under all schemes of

the Company during the Reporting Period.

48 Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

BLOERSEETHERERUERR
EENERPRBRETRREERAREES
BRBRES S RAEBREMEMBRES
BIFfERERE (AEETERERTRE
) MERTREEZITHNRMNBE
TREBBEEZRIEACHTROB
1% FITAEERSHERHBEI%LR
NERBRERRAG LEARATREFML
ER/HFE EHRAAETRNEMR
B MZEERSABERHETHREAL
(HMEBHBALTRERTBMEAL A
ZHMBAL) ARERR-

REER HEERBRESIRENE
AREBREMIRNRNBBERHE
FERRNBET HZEBA/ERT
JlmEE !

() BRERMIAESHBREXRIERN
M HE MEZE BV ABMIA
BEEREFMNEER

iy BEREZENALEZ£EHBIFE
HEBRAERKRMPEHENFEEE,
&

(iy RMOEE

BRNAEERBREFINEMFHEE
R B REMEE32e

REBSHBNREER REZLRAAE
156,600,00017 B B # K2 017 B8 AR A o] (1 %2
HeoRBERR BERREBEAASMETE
BB



The following tables disclose details of movements of share options granted under the Post-

IPO Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERHREE

ERESEIRLNEREZEFE

TREBERBESHNREERAREER

Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
Exercise asat during the during the during the asat
price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2024 Period Period Period 2024
120248 B i® B R0u4E
IBIR RESWA  REEA RESEA 128318
ERA REAS FRH 8 SRATHEE  HXT b k% i HERfHE
LAM Chi Fan (Chairman) 26 Jan 2017 26)an 201726 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Nil
WER (ZE) WIEIABA  0ITEIBWAE WISEIFBAE £
2018515268 202315258
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017-26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 750000 = (750000) = Nil
WITEIAWE  WIEFIFKEE WI9EIF2%AE i
2019615268 202441 F25H
CHEUNG Tung (President) 26 Jan 2017 261an2017-26Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 - - - - Nil
R (&%) WI7EIABA  NITEIBWAE WISEIFBAE &
2018515268 202315258
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017-26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 750000 = (750000) = Nil
WITEIAWE  WIEFIFKEE WI9F1F2%AE i
2019615268 202441 A25H
CHEN Feng 26 Jan 2017 26)an 201726 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Nil
WeiE WITEIBWE  017FIF%EE WIBEIBURE i
2018515268 202315258
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017-26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 = (500000) = Nil
WITEIAWE  WIEFIFKEE WI9F1F2%BE i
2019615268 202441 A25H
LAM Kam Cheung 26 Jan 2017 26)an 201726 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Nil
iR WI7EIBRE  WITEIRWHE WIBEIRBEE &
2018515268 202315258
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017-26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 = (500000) = Nil
WITEIAWE  WIEFIFKEE W19 1F2%BE i
2019615268 202441 A25H
LAM Fei Man 26 Jan 2017 26)an 201726 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Nil
HEE WI7EIBRE  WITEIBWHE WIBEIRBEE &
2018515268 2318258
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 2017-26 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 500,000 = (500000) = Nil
WITEIAWE  WIEFEIFKEE W19 1F2%BE i

2019%1 8268

2004818258

BEEBEERAA

200 EERSE
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.
EEREE
Outstanding Granted Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding
Exercise asat during the during the during the asat
price per | Jan Reporting Reporting Reporting 31 Dec
Grantee Date of Grant Vesting Period Exercise period Share 2024 Period Period Period 2024
20245 i i B R04E
IBIR  ®EBK  BEEA  BEER 128318
ERA REAEH FEH 18 EROTHEE  HXKT bt ESd i WK
WONG Chi Keung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Ni
TE% WI7EIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WIBFIBURE &
201851 F26H 2031 F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 an 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 = (150000) = N
WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI9FIBUEE &
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
LAM Sing Kwong, Simon 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 an 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = N
M WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WIBFIBURE &
201851 F26H 2031 F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 an 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 = = = = N
WI7EIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WI9FIBUEE &
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
ZHANG HWO Jie 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 an 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Nl
E WI7EIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WI8FIBURE &
20181 F26H 203 1F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 150,000 = (150000) = Nl
WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI9FIBUEE &
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
WU Tak Lung 26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 = = = = Nl
RiEH WI7EIBWE  0I17FIF%EE WI8FIBURE &
201851 F26H 2031 F25H
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 = = = = N
WI7EIBWE  0I7FIFKEE WI9FIBUEE &
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
Other employees 26 Jan 2017 26/an2017-26Jan 2018 26 Jan 2018-25 Jan 2023 069 - - - - Nil
(in aggregate) WI7EIFBE  WITEIBWEE WIBFIFWBAE £
Hitgs (&3h) 2018E1826A 203E1A25A
26 Jan 2017 26Jan 201726 Jan 2019 26 Jan 2019-25 Jan 2024 069 5,100,000 - (5100000) = N
WI7EIBWE  0I7FEIFKEE WI9FIBUEE &
2019%1F26H 202441 F25H
Total At 8400000 - (8400000) = Nil &
Number of share options 1220244128318 Nil

exercisable at
31 December 2024

alesd
EREHE
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Notes:

(@)  During the Reporting Period, nil (FY2023: 4) eligible participants who have been granted
share options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme have ceased to become eligible
participants upon termination of employment and the said share options have automatically

lapsed.

(b)  Other details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the

consolidated financial statements.

() Save as disclosed above, no share option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

was outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

The articles of association of the Company and the Companies Act (As Revised) of the
Cayman Islands do not entitle any Shareholder to any pre-emptive right or other similar rights

to subscribe for the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any Shares

during the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Other
than those transactions disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
above, these related party transactions either did not constitute connected transaction/
continuing connected transactions or constituted connected transaction/continuing connected
transactions that were exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders approval

requirement under Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules.
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ERHREE

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 32.5% of the Group's total purchases. The Group's largest
supplier accounted for approximately | 1.4% of the Group's total purchases. The average length

of relationship with the Group's five largest suppliers was approximately 12.9 years.

During the Reporting Period, the aggregate sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 28.7% of the Group's total revenue. The Group's largest
customer accounted for approximately 8.6% of the Group's total revenue. The average length

of relationship with the Group’s five largest customers was approximately | 1.4 years,

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company) had
a beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Reporting
Period.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If any Shareholders has any doubt about the taxation implication of purchasing, holding,
disposing of, dealing in, or exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to

consult their own professional advisers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 54 to 77 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 25% of the Company's total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum
percentage of public float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, are held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this

report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024
were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"), whose term of office will retire at the
close of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of PwC as the auditor of

the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by

the audit committee of the Board.

This report is signed for and on behalf of the Board.

Lam Chi Fan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to
safeguard the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Board believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management and healthy corporate culture, thereby earning the confidence of the

Shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance. The Company complied with and met the applicable code provisions

set out in the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company's corporate governance

practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for the Directors and relevant employees, who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company, in their dealings in the Company's
securities. The code of conduct are on terms no less exacting than the required standard set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model

Code") contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company's code
of conduct during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Our Company fosters a culture of integrity, innovation, teamwork and win-win. We believe
in upholding the highest standards of integrity, embracing change and creativity, working
collaboratively and creating value for all stakeholders. Our culture is the foundation of our
success, and we are committed to continuously improving it to better serve our employees,
customers, shareholders, suppliers, and communities. Our values and strategy are aligned with

our culture.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, with four executive Directors, one non-
executive and three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors during the Reporting

Period and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors Cheung Tung (President)
Chen Feng

Lam Kam Cheung

Lam Fei Man

Non-Executive Lam Chi Fan (Chairman) (Redesignated from executive

Director director to non-executive director with effect from
| August 2024)
Independent Wong Chi Keung

non-executive Zhang Hwo Jie

Directors Cheung Wah Keung

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Company's business.
The independence of the independent non-executive Directors is assessed according to the
relevant rules and requirements under the Listing Rules. The Company requests the Directors
to disclose annually to the Company the number and nature of office held in public companies

or organisations and other significant commitments with an indication of time involved.

Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy
concerning the diversity of Board members. The board diversity policy outlines the factors
to be considered when deciding on the appointments of members to the Board and the
continuation of those appointments. These factors include but are not limited to gender; age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from

time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EXERHRS

Relationship between Board members

- Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman and the non-executive Director; is the uncle of Mr.
Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director and a cousin of Ms. Lam Fei Man,

an executive Director;

- Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive Director; is a nephew of Ms. Lam Fei

Man, an executive Director;

= Mr. Chen Feng, an executive Director; is a cousin of the mother of Ms. Lam Fei Man, an

executive Director; and

- Ms. Lam Fei Man, an executive Director; is a cousin of Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of
the Board and the non-executive Director; the daughter of a cousin of Mr. Chen Feng,
an executive Director; and an aunt of Mr. Cheung Tung, the President and an executive

Director.

Save as disclosed above, there are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board and in particular, between the Chairman of the

Board and the president.

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board and management

The Board is responsible and has general power for the management and conduct of the
business of the Group. The Board oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. The Board also makes decisions on matters relating to
strategies and budgets, financial information, appointment and re-appointment of Directors,
dividend, adoption of accounting policies and other matters of operational significance to the

Company.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views are available to the
Board, including providing the Directors with sufficient resources to perform their duties, and
Directors shall seek, at the Company's expense, independent professional advice to perform

their responsibilities if necessary.

56 Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

EFCHEZERIMF

— MENEE (ERBRFWTES) AR
BEE BEFATES BIRMLUK
MERLT RTESR) KT

—  REEE BHARNTES) AMER
2t (MITES NRES

— BRELE RTESF) A2
BITES IHRNESR; &

ERtL

- MERLZE BITES) AMENL
S (EFEIFERFAUTES) OX
FoBRELE BITES) EBHRR
RERBRAEE (BERNTER) X
o

BREXFRBEEN EFEMEBRLE
EFEIRFEBICANEMS EH X
BRHEMEK HRERE

EFCREEEZAEF BHELREAM

EXROERBEEERRRERERER
M—REN - EFTTEEFERZES.
REMERARRERF TABEEREESR
RAEH HEREREXRBNN EF
TR BRRBRERE MHEN XK
BEHMZAEE RE FRMEHBRZEE
REMBAAGDEEBERZFEFLR
aio

EFESERIUSERT BRESGE
BREIRR BRODEEREREERMU
BITEBE MEEANEAEERSKE
VEXERUBTEBE ERAEXAT
SRR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board shall at all times comprises at least three independent non-executive Directors
that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there is always a strong element of

independence on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are given equal
opportunity and channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. The Chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues

and concerns.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms have been duly implemented
and are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are available to the Board

during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board delegates day-to-day management and operations functions of the Company
to Board committees and senior management of the Company with clear directions and
authority framework. The Board will review periodically the delegation given to management

to ensure that they are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

The Board has delegated specific roles and responsibilities to the Company's audit committee,
corporate governance committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Detalils of these committees are set out on pages 62 to 68 of this report.

Chairman and President

Mr: Lam Chi Fan is the Chairman of the Board. Mr. Lam is responsible for the formulation of

the overall business strategies and business planning of the Group.

Mr. Cheung Tung is the President (equivalent to the role of a chief executive) of the Company.
Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management of the day-to-day operations of the

Group.

Mr. Lam Chi Fan is the uncle of Mr. Cheung Tung. However, there is a clear distinction between

the Chairman'’s responsibilities and the President’s responsibilities.
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EXERHRS

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company currently has three independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the members of the Board, who are persons of high caliber with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independent non-executive Directors bring a diversified range of expertise and provide checks

and balances of safeguarding the interests of Shareholders and the Group as a whole.

Each of Mr. Wong Chi Keung and Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from || July 2023, respectively. Dr.
Cheung Wah Keung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three

years commencing from 16 June 2023.

The Company has received from all independent non-executive Directors their confirmation
of independence in respect of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive Directors have met the

independence guidelines and are independent.

The Board and the nomination committee will undertake more rigorous review annually on
the independence of any Director who has served the Board beyond nine years, and in doing
so, the Board will also take into account the need for progressive refreshing of the Board. In
addition, when a director who has served the Board beyond nine years seeks for continued
appointment as an independent director, his/her re-appointment will also be subject to more
stringent Shareholders’ resolutions mechanism in accordance with the requirements under the

Listing Rules.

Non-executive Director

The Company currently has one non-executive Director. Mr: Lam Chi Fan has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing from | August
2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board meetings

The Board meets at least four times a year and a tentative schedule for regular Board meetings
for each year is provided to Directors prior to the beginning of each calendar year. Between
scheduled regular Board meetings, Directors may approve various matters by way of passing
written resolutions. Additional Board meetings may be arranged if required. At least 14 days'
notice of a regular Board meeting shall be given and the Company aims at sending the agenda
and the accompanying board papers to Directors at a reasonable time before the intended

date of a Board meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the Board held four meetings and the Company held one

general meeting.

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for

inspection by the Directors.

The attendance records of the Directors at the Board meetings and the general meeting held

during the Reporting Period are set out as follows:
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Cheung Tung R 4/4 1/
Chen Feng PR AR 4/4 1/l
Lam Kam Cheung MRt 4/4 171
Lam Fei Man MEZ 414 11
Non-Executive Director EBRITESE
Lam Chi Fan HEN 4/4 I/
Independent non-executive Directors BRIFRTES
Wong Chi Keung FE® 4/4 1/l
Zhang Hwo Jie R 4/4 171
Cheung Wah Keung SRR 4/4 1/l
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EXERHRS

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the preparation of financial statements
of the Group to ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the results of its operation and its cashflows. In preparing the
financial statements for the Reporting Period, the Board had prepared the Group's financial
statements on a going-concern basis and in accordance with relevant accounting standards
and regulations. Board members are provided with monthly updates on the Group's financial
position, which give the Directors a clear assessment of the performance, position and

prospect of the Group.

A statement from the external auditor relating to their reporting responsibilities is set out in

the independent auditor's report on pages |39 to 148 of this report.

Continuous training and professional development for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their responsibilities and duties and are committed to
participate in continuous professional development to develop their knowledge and skills. This

is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company provides regular updates on changes and developments relating to the Group's
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to the Directors at regular Board
meetings. In addition, the Company organises briefing sessions to the Directors which place
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director, as well as the latest

developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.
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Individual training record of each Director during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEERHRS

BEENRSPNZEAENZEDT

Reading materials
regarding regulatory Attending seminars
updates and corporate and/or conferences

governance matters and/or briefings

RERR
RTEEEAK HEMmE
TEERER R/Sg®

Name of Directors EENL Bt &/ HER
Executive Directors BITES
Cheung Tung SRAR v v
Chen Feng FRAE v \
Lam Kam Cheung st v v
Lam Fei Man MHEE \ v
Non-Executive Director EHITES
Lam Chi Fan HEFR \ V
Independent non-executive Directors BUFRTER
Wong Chi Keung FTE® v \
Zhang Hwo Jie R v v
Cheung Wah Keung TREER v \
BOARD COMMITTEES E5%8Y

The Company has set up four committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration

committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance committee, for

overseeing particular aspects of the Company. The terms of reference of these committees are

available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

-+

ARARRIUMNBES S HEZEZES #
MEEE RREEEREXERZES
UEEARBANBENEFH ZFEE
T AR 8 [ BT 7 A ) A i R Bk 52 P 48
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EXERHRS

Audit Committee

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung. Mr. Wong Chi Keung
is the chairman of the audit committee. He has professional qualifications in accounting and

financial management.

The primary duties of the audit committee include, among other things:

= reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence and objectivity;

= recommending to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditor and
approving its remuneration;

= reviewing the Group's consolidated financial statements, annual reports and interim

reports before submitting them to the Board;

= overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system, internal control and risk management

procedures and audit process;

= reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; and

= meeting with the external auditor to discuss issues regarding audit at least once a year

in the absence of the management.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee held four meetings and reviewed and
discussed with the external auditor the interim and annual results of the Group and
the relevant financial reports. It also discussed matters with respect to the Group's risk

management and internal controls and the re-appointment of external auditor:
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A summary of the work of the audit committee during the Reporting Period was as follows:

(@)  reviewed and discussed with the external auditor the annual results for the year ended

31 December 2023 and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

(b)  discussed and reviewed the risk management system of the Group, reviewed the
internal control review plan for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim

financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

(c)  reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit function; and

(d)  approved and confirmed the annual audit plan for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The attendance record of each member of the audit committee at the meetings held during

the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEERHRS

RREANNELZEG TERENT

(2)

HR K AN BT S s B E 2023
FNAIHLEEENEEZEREE
20246830 LE7NE B ERZE LS

HmhkBRAEEZEREERA
ZREHEE20BENAIHLEEEZRA
BB R 8 B E20245F 6830
HIEAEAN TR ;

BERARDABEZBAENBRIL
K

HERBEEE2024F 12831 BIEE
ENEESIZTE -

EERZEEMEBHERBSHARTZ
SEMEHHEIWT

Meetings attended

Name of members of audit committee BERZEERENS HEZERY
Wong Chi Keung FTE® 4/4
Zhang Hwo Jie R 4/4
Cheung Wah Keung TREER 414
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153

BERAHRS

Corporate Governance Committee

The corporate governance committee currently comprises three independent non-executive

Directors, namely, M Wong Chi Keung, the chairman of the corporate governance committee,

Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung.

The primary duties of the corporate governance committee include, among other things:

developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the Company on corporate

governance and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any change;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management on corporate governance;

reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the Company on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements on corporate governance and making

recommendations to the Board with regard to any change;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and the corporate

governance manual applicable to Directors and employees; and

reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report.

During the Reporting Period, the corporate governance committee held one meeting to

review the Company's corporate governance policies and practices and the compliance with
the CG Code.
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The attendance record of each member of the corporate governance committee at the

meeting held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

EEERHRS

BREXELZEENEHENREANE
Tz R HETIMT :

Meeting attended

Name of members of corporate governance committee TEERZEERENRS HEGERY
Wong Chi Keung FE® /1
Zhang Hwo Jie SR /1
Cheung Wah Keung TRIER 1/

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee currently consists of the non-executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee is chaired by Mr. Zhang
Hwo Jie, an independent non-executive Director: Other members are Dr. Cheung Wah Keung,
an independent non-executive Director and Mr. Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and

the non-executive Director.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee include, among other things:

= studying and making recommendations or proposals to the Board for its review on
the Company's policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, the Company's incentive schemes and the establishment of a formal and

transparent procedure for formulating the remuneration policies and incentive schemes;

= determining the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the

non-executive Directors;

= reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate

objectives approved by the Board from time to time; and

- reviewing and approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter |7 of the

Listing Rules.
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EXERHRS

In order to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of key employees of the Company,
the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme enables eligible persons to have a personal stake in the Company and thus motivates

them to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

Details of the Directors and senior management's emoluments for the Reporting Period and
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in note || and note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements, respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration committee held three meetings to assess the
performance of the Directors and approve Directors' and senior management’s performance
bonus, after taking into consideration the comparable market practice, competitive market
condition position, individual performance and contributions of the Directors and the Group's

operating resullts.

The attendance record of each member of the remuneration committee at the meetings held

during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

RBEERBEUXADEIZEENER &
NRERMERLHEERERESE B
ﬂ’\Eﬁ? ERERESIFTCGERAL
RAEABFHEBEAED  EMREKE
REEBEBF mRA TEREK -

BHREHESASREEBNHERE
NS ERBERESE ZEBDANEHEN
R e RRMEE | RMiEE320

SE o+ Ot

REREMAN FNEEEER=-NER &
ERABELEBRTHEN BRFNNTE
R EFEARBEREMAREERL
BEER TEEFRAURBEEER
BREEERRIRTA

BHNEEENEHFENRE
SENCHRHEIWT :

HRETZ

Meeting attended

Name of members of remuneration committee ML EEmalS HEEERY
Zhang Hwo Jie SRAGE 33
Lam Chi Fan MEN 3/3
Cheung Wah Keung TRIER 33

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee currently comprises four members with the majority of its
members being independent non-executive Directors. The nomination committee is chaired
by Mr Lam Chi Fan, the Chairman of the Board and the non-executive Director: Other
members are Mr. Wong Chi Keung, Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie and Dr. Cheung Wah Keung, all being

independent non-executive Directors.
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The primary duties of the nomination committee include, among other things:

= reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board and making
recommendations regarding any proposed changes to the Board in line with the

Company's strategies;

= developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of

directors:

- identifying suitable candidates for appointment as directors; and

- assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company acknowledges and embraces the benefits of diversity among its Board
members. The nomination committee has a policy concerning the diversity of Board
members with measurable objectives. Selection of candidates is based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and the legitimate

interests of the principal Shareholders.

Currently, the Board consists of one female members, and seven male members who are of
different age, genders and with professional experience and qualifications in various aspects.
Having regard to the composition of the Board and the measurable objectives, the Company
considers that the Board composition is sufficiently diversified with a balance of gender, skills
and experience desirable for the effective management and sustainable development of
the Company. The Board targets to continue to maintain at least one female representation
on the Board. The Company will ensure that sufficient resources are available for providing
appropriate trainings and career development to develop a pipeline of potential successors to

the Board and maintain gender diversity.
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To achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment
and selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are considered and ensure that
gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff members of mid to senior level.
The Group has also established talent management and training programs to provide career
development guidance and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool
of skilled and experienced employees. During the Report Period, the Board was not aware
of any mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the

workforce (including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

As at 31 December 2024, the employee headcount of the Group was 3,333, of which 1,637

were male and [,696 were female.

Nomination Procedures

The Company has a nomination policy for the nomination of directors. Appointment of new
directors is first considered by the nomination committee. In considering the appointment of
a director; the nomination committee applies criteria such as relevant experience, professional
and educational background, reputation for integrity and independence as well as the diversity
in the Board. The recommendation of the nomination committee is then put to the Board for
consideration and approval. Thereafter, any Director appointed by the Board is subject to re-

election by the Shareholders at the general meeting after his/her appointment.

During the Reporting Period, the nomination committee held two meetings to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance record of each member of the

nomination committee at the meeting held during the Reporting Period is set out as follows:

REREIBMZ b 2EEERNE
ENRERRERLR UZRBAEE
FEAN THREREEETSEEIREE
MRZTIE - AEBTERIATEER
HEE RUEREERIEEREAKE
DEERZRMAREREENZ TEE
B RREAN EFTEFNTLBEREE
BE (BESMREER) HHEZTLERH
B A REENENERRIBER

R2024E12B31H  AEBETBHUE
3333 A HAL637ABEMN K 1,696 A5
o

’RoiEF

AARMREREZHERBER -MES
ZEAIEAHRLEEEER -NERE
EZZAR RLESERAMMBMEE-
BERHEER AEEERBIUMUR
EXES LS ER -RRZEGLER
HRREEFGZE M E- LR BESF
SERAZAENEFANAEEZERINKRE
ARELHRRERE T

RESHRN RLZEERRMREZN
BRAEZENRBE RERAN -BREE
BEMEHFERREANBTZEHE
BEIMTF

Meeting attended

Name of members of nomination committee REZEEHEHS HEEERY
Lam Chi Fan MER 2
Wong Chi Keung FTE® 2
Zhang Hwo Jie SR 212
Cheung Hwa Keung TREER 22
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Period, the fees in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided to

the Group by Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor; are set out as follows:

EEERHRS

8 Gl

RERSHA SIMNERHMEIRKES
SENEHBAAERRERNEZRIFEZ
RBMAINERHSIWMT :

Fee

&R

HK$'000

FHET

Audit services BIZRE 3210

Non-audit services: FFBIZIRT

Reviewing the Company's interim financial information, report on ~ BRAAB] PN BER - HFEHERZEH
continuing connected transactions and review of risk management ¥R R BRI AL B R SRR A ES) ot
and internal control of the Group, and conducting financial and tax BEWBEBEHVBAREF Bz SHAES

due diligence for potential acquisition 1,180

4,390

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Kam Cheung was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on 4 March
2014. The biographical details of Mr Lam is set out in the section headed “Directors and

Senior Management” on page 18 of this report.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Lam took no less than |5 hours of relevant professional

training.

MR R ENR2014E384BBZER/ER
BARME - BRAMAEENBEFBHRN
FREFISEEERSREEE —&-

PSR MAEESMT A DRI/ E
NBEREEE-
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company respects the rights of Shareholders and seeks to facilitate the effective exercise

of those rights by ensuring that the Company communicates effectively with its Shareholders.

The Company promotes effective communication with Shareholders and encourages effective
participation by Shareholders at general meetings of the Company. To ensure a high quality
of communication and a clear of understanding with all investors and other stakeholders,
whilst complying with its statutory disclosure obligations, the Company endeavours to
provide Shareholders with ready and easy access on a timely basis to matters that affect their
investment in the Company and communicate in a clear, accurate and easy to understand
manner with investors and other stakeholders. Communications with Shareholders are mainly
maintained through the Company's interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars,
general meetings and publications on the Company's website. Shareholders may make
enquiries with the Company through channels mentioned above, and provide comments and
recommendations to the Directors. Upon receipt of enquiries from the Shareholders, the

Company will respond as soon as practicable.

The Chairman of the Board, respective Chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee, or, in their
absence, other members of the respective board committees, will make themselves available at
the annual general meetings to meet Shareholders, answer their enquiries, and to understand

their views.

During the Report Period, an annual general meeting of the Company was held on 7
June 2024 at which all the Directors attended either in person or by electronic means to
communicate with the Shareholders. In addition, all corporate communications and regulatory
announcements were published by the Company on its website and the website of the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner: The Board considers that the shareholders communication is

effective during the Report Period.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy of the Company, in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account the following

factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@)  the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, expected working capital
requirements and capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future
expansions plans;

(b)  the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company;

(c)  the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity ratio and the relevant
financial covenant;

(d)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business and other internal
or external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group;

(e)  the Shareholders’and the investors' expectation and industry's norm; and

() any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board also considers that general meetings of the Company provide an useful forum
for Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Company shall in each year hold a
general meeting as its annual general meeting. All general meetings other than annual general

meeting shall be called extraordinary general meetings (“EGMs").

Members of the audit committee, remuneration committee, corporate governance committee
and nomination committee and the external auditor also attend the annual general meetings
to answer questions from Shareholders. Notice of annual general meetings is sent to all
Shareholders at least 21 days before the annual general meetings and the accompanying
circular also sets out details of each proposed resolution and other relevant information as
required under the Listing Rules. The voting results of annual general meetings and EGMs are
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on the same day of the

annual general meetings and EGMs.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to Convene General Meetings

Any two or more members of the Company, at the date of the deposit of a written requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings, shall at all times have the right to require an EGM to be called by

the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must specify the purpose of the meeting, signed by the requisitionists
and deposit it with the company secretary of the Company at the Company's principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |, MegaBox Enterprise Square
Five, No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within 2| days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the EGM to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionists themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene
the EGM, but any EGM shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of

deposit of the requisition.
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An EGM so convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly

possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions or requests for information to the Directors or
management through the ‘Contact Us' section in the Company’s website at www.sinomax.com

or in writing or sent by post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

As a matter of Cayman Islands laws, no members nor Shareholders are permitted to propose
new resolutions at general meetings if the intention to propose the new resolutions is not
specified in the notice convening the general meeting. However, procedures for proposing
candidate(s) for election as Directors at a Shareholder's meeting are set out in the Corporate

Governance section of the Company's website at irsinomax.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that communicating with its Shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders by electronic means, particularly through its website, is an efficient way of
distributing information in a timely and convenient manner. The Company's website at

(wwwi.sinomax.com/group) provides the following information:

= members of the Board, terms of reference of the Board committees, key corporate

governance policies and the Company's constitutional documents;

= latest news, announcements, financials including interim and annual reports and all

material information submitted to the Stock Exchange; and

= other information relating to the Group and its business.
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Shareholders can make any query in respect of the Group or to make request for the

Company's financial reports. The designated contact details are as follows:

By post: Sinomax Group Limited

Units 2005-2007, Level 20, Tower |,

MegaBox Enterprise Square Five,

No. 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong
By email: ir@sinomax.com

Shareholders who have any matters relating to change of name or address, transfer of shares
and loss of share certificates, may contact the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar,

Tricor Investor Services Limited. The contact detalils are as follows:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
|'7/F, Far East Finance Centre
|6 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has a whistleblowing policy to provide employees and those who deal with the
Group to voice concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the chairman or members of the
audit committee about possible improprieties in matters related to the Group. An effective
whistleblowing system can help detect and deter misconduct or malpractice in the Group. The

Group reviews the whistleblowing policy periodically to improve its effectiveness.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

The Group has an anti-corruption policy under the Code of Conduct and has adopted an
anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy in February 2022 that supports anti-corruption laws and
regulations, and to promote an anti-corruption culture within the Group. The Group reviews
the policy periodically to ensure that it is operating effectively and consider whether any

changes to the policy are required.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company amended and adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company on 7 June 2024, the date which the proposed amendments
were approved by the Shareholders at the 2024 Annual General Meeting, for the purposes of,
among others, reflecting and aligning with the latest requirements in relation to the expanded
paperless listing regime and the electronic dissemination of corporate communications by
listed issuers and the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect from
31 December 2023 and making other minor amendments to the Memorandum and Articles

for corresponding as well as housekeeping changes.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. A review of the implemented systems and
procedures, including areas covering financial, operational, legal compliance controls and risk
management functions (including ESG risks), is carried out annually. The risk management and
internal control systems are implemented to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed

and used as a management tool for the day-to-day operation of business.

The Board has, through the audit committee, reviewed and considered the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and adequate for the Reporting

Period.

No significant areas of concern that might affect the financial, operational, legal compliance

controls and risk management functions of the Group were identified.

The Group has established an organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility and
reporting procedures. The Group's internal audit department assists the Board and the audit
committee in the review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal

control systems on an ongoing basis.
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The Company has established Enterprise Risk Management Procedures to ensure safeguard of
assets and to identify, evaluate, quantify and manage existing and potential risks. Relevant rules
and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records
are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks (including ESG risks) that may impact on the Group’s performance

are appropriately identified and addressed.

The internal audit department is responsible for the operation and coordination of enterprise
risk management mechanism, which includes examining, reviewing the effectiveness of risk
management processes and systems, assessing whether risk is properly identified, assessing
significant risk reporting, and reviewing significant risk management. The internal audit
department provides risk management and internal control assessment reports to the
management on a regular or ad hoc basis. The internal audit department also regularly reviews
and reports to the audit committee and the Board on risk management and internal control

affairs. The Group will appoint external internal control consultant when necessary.

The task group on risk management is responsible for establishing the risk management
register and defining responsibilities, procedures and system of risk management, formulating
the annual risk management work plan, carrying out risk assessment, proposing the risk
management strategy, assisting the relevant departments and the enterprises in significant risk
management. It also prepares risk management performance appraisal program and conducts

annual performance appraisal and arranges risk management training.

The departmental management executes risk management strategies, solutions and crisis
management plans for significant risks, dynamically monitor significant risk associated indicators
and executes the procedures and policies of the risk management and internal controls of the

Group.
In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls undertaken within the

Group, the external auditor also assesses the effectiveness of certain key risks and internal

controls as part of their statutory audits.
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To help ensure all risks which are relevant to the Group are considered, a systematic approach

to risk identification is followed. Identifiable risk areas which are considered include:

maintaining a safe work environment for the Group's employees;

safeguarding and efficient use of assets;

management of human resources;

ensuring the Group complies with legal and regulatory obligations;

achieving established objectives and goals;

reliability and integrity of financial and operational information; and

compliance with internal policies and procedures.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside

information, the Group:

()

(i)

is aware of the obligations under the SFO, the applicable Listing Rules and other
statutory regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of inside
information, announcements and financial disclosures and authorises their publication as

required;

has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure Policy; and

has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the securities transactions
of those employees who, because of their positions, are likely to have access to

confidential or inside information.
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ABOUT US

Company profile

Sinomax Group Limited (“Sinomax” or the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the "Group”) (Stock Code: 1418) is principally engaged in the
development, manufacturing and sales of visco-elastic health and wellness
products. Since 2001, embracing its belief “Love Supports Beloved", Sinomax
has introduced a range of products, including visco-elastic pillows, mattress
toppers, and polyurethane foam mattresses. These efforts culminated in
the Group's listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange™) in July 2014. To maintain its leading market position, the Group
invests in research, design, development and production of high-quality health
and wellness products. By focusing on customer engagement, innovation, and
quality assurance, the Group strives to meet the evolving needs of households

and support a healthy lifestyle.
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Corporate vision, mission and core values

Leveraging our strong research and development capabilities, we aim to create
innovative, high-quality health and wellness products with the goal of becoming
a market leader in the industry. We maintain regular communication with
customers to better understand their needs, promote healthy living, and support

community well-being. Our vision is underpinned by the following core values:

Integrity 3415

Be trustworthy and transparent to
our stakeholders
BARMAFHEOFERER
MARERN AR

Be caring for the environment

and community within

business operations

AEBEERHOREM

To boost efficiency and
productivity by formulating a
highly cooperative team
BRITE—EEESENE
B iR R E

To steer and develop sustainable

products that benefits the community

5L ERE R AR AR
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

2.1

Reporting standards, period and scope

This report was, to the extent practicable, prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Reporting Code (the “Reporting
Code") in the Appendix C2 to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, which took effect on | January
2025 and will apply to the ESG reports of the Company in respect of financial
years commencing on or after | January 2025. Additional details on corporate
governance are provided in the corporate governance report section of the
annual report, prepared in accordance with the Appendix Cl to the Listing

Rules.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the Reporting Code, this ESG Report (“ESG Report”) has
outlined the Group's overall performance in environmental protection, human
resources, operating practice and community involvement during the Reporting
Year. The Guide for the ESG Report from page 129 to 138 is provided for cross-

referencing purpose.

This ESG Report covers the ESG performance of the Group's Hong Kong
headquarters, Shenzhen office, and factories in Guangdong, Zhejiang and
Shandong Provinces, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") from | January
2024 to 31 December 2024 (the "Reporting Year"). The Group is committed
to enhancing its data collection systems and plans to incorporate its premises
in the United States and Vietnam into future reports to provide a more

comprehensive overview of its ESG performance and disclosures.
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Reporting principles

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the reporting principles

set out in the Listing Rules:

Materiality: To identify material ESG issues relevant to Sinomax's
operations, the Group engaged key stakeholders, including employees,
suppliers, and customers, to assess the significance of various ESG topics.
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and senior management reviewed
these material topics to ensure stakeholders' concerns are addressed in
this report. Details on the application of materiality are provided in the

“Materiality assessment” section of this report.

Quantitative: ESG performance is presented with quantitative data and
clear explanations of impacts to evaluate and review the effectiveness
of policies and management approaches. The Group has also set

environmental targets to mitigate negative impacts.

Balance: This report is prepared in a fair and unbiased manner; disclosing
material key performance indicators ("KPIs"), regardless of whether the

performance has improved or declined.

Consistency: The Group consistently adheres to the disclosure
requirements and calculation methodologies of the Listing Rules, ensuring

data comparability year-on-year.
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2.3 Contact details

To enhance the Group's sustainability strategy, we welcome any feedback
concerning this report and the Group's sustainability performance. Contact

information is provided below:

Address: Sinomax Group Limited
Units 2005-2007,
Level 20 Tower |,
MegaBox,
Enterprise Square Five,
38 Wang Chiu Road,

Kowloon Bay,
Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2754 7798
E-mail: ir@sinomax.com
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Dear stakeholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Sinomax Group Limited, | am pleased to present
the Group's 2024 ESG report. This report highlights our ongoing commitment to

sustainability and the progress we have made during the year.

In 2024, we continued to navigate a rapidly evolving business environment shaped
by global climate challenges and increasing stakeholder expectations. Guided by our
core values, integrity, teamwork, innovation, and win-win—we embraced opportunities

further to embed sustainability into our operations and governance framework.

The year was a difficult year with global economic instability. In our pursuit of a
sustainable recovery, we sought to advance our governance of potential risks and
opportunities related to ESG issues. Working closely with the ESG Task Force, we
identified and assessed risks and opportunities associated with climate change, aligning
our efforts with China's 2060 carbon neutrality commitment. By adopting measures
to improve energy efficiency, reduce emissions, and invest in green innovation, we are
taking meaningful steps to support the global transition to a low-carbon economy. The
ESG Task Force has worked diligently to ensure timely reporting, risk management, and

the integration of ESG considerations into our business strategy.

On behalf of the Group, | wish to express my heartfelt gratitude to our management
team and staff for their dedication to advancing our sustainability goals. As we look
ahead, we remain committed to fostering long-term value for our stakeholders while

addressing the environmental and social challenges of our time.

LAM Chi Fan

Chairman

|8 March 2025
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FACILITATING ROBUST GOVERNANCE

4.1

ESG governance

4.1.1 Board statement about ESG governance

The Group has established an ESG Task Force comprising management
to oversee ESG-related activities and ensure alignment with its business
development plan. The Board annually approves ESG-related goals and
targets based on the recommendations from the ESG Task Force. The
Board also holds overall responsibility for ESG oversight and decision-
making. Under the Board's leadership, relevant departments and business
units implement ESG practices, from policy development to action
execution. This integrative management framework enables the Group
to identify risks and opportunities, thereby strengthening the ESG risk
management. To fulfil its environmental responsibilities, the Group applies
green and sustainable development principles, supported by an 1SO
[4001:2015 certified Environmental Management System. This ensures
energy efficiency, proper waste management, and compliance with

relevant laws and regulations in our operations.
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4.1.2 Governance structure

ESG Task Force
ESGE & /MH

RIE- B RELHRS

412 EBLEE

Responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees the formulation,
administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

BEEEAR EEESGRANGIE  BE R b

Assists the Board in managing and monitoring the ESG matters on a
daily basis.
EEHEMEFEEERERSGER

Execute measures to achieve set strategies and targets.

BEEMERARMEN  ERTEREKER-
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42 Stakeholder engagement 42 FhESH
The Group prioritises effective communication with stakeholders to understand FERERAFOHENENE
their expectations and support sustainable growth. Various contact channels BT REREN AR AR
have been established to gather stakeholder feedback. During the Reporting B-RMCRILEBHMERERSE
Year, Sinomax engaged with different stakeholder groups through these RNENER -REFER BEH
communication channels: BBUTRBRERTRMARNF
REBE
Stakeholder group & Communication channels
&R R BERE
HKEX —
BRRG
* Meetings * Site visits
=L BHER
* Training * Inspection and
=3 interview
* Workshops =Sl Employees
e BT
* Website updates and announcements * Staff orientation
MEBHRAS 8T ABE
* Interview and performance
Social media appraissls
sl BB
o i * Seminars and workshops
4 b e EMAER
» Staff activities
* Newsletter [P X ' .
AT E! !‘uu. MAX BIEH
g% * ESG survey
Community ESGE%E
e
* Charitable activities Customers
BEED &R
* Public consultation * E-shop
AR WLAE

Shareholders and investors

REMREE

* Shareholder meetings
REXE

* Financial reports, announcements and circulars

FHRE NENBER

Company website

NIk

Company enquiry e-mail and phone number

REBHEFHHMEBES

Site visits

BMER

.
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Materiality assessment

Consistent with the reporting principle of Materiality, the Group conducted
a comprehensive review of the material issues identified in 2024. This review
process took into account the evolving operating environment as well as
ongoing engagement with key stakeholders. To ensure robustness and alignment
with best practices, the Group benchmarked its materiality assessment against
the latest industry standards and comparable practices within the market and
among industry peers. Additionally, the review incorporated insights from key
stakeholders regarding their priorities and expectations related to sustainability
issues. Following this rigorous evaluation, the Group determined that the
identified material issues remain relevant and aligned with its strategic priorities,

and therefore decided to retain them for continued focus and disclosure.

Materiality Matrix
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Level of significance of the Group's business on economic environmental and social impacts
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Environmental

RIZ

Emission . Energy Consumption

B . BERHFE

GHG Emission Water Consumption

BEREK . FEK

Natural Resources

RARER

Hazardous Waste

BEEBERY

Non-hazardous Waste

BEBERY

Climate Change
RIREME

Social

Employment

(=

. Health and Safety
. BRERE

. Development and Training

- BRERIEN

. Labour Standards

. B I

. Supply Chain Management
. HREsEEE

. Product and Service

Responsibility

. EmRBRBEE

. Anti-corruption

. R&E

. Community Investment

. HERE
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Business ethics

Strong corporate governance is essential for upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. To ensure ethical business practices, the Group has
implemented an anti-corruption policy under its Code of Conduct, along with a
strict anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy. All employees are required to sign and
adhere to the Letter of Commitment to Honest and Clean Business Practice,

ensuring a clear understanding of the Group's ethical standards.

During the Reporting Year; 723 hours of anti-corruption and anti-bribery training
or materials were provided to the Board and employees. The training sessions
and materials cover topics such as the Group's policies on anti-corruption, anti-
bribery, disclosure and handling of conflicts of interest. As part of these efforts,
we invited a Community Relations Officer from the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC") to conduct specialized anti-corruption and
integrity training for our Hong Kong colleagues, further strengthening our

commitment to ethical business practices across all operations.
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The Group has established whistle-blowing channels, allowing stakeholders to
report suspected unethical activities through mail, email or telephone. These
accessible channels reflect the Group's dedication to fostering a transparent and

accountable business environment.

Upon receiving a report, the audit committee or any person appointed by the
audit committee conducts a thorough and timely investigation. If the allegations
are substantiated, appropriate disciplinary actions are taken in accordance with
the policy. This structured approach underscores the Group's commitment to

accountability and reinforces the significance of ethical behaviour in the Group.

The Group's whistle-blowing policy and procedures exemplify its responsible
handling of suspected unethical activities, promoting a culture of transparency

and accountability.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any case of non-

compliance regarding all relevant laws and regulations relating to corruption.

5 DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE CHAIN

5.1

Innovative design

Sinomax is committed to delivering high-quality health and wellness products
through innovation, striving to become a global leader in the health-living
industry. Leveraging its robust research and development (“R&D") capabilities,
the Group continuously enhances existing materials and products while
introducing new offerings to meet diverse consumer needs. As of the end of
the Reporting Year, the Group has successfully launched and registered over 90

distinctive product design patents.
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The Group places significant emphasis on protecting product design patents
and intellectual property (“IP"). To mitigate the risk of infringement, our
manufacturing and R&D teams conduct a thorough patent reviewing process
during the early stages of product design, particularly for products incorporating
specialised materials. This proactive approach ensures that potential risks are

addressed early in the development process.

We have implemented a comprehensive IP protection system and processes
to rigorously manage the application, maintenance, and safeguarding of our IP
Additionally, we incorporate applicable clauses and terms in contracts with

suppliers and partners to protect the interests of all parties involved.

The Group's commitment to IP protection is further demonstrated by its
acquisition of the Enterprise Intellectual Property Management Certification
(GB/T29490-2013). This certification reflects our adherence to recognised
standards and best practices in IP management, showcasing its dedication to

effectively managing and safeguarding its IP assets.
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Sustainable procurement

5.2.1 Raw material sourcing

Raw materials and suppliers play a vital role in delivering high-quality
products. The Group is committed to managing its procurement
processes and suppliers to build a sustainable value chain. By adopting
rigorous procurement practices, the Group ensures the selection and
management of suppliers and raw materials to deliver safe and healthy
products to customers. Procedural guidelines for material procurement
have been developed, prioritising the use of high-quality raw materials to

support premium production.

Our procurement practices include strict requirements for sourcing non-
toxic, organic, and environmentally friendly materials. During supplier
selection, we prioritise recyclable and natural materials with low volatile
organic compound (VOC) content and internationally recognised
certifications, such as CertiPUR-US and Oeko-Tex Standard 100.

Since 2019, Sinomax has been a signatory of the Sustainable
Procurement Charter, recognised by the United Nations One Planet
network. As a member, we adhere to the ISO 20400 Sustainable
Procurement Guidelines, integrating sustainability into our procurement

processes and practices.
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Testing on fire ignitability was in accordance with the methods specified by CAL |17 and UK

BS 5852: 2006.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

Certifications for raw materials sourcing that we considered include but

are not limited to:

CertiPUR-US certification

Oeko-Tex Standard 100

Certificates of testing on fire ignitability!

Sustainable Procurement Charter
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To embed sustainability into the Group's
procurement process and practice, Sinomax has
been a signatory of the Sustainable Procurement

Charter since 2019.
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5.2.2  Supplier management

The Group places significant importance on risk management within
its supply chain. All prospective suppliers undergo a comprehensive
evaluation that assesses product quality, price, timeliness, and ESG
performance. If a potential supplier fails the assessment, we provide
feedback to help enhance their sustainability performance and
encourages them to undergo re-assessment in the following year.

To maintain consistent product quality and performance, the Group
conducts annual evaluations of existing suppliers. These evaluations
are organised by the procurement department, where suppliers are
scored based on their ongoing performance. The materials offered by

our suppliers are also assessed against green and sustainable standards,

considering factors such as:

. Material quality
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e Hazardous and regulated substances 0 BERZERMESR
g
0 Recycled material usage . BAMEERLLA

. Recyclability

0 Energy efficiency, resource usage and environmental emissions
during use phase

e Material sourcing and scarcity

0 Green packaging

We encourage sustainable practices by increasing orders for suppliers

with strong performance where feasible. Suppliers with lower evaluation

scores are issued with notifications and improvement plans. If they fail
to improve within the proposed timeframe, they are removed from the

qualified supplier list. In 2024, 98.37% of suppliers passed the assessment,

[.23% met the criteria after improvements, and 0.4% were terminated
after our comprehensive evaluations.
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To further reduce the environmental impact of our supply chain, we
prioritise the use of locally manufactured materials and local suppliers
to minimise greenhouse gas emissions from transportation. During the
Reporting Year, 98% of our suppliers were based in the PRC or Hong
Kong.

Local?

i

Number of suppliers

(e B 38l

Quality assurance

5.3.1 Responsible manufacturing

In addition to monitoring raw material quality, our core strategy for
securing customer trust and market share lies in maintaining the quality
and condition of finished products. To achieve this, the Group has
implemented a robust quality management system, which has earned I1SO
9001:2015 certification. A dedicated quality assurance team comprising
over 70 professionals ensures strict adherence to the standard operating

procedures outlined in the quality management system.

The Group has also developed comprehensive product recall and quality
issue protocols. In the event of a significant product recall, a processing
team is immediately established to conduct a detailed investigation,
report findings to senior management, and implement corrective action

to prevent recurrence.

Includes the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Before delivery, the quality assurance team conducts spot checks of EmXTH BERTEREK
product quality, focusing on environmental, health, and safety performance GETRER M BT
indicators such as VOC content and fire resistance. Products are tested at VOCEERPAMESFIR
ISO/IEC 17025:2017-certified laboratories and testing centres to ensure B REHZEIEE - EM
compliance with all relevant safety regulations. FE4BIBISO/EC 17025201753

ENEREREATOET
A LIFRN AR

Z2RE o
Beyond ensuring product safety, the quality assurance team also analyses RRRERZEZINVEE
defective products to refine designs and implement preventive measures. BREEKEENMARER
This approach helps reduce defect rates, minimise resource waste, and MNEBEHRS T ERERE
enhance operational efficiency. ot BB HBEERRE

RLBERREREAEEY

Ko

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded no cases of non- BEFER AEERLER
compliance with product quality and safety laws or regulations, and no BTEREERZDEEE
product recalls occurred due to health or safety issues. RBER TELIRERRE
REEBEMEEEmR-

R&D

2

Conduct professional research and development

TR

Developed and registered over 90 design patents

PSR T 90% R ERR B

Raw material procurement

[RAHEHRAE
CertiPUR-US certification CertiPUR-US

Manufacturing and quality monitoring
EENEEEE

/ management systems

2015 Environmental management systems

Delivery

2

Conduct spot check on products’ environmental and safety performance
HERNBENR2EWETIHE

Analyse samples at laboratory and testing centres
ARBENRAPODTER

Follow-up actions
RETE
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Accredited Laboratory
RRAERE
Our testing centre in Guangdong has been accredited to comply with the ISO/IEC 17025:2017 General
Requirements for the Competence of Testing and Calibration Laboratories by China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment.
BAURERENRAFOEESTEGKRTERRDAIZEGRTE > FEISO / IEC 17025
017{RANREBREEINEREKR)
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5.3.2 Customer care

The Group is committed to creating customer-centric products through
innovation and recognises the importance of engaging with customers
to understand their needs and expectations. To achieve this, we have
established multiple communication and interaction channels to foster
meaningful connections with its customers. For instance, the Group
regularly shared tips for improving sleep quality on social media and
raised awareness through collaborating with Key Opinion Leaders

('KOLs").

Sinomax HK &
DO o 004 -

[miF R ] M - WA SN ? AR v
I MiOE_. See more
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Additionally, Sinomax consistently shares the latest health-related news
and updates with customers through its retail stores, e-shop, and mobile
apps. These platforms also allow customers to submit product reviews
or comments, ensuring that their opinions are welcomed. To enhance
customer satisfaction, we provide comprehensive after-sales services,
including product delivery, installation, repairs, and quality assessments.
A customer satisfaction evaluation system is in place, involving regular

follow-ups and feedback analysis to continuously improve service quality.

FEBRNBEBAIHEY
UERATLNER 1F
MERPREBUTHRES
REHHEWEEMR B>
KMEITSREROHE
BOHEREUBMBE-
fla> AEBEREH TS
BENENEEREEME
T BB EERE R EM
(TKOLs)) A1ERA LR
o

o BETEBTERE
W ORERTFHRERER
FEARPHZRNEEE
FAEM KRB - Z P IR
ERBLETARREMTE
RER EREAERER
BR-ARAZRREE
KPRHECREREE R
R MERRENEERRA
UERRS LREETR W
BENGRA BBTHE
E RO REBRERERS
CEY

BEREEBMRAT 204FERS

97



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERHRS

98

The Group has implemented a structured complaint processing

mechanism to ensure a systematic and effective approach to handling

customer concerns. During the Reporting Year, the Group received 176

complaints, all of which were resolved by the customer service team with

care and responsive measures.

COMPLAINT
PROCESSING

Customer Service Department follows the
procedures outlined in the customer compliant
handling policy to manage complaints.
ERRBEHBRERRFEEHIRRENER
BRI o

FEECRURRICRNE
B BERUAREEUE
ANEERRRHAME
REFER AEEHRE
|76 & HERT R R
HERKUEIEN kR EE
R ERAR

Order details are retrieved and shared with relevant
departments, such as sales and quality control, for

further investigations.
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The responsible department communicates with the

MECHANISM
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customer and resolves the issue effectively.

SR EE R BB A M ERRE

A detailed report is generated, documenting the
cause, measure taken, resolution duration, and final
solution for both parties' records.

RRE RS o ORI A A ~ IREUETE BRI
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Selected cases are used as training materials to
educate staff members and prevent similar incidents
in the future.
REEZEREAIRHIEY BUEEE TR
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Coqsumerﬂgirig-lg_ Scheme
MO ¥R

In a testament to Sinomax's continuous commitment to
elevating consumer care throughout its business, the Group
was awarded the “Consumer Caring Companies” for the
|0th year in 2024.
BHEMUESTEERFAMOEE D ROEHE
AEBFBRNNEBRCEHEERFBAEE

= Consumer Caring Schema
N BELEREFEFSHR

By (G51 Hong Keng 386
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5.3.3 Privacy and data protection

As a reliable and trustworthy company, Sinomax is committed to protect
customer privacy. The Group has established comprehensive data
management guidelines, outlined in the Corporate Culture Handbook,
which are based on the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter
486 of the Laws of Hong Kong). All employees are required to adhere
to these guidelines when handling customers’ personal data, ensuring
compliance with privacy regulations. New employees receive training on
information security upon joining the Company.

To safeguard against data breaches, the Group engages external [T
auditors to review the security systems and measures of its online
platforms.

Additionally, we have also developed an emergency response plan for
data centre information systems, outlining measures to address potential
incidents.

To further enhance its information security framework, the Group
introduced a new initiative during the Reporting Year by obtaining ISO
27001:2022 certification for our Information Security Management
System.

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded no incidents of non-
compliance with privacy-related laws and regulations.
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CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE

6.1

People-oriented approach

6.1.1 Labour standard

We are committed to providing a fair workplace that values diversity and
inclusion, along with the basic rights of job candidates and employees. To
promote a diverse workforce, we strongly support equal opportunity
and strictly prohibit discrimination of any kind. Every employee is treated

equally, regardless of race, ethnicity, gender, or other social factors.

To ensure compliance with labour standards, our Human Resources
Department is responsible for screening all candidates’ personal
information to prevent any unlawful or unethical labour practices,
including child labour and forced labour: If any instance of forced or
child labour is discovered, disciplinary actions will be taken against the
staff involved, including immediate termination of the employment
concerned. In case of forced labour, the Group will provide appropriate
compensation to the affected individuals. If child labour is uncovered, the
Group will offer the individuals education opportunities to support their

development.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not encounter any case of non-
compliance regarding all laws and regulations in relation to employment

and labour standards.
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Diversity, equity and inclusion

The Group is committed to fostering a fair and impartial working
environment where all employees are treated equally and respectfully.
Discrimination or harassment based on the gender, age, marital status,

race, sexual orientation and religion is strictly prohibited.

To upload this commitment, the Group enforces policies that prohibit
discrimination and harassment, aiming to create a workplace free from
bullying, belittling, and sexual harassment. Employees are entitled to equal
opportunity in treatment, promotion and remuneration, which are based
solely on their skills and competencies, regardless of race, religion, gender,
age or disability. During recruitment, the Group evaluate candidates
based on their capabilities and attitudes. People with disabilities are also

welcomed as part of the workforce.

Recruitment and Retention

Employees are considered one of the Group's most valuable assets.
Their dedication has been the cornerstone of the Group's success and is
essential for future growth. Consequently, the Group prioritises attracting

and retaining talent.

To achieve this, the Group offers competitive remuneration packages,
which are regularly reviewed to align with market conditions. Additionally,
employees benefit from perks such as discounts on wellness products,

further enhancing job satisfaction and loyalty.
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Number of Employees as at The End of the Reporting Year

REFEREEAH

By Age Group
RERRAER

102

Male 1,086 30 or Below 328
B 30BR U T
Female 1,209 31 -50 1,482
g3 315%-505%
51 or Above 485
S5IEEE I E
By Geographical Location
&
Hong Kong 126 Full Time 2,254
BE 2
The PRC 2,169 Part Time 4]
L alE] 34
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Total #85t 20%

By Age Group

HRERMAER

Male 21% 30 or Below 34%
Bt 30 AT
Female 19% 31 -50 20%
7t 315%-505%

51 or Above 10%

S5IERE E
By Geographical Location

#ita

Hong Kong 26% Full Time 19%
&% 2
The PRC 19% Part Time 39%
HhE 34

Talent development

We believe that a robust training strategy is essential for employees to achieve
their full potential, and we are committed to fostering their professional growth.

To support career progression for both new hires and experienced employees,
the Human Resources Department provides induction and tailored training
programmes. These programmes are regularly reviewed and updated to align
with company developments, ensuring they meet the evolving needs of our
workforce.

The training themes this year covered a wide range of topics, including
management skills, occupational safety, quality standards, information security,
environmental management, and corporate values. These diverse training areas
are designed to equip employees with the skills and knowledge necessary to
excel in their roles and contribute to the company's success.
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An example of our commitment to employee development is the Zhejiang MIBBETE T EBE

factory's initiative. To encourage employees to enhance their educational 2 ARRREMAHAT EEBHNK

qualifications, the company provides information on adult diploma and degree HoABBETIRAZE AEA

programmes. Employees who obtain their graduation certificates are eligible for BTIRUMABENRREMR

reimbursement of 50% of their tuition fees. BEM WIS EXIEETE
RIBS0%ZH o

Percentage of the Employee Trained for the Reporting Year

BREFEZIMEEML

By Gender
iR

Male 99% Management  100%
B BIEE
Senior Staff 100%
Female 84% «
< IEH 4B Bl
1k IR A

Junior Staff 90%

\—Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ& )

Average Training Hours per Employee for the Reporting Year

REFESHEERINTHRY

Male 15 Management 13
B EEE
Female 10 Senior Staff 17
p4:3 HEIRIR A
Junior Staff 12
— AR B AR
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Occupational health and safety

The Group's primary focus is the health and safety of its employees. To this end,
we have implemented an occupational health and safety management system
aligned with ISO 45001:2018 standards. The Group has established safety rules
and procedures based on international standards to ensure a safe working
environment for all employees.

Employees working in the memory foam factory are exposed to toxic materials
during the manufacturing process. To reduce chemical exposure, employees
are required to wear personal protective equipment, such as helmets and
masks, in designated sections of the factory. To ensure compliance with safety
standards, the safety manager conducts regular inspections and maintenance of

manufacturing facilities and hazardous material storage.

Also, the units handling hazardous chemicals are required to appoint designated
safety management personnel and hazardous chemical operators. Employees
who work with hazardous chemicals must undergo annual external reviews and

obtain certification before assuming their roles.

Alongside these measures, the Group strives to enhance employees’ safety
awareness through incident drills and safety training, focusing on safe operations
and emergency response protocols.

Fire Safety Training
HBR 2SN

In the event of a work-related injury, the site manager must notify the
Administration Department, which will assign the appropriate department(s)
to investigate the incident and implement corrective and preventive measures
within two working days. Injured employees will receive appropriate

compensation based on the severity of the harm.

6.3
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2 EEALG - AEEIKIBEERZE
FIEZEREFE BEAMEE
TRIEZE2NTIERIE

ECERIBIFENEITEE
BREPERERBESVNE - S
MERREE BT AT TIHIEE
B MEEE  OEFE AL
e REEEERREERTRE
BRI R ETIRE MM - LIRE
REUGLEEE.

51> 35 R Ao B 1628 R R A B 2B
PAEEREESERABRI
BRIRIEE BERRILESHE
THEEBEENBE L RGE
B LA

P LS  AEREBREHR
BERRZREIRABIZEE
# 0 BERENIZE2RERERER
ERERER-

Machine Safety Training
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6.4

Under the holistic safety management system, the Group did not encounter
any case of non-compliance regarding occupational safety laws and regulations
during the Reporting Year As a result of the Group's effort towards creating
a safe workplace, there were no work-related fatality cases over the past four
years. During the Reporting Year, the lost days due to work injury were 1,246
days, while the number of injury cases was 62.

Employee engagement and well-being

We are committed to fostering an engaging and supportive business culture by
promoting a pleasant and inclusive working environment. To enhance employee
well-being, we provide a variety of leisure amenities across our facilities. These
include a library and recreational centre in Guangdong, a fitness room in Jiashan,
and basketball courts in Zhejiang.

As part of our dedication to being a people-centric company, Sinomax is a
signatory to the Labour Departments Good Employer Charter, reflecting
our commitment to employee care and workplace harmony. Additionally, we
conduct regular satisfaction surveys to gather employee feedback, ensuring that
we continuously improve workplace conditions and address employee needs

effectively.

This year, we introduced flexible working hours at our Hong Kong office to help
employees achieve better work-life balance. While maintaining the standard
workday duration, this policy allows employees to select starting and ending
times that better accommodate their personal schedules and commuting needs,
demonstrating our ongoing commitment to employee well-being and workplace
flexibility.

6.4

ERENLZLEEEZ T £&H
RESEERNREEEAFET
BEZEZRERVBR -BEFF
EITEZ2TIFRE  AEEER
ENERERTRTETERT
HoREEERN BITHIBLTHE
HEA1 2468 TESEH LT

BTRBENESORE

BPRNEERREBTNIFER
R BBARBONFMNEE
XfE HRAB IR ORE
FAESRERESRARBRE &
EERNEEENRLTO - BE
MRS E LRI ENG o

FRUARENER BHEER
BLEFEINE) BRRM
HETRRRBSMENRE I
o HAERETHREERE W
KEETRR BEREXEIFR
RABRmEETEK

AEE RAEEAMERIETE
M IR BHETEF T
TRELE -EHFRELFRHR
WAl T WBERASFE TEES
BREABENBHEIRNLT
R BRJAMBET/AMT
R E MR AGE

Mid-Autumn Festival Activities

kEES)
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7 PROTECTING THE NATURE

7.1

Environmental management

As a responsible manufacturer of health products, Sinomax is committed
to minimising its environmental impact across its operations. To achieve this,
we have adopted an ISO 14001:2015-certified Environmental Management
System to monitor and control our environmental footprint, including energy
consumption, air emissions, water usage, resource utilisation, and waste
management. Additionally, we adopt an ISO 50001:2018-certified Energy
Management System to integrate energy-saving measures into daily operations,
enhance operational efficiency through on-site power generation and renewable

energy purchases.

To ensure compliance with environmental standards, an independent
certification organisation conducts annual site inspections to verify adherence
to these standards. Furthermore, the Group engages third-party specialists to
evaluate wastewater discharge, air emissions, and noise levels, ensuring that

operations align with all relevant regulations.

In recognition of its outstanding environmental performance, the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology of the PRC has designated the Zhejiang

site as a green factory.

To further enhance its environmental initiatives, the Group conducts energy or
carbon audits at least once a year, maintaining high energy efficiency in its offices

and operations.

RIE- B RELHRS

7 REBARE

7.1

BEEBEERAA

RIRER

EABEINREERNER
BN EEEEEAREPED
HRENTZ AL ZRMEH
FBISO 14001:2015:8:E MYIRIE B 18
Bz UBEZRNZHRMNIERE
B BEEREE BRI
A - BRERNEENEIE F
B @IBERAISO 50001:201858 55
MAEREIER R FEIATEIRIA
HEEE 9ERSEEREETY
BEER LUIRASBENZE-

RN SIRFRE  BIUDER
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BRERNFER LI FEBEFSE
= HEFHERE KR B RN
RIEE KT LEREENGRE
TRRAR -

ERABHHHBRFERENEA §
BEITEMNEECHRNIEER
s R TEI R Ak B TR ©

BE—SMBBRIE A E0S
FEDRT—RERARBI 5
EUBHATNEERMOE
Rz o

200 EERSE

107



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HERERHRS

108

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded no incidents of non-compliance

with environmental laws and regulations.

-

Wil (N REEGHEARLAE

ExX&al]

AR REDL RS
=0=0#+H

REFERN FEETEFNETIR
RARERNER -

Green Factory recognised by the PRC’s Ministry of Industry and Information Technology

FEIEHADNERGEEIR

7.2 Tackling climate change

7.2.1 Climate risk management

In alignment with China's goal to achieve carbon neutrality by 2060,
the Group has established a framework to address potential risks and
opportunities associated with climate change. This framework includes
the formulation of appropriate procedures and measures to prevent or
minimise potential damage caused by climate change while leveraging

opportunities that may arise.

The Group has evaluated potential climate-related risks and
opportunities in line with the recommendations of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD"). These risks include both
physical and transition risks that could have adverse financial impacts on

the Group’s operations.
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The Group incorporates these risks into its strategic planning and project

design processes. Physical climate risks are also integrated into business

continuity plans to ensure operational resilience and minimise disruptions.

The potential climate-related risks and opportunities are summarised

FEECRZFTABRMAR
BRERERRFRE-B
ERIERBRTRMAETE
miEstE) DR REERM

below: R R E R R E R K - 22
RIRARABYE A R B
Bt s
Short Term Medium Term Long Term
Risks and Potential (Current (One to (Four to
Risk Type Opportunities Identified  Financial Impact Reporting Year) Three Years) Ten Years) Mitigation Strategy
AEHA I R4
mBEE EERIELEE BRERBTE (TREFE) (—2=%) (ME+E)  HERE
Physical Risks
BRERRE
Acute risks * Increased frequency * Reduced revenue due v v * Establish adverse weather
St B of extreme weather to operational and condition policy and
events (e.g, typhoon, supply chain disruptions continuity plan to minimise
floods) - BERMERTEE the operational downtime
. BEEEEM @ YN0 during disruptions
. + Damage to factories - FIEBSRREHECE
B8 J&| ~ LK) . e o
REL :i k) BE and office buildings REBBEEWHE UE
SRERIEN may increase the KIRER D S EPER
cost of infrastructure A
maintenance * Diversify suppliers to reduce
. BERBAKIES dependency on high-risk
HEAT A MR B ﬁ;%yfﬁ .
O c RIEE® ’ AES
ok P mEmme
= L B it (& B kR
Chronic risks + Rising mean * Rising temperatures v * Install energy-efficient
B R K temperatures may increase energy cooling systems and

© THRRLA

costs for cooling
manufacturing facilities

« B LA AEEME
BRI R IR
ZS

BEEBEERAA

insulation in facilities to
reduce energy consumption
ZEME L NR R RH
PR EAR 8 DA PSR AEFE
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Short Term Medium Term Long Term
Risks and Potential (Current (One to (Four to
Risk Type Opportunities Identified  Financial Impact Reporting Year) Three Years) Ten Years) Mitigation Strategy
AEHA I &
mBEE EERELEE BERBTE (TREFE) (—2=%) (ME+E)  HERE
Transition Risks
HEERE
Policy & Legal * Higher costs due to * Higher operating costs/ v v + Transition to energy-efficient
NG A b carbon pricing compliance costs to machinery and processes to
- MEBERNMA L adopt new practices lower carbon intensity
# . REFERENE + BEBERILTE W
. Modlﬂca‘uon to thg‘ BAA AR Q"EJX@%E |
environmental policies + Continue to monitor the
and related regulations L7t regulatory environment
. IBEHERAEREE to ensure that the
safELT Grgup complies with the
environmental-related laws
and regulations
- FEEREERRED,
BREEETSRER
RERER
Market + Shifting customer * The increasing v ¢ Adhere to the Group's
s preferences toward consumer preference sustainable development
sustainable and eco- for sustainable concept, strictly control
friendly products products and services the production process of
« ZEREEEAFE  poses both risks and our products and commit
FIRRER opportunities for our to producing high-quality
business operations, products to meet the
which may lead to expectations of consumers
higher investment costs and the market
and increased revenue - BRAERNTRER
- BRESHEERET RED BRERERE
ARBERERS ER BRNLEREE
REEEZERRS mblin B R EE RS
AR 75 e
ERREMA LA
WA R
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Short Term Medium Term Long Term
Risks and Potential (Current (One to (Four to
Risk Type Opportunities Identified  Financial Impact Reporting Year) Three Years) Ten Years) Mitigation Strategy
AEHA hH R4
mBEE B ARARE BEMBTE (TREFE) (—E=%) (ME+E)  HERE
Technology + Cost of low-carbon * Higher initial costs for v v + Maximise the efficiency
Bl technology transition adopting new low- of existing equipment by
o EiRERTERAgA carbon manufacturing retrofitting or upgrading
technologies components
- RANBERRER - BEREIAREN R
RN AR S AMERBERBERER

7.2.2 Energy consumption and GHG emissions

The Group is committed to reducing its carbon footprint through
effective energy management system and actively contributing to the
transition toward a low-carbon economy. We have implemented a
range of energy-saving measures to minimise energy consumption and

greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions.

Implement low-carbon
technologies incrementally
over several years to spread
costs and minimise financial
strain

P& R B ARl 2
‘*ﬁlﬁ}m&jtﬂ@“ﬁﬁyﬁﬁ

722 BEBHFERBEREHK
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BEAMBLOBREY BE
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Details of energy consumption are as follows:

Energy Consumption® Unit
HEIRUHFE B

Direct Energy Consumption [E 1% 885 H#E

Diesel

S MWhIE R, B
s KRR

Petrol

w3 MWhIK FL B
av

Natural gas

TR MWhJK F B

Solar energy

KIBAE MWhJK B B

Indirect Energy Consumption fE1%8E R H¥E

Total 4851

112

E,Le;;”dty MWhIK LB

=1

Heating MWhJK LB

FhEE o

Total energy consumption m

o = MWhIE R B

SRR RS
MWh/M’

Energy consumption intensity Revenue

REFHREEE KEE,
BEHBRA

This year, the methodology used for calculating the energy consumption and GHG
emissions data has been fine-tuned to integrate a more accurate dataset, in accordance
with “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” to “How to Prepare an ESG
Report: A Step-by-Step Guide to ESG Reporting” issued by the Stock Exchange. Hence the

data is not directly comparable with the previous year.
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REE R PTE A B (AR B IR R

HERELRS RE -HERERERSE

) TR — RIS R RIS R E R 55
2 CREEREEREEREINE
BAHERE RBEERENEEE AL
BR#RE LFERAERIER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BRIE- B KRELRHRS

Details of GHG emissions are as follows: BERBHMGEENT :

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

GHG Emissions? Unit 20245 HE20235F
BERASHER B 12A3I1BLLEE 12A3IBLEE

tonnes

of CO2
equivalent
(tCOze)
1ok o 74

o8
BE

1,744

tCO2e
Ma — E 1L
EE

6,438

tCOz2e
ME — E 1%

ALh B
BE

8,182

tCO2e/M’
Revenue

g — E G
=}

HE

BEKA

227

i

(oo

Our energy consumption and greenhouse gas emission data show B F—sREHAALL > AR
notable changes compared to the previous reporting period. The RERHFERREREETINE
expanded installation of photovoltaic panels at our Dongguan facilities BHRBESL -TRHE
has significantly boosted our solar energy consumption from 2,859 MWh BRZENARR BABGE
to 4426 MWh, representing a 54.8% increase. This renewable energy HESN2859KREFAIE
initiative has directly contributed to our reduced reliance on purchased A E4426JL FLE 1R
electricity, resulting in a decrease in Scope 2 emissions from 6,438 tCO2e 54.8%° ILIEP] B 4 BB R E I
t0 6,153 t1CO2e, a reduction of 4.4%. BEEEERANNEENN

kR R IE S E2H M E L

6,438M8 — L E 2R
F6IBE_FERES &
1B 7%54.4%©
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In addition to renewable energy adoption, the Group implemented
several energy-saving measures at production facilities during the
Reporting Year. At our Zhejiang plant, we replaced 31| inefficient motors
with energy-saving models, significantly improving operational efficiency.
We also transitioned from diesel forklifts to electric alternatives, further

reducing our fossil fuel consumption and associated carbon emissions.

To foster a culture of environmental responsibility, the Group organised
climate-related workshops, exhibitions, and various activities to
raise employee awareness of climate change issues. These initiatives
encouraged staff to adopt energy-saving practices in their daily

operations, complementing our technological improvements.

The reporting boundary was expanded this year to include purchased
heating data from our Jiashan facility, providing a more comprehensive
view of our total energy footprint. For diesel consumption, we refined
our calculation methodology to incorporate a more accurate dataset.
Due to this recalculation, the current year's Scope | emissions cannot be

directly compared with last year's figures.

These multifaceted approaches—combining renewable energy adoption,
equipment upgrades, employee engagement, and improved data
collection—demonstrate our ongoing commitment to transparency and

sustainable operations throughout our operations.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing the GHG emissions intensity and the energy
consumption intensity by 3% compared to the baseline year ended 31

December 2024 in the next reporting year
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Green Office:

Beyond sustainable production, the Group incorporates sustainability principles into
office operations through the “Sinomax Green Office Plan”, developed in line with

the 1SO 26000 Corporate Social Responsibility Standard. Our Human Resources

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Department promotes a green office culture by encouraging the following actions:

“95

Maintain room temperature
between 24 and 26 degree

usage
RENEFHARERADER
R

Switching off idle electronic

devices and lighting to save

electricity

ENEAFREMEEFRE

PACEEES Jbl’/{lj‘:’id\$j3/ﬁﬁ

Submitting HR-related forms
electronically to reduce paper

C
Celsius to minimise energy
wastage
ENBRERFE24ZE20WEKE
ZBELGE R T B EN RS

>

Encouraging "Bring your own
cups" to reduce the use of
single-use plastic bottles

BB ER AR S 68 A — IR

KB e

In recognition of its energy conservation efforts, Sinomax received the Energywi$e

Certificate from the Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification. The Group remains

committed to exploring innovative ways to improve energy efficiency and advance

sustainable operations.

RIE- B RELHRS

REBNAE !

BRAREEEN AEETREISO
26000fb EH B EEREFIE BHAEE
WAEHE)  BOFERERIRAL
BMAEE ANBRBPEBIREBUT
TEEE A AEE

Printing on both sides of

consumption

AR ESIENLUR D AR

\ paper to minimise paper

NG~
QS
Reducing, reusing and
recycling waste wherever
possible
EWRERD - ERMD U
E7)

ES“&

HEREBGORBRBELENTH
BEREE ) RAUHAEDESENE D&
SEFERRAM A LR R
mREERRREE

k
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73

Air quality

As a visco-elastic wellness product manufacturer, Sinomax recognises
the harmful impacts of air pollutants (e.g, dichloromethane, toluene, and
tetrachloromethane) generated during the production process. We are

committed to continuous efforts to mitigate these issues.

To reduce air pollution, multiple spray towers have been installed at exhaust
outlets, effectively lowering the release of at least 80% of specific air pollutants
into the environment. Additionally, to manage gaseous pollutant emissions,
activated carbon adsorption systems and VOC removal equipment have been

installed at our Guangdong and Shandong facilities, respectively,

Also, we have transitioned to cleaner fuels, including natural gas and solar energy,
in our manufacturing units. Regular on-site air quality assessments are conducted
at least once a year to monitor and ensure compliance with operational
standards, keeping air pollutant emissions well below regulatory limits. During
the Reporting Year, there were no cases of non-compliance with air pollutant

emission laws or regulations.

In daily operations, vehicle usage and the use of natural gas are the major

sources that generate air pollutants.
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The table below presents our air pollutant emissions data for the current and

previous reporting periods:

Air Pollutant Emissions Indicator

ZERISRMEFBIER

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions (kg)

AFEMNOXHERE (A F)

Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions (kg)
Ao B E (AFT)

Particulate matter (PM) emissions (kg)

BRI PMBERE (2 F)

Despite a slight decrease in overall fuel consumption compared to the previous
year, our reported NOx and PM emissions show an increase. NOx and PM
emissions are primarily calculated based on mileage travelled by vehicles.
However, for our diesel-powered forklifts where mileage data was unavailable,
the previous calculation methodology used an underestimated fuel efficiency
factor to convert fuel usage to travel distance, resulting in lower reported
emissions for the previous year. This year, we adopted a more accurate
calculation approach for these forklifts based on fuel consumption, providing
a more realistic representation of our actual emissions. The slight decrease in
SOx emissions from 5.34 kg to 5.19 kg aligns with our modest reduction in fuel

consumption during the Reporting Year.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to
reducing the vehicular air pollutant emissions by 3% compared to the baseline

year ended 31 December 2024 in the next reporting year

TRITERSHER L —RE
HIRNE RIS R IREE

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December
2024 2023
220245 HF20235
12B31HLEFE 12B31HLEFE
5118 3,902

5.19 5.34

389 376

BEMALEMRAL ERMEEE
8B & BRHREHINOK
PMEEFE 2R EFABE o NOxK
PMEERE F EMRBEMITHRER
HE R BN S AX BEREE
Z BREE  BERAEMEAME
BERTEMEAE2ERATE
BE BN T FRENHERER
BoAFE HMHILBYEFEA
ERMREEENERBRRNGE
Bt BEERMBEMNEREYEK
£ o SOXBEE NS 344 T A 18 P&
5198 BB EFERMEDH
R/ MB R BB — o

ABRAIREERRA AEER
NRERT—REFENEHE
RS RN ERB E20245F 12
A3 HIEEEFETRE3%-

BEREEBMRAT 204FERS

117



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERHRS

118

74

Water management

7.4.1 Water usage

The chemical mixing manufacturing process is Sinomax's primary source
of water usage. While the Group does not face challenges in obtaining
water; it recognises the global concern over water scarcity and places a
strong emphasis on water conservation.

In 2024, we observed a significant increase in water usage, rising by
approximately 50% compared to the previous year This increase is
primarily attributed to a 17% growth in our workforce, which added 300
more factory staff members. Consequently, there has been a notable rise
in domestic water consumption, particularly in facilities such as cafeterias
and restrooms, to support the expanded workforce.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group
is committed to reducing the water consumption intensity by 3%
compared to the baseline year ended 31 December 2024 in the next
reporting year, and is actively exploring initiatives to improve water
efficiency and reduce its environmental footprint, even as we continue to

74

KERER

741 Ak

EERAEETIRF2BEN
FTERAKRR BELER
FEEUK S E &R BN
BRAZHRIZRKERE
BEE FibsEERELH
FoKe

20245 ZFHBEKER
SFRAEIZ M FHIBAYS0% 52
ENFrERHANET AL
M17% (EN#rig300% THKE
T) AL AR A
FERK MBEMEFRE
L) AR Lo

AERAFEZRRI K
ERRNORERT RS
FENAKEEREE2024
FNAALEEEEE TR
3% WHEBBRERAEEN

grow our operations, such as:

FIES IR RR IR B AKM
KR IRE R IFRIRE
fgn

Water Reuse: Water used in spray towers is reused
wherever possible
KRRER : EAEAAERTER TRRERSA

Daily Maintenance: Regular /
maintenance is conducted to prevent

water pipe leakage

RS - ERREREUR ISR

Abnormal Usage Monitoring: Water usage
patterns are closely monitored to identify and
address any irregularities promptly
RKREEEN - RYERAMER - LIERE
BAREREMREER

Recycled and Alternative Water Sources:
We prioritise the use of recycled water, rainwater
or groundwater where possible, reducing reliance
on fresh water resources

R ERKR : EATER TELEARER
BAK - FAKSHETK - SURDERKERAKIE
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Water Appliance Management: Employees are
educated to turn off water appliances when not in use
and avoid leaving taps running unnecessarily
RKBWEE : 58 TEFEAREMKRER
R TS E i REKEER

Employee Awareness: Educational posters are displayed
on bulletin board and in washrooms to promote water-saving
practices among employees
RISKBEMER : 7505 RRETFRRMEESR -

6] & THE R BTk fE1E

Reusable Bottles: Staff are encouraged to
bring their own reusable bottles instead of using
bottled water

AERAKEEK : FMHETEETEANRE -
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Water Consumption

FEK

Woater consumption

FEKE

Water consumption intensity

FEKRBE

7.4.2 Wastewater discharge

As the chemical mixing process inevitably generates wastewater
containing chemicals, we have implemented comprehensive guidelines

and measures to manage wastewater discharge effectively. The following

measures are in place:

R
T

OO

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Unit 2202445 HZE20235
B 12A31BLLEE 12A3IBLEE
m?
e 170,136 113,296
IHEK
m’/M’
Revenue
o 41.59 31.39
LKk
BEKA

742 EKHEH

RIMEEREBENIBR
MEELESELEMED
B RFPEBREZEMNE
SIRiEH  BREE 5K
e BMATLUT 1 -

Proper Drainage Connections: Designated drainage pipes collecting
wastewater from spray tower and sites cleaning operations are properly
connected to local water treatment plants.

REEBK ¢ BREEME RS HERIERFIEE KNSR KEE
FERB T EMITKEERR -
Separate Sewer System for Canteens: A separate sewer system is provided for

" staff canteen to segregate waste cooking oil from municipal wastewater.

S ATEREBMUBKRS  HETRERBBIHARS  BERELFRENRSK

DRERE o

Diffusion Facilities for Wastewater Treatment: Diffusion facilities are installed
to treat wastewater and separate rainwater from sewage before its outflow.
FKERBIRBERNE - ZRFTORRMNE - SIE5K PR E IR AR WA FKA
SFIKD R

R lar S

ling and Monitoring: Wast ter sampling and assessment

: are“conducted regularly to monitor the quality of the outflow and ensure
+ compliance with regulatory standards.

ERFRER - EEETEOKREREME - BRSROKE - BRTSEERE -
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Waste management

Sinomax is committed to enhancing its waste management practices by adopting

a comprehensive approach to avoid, reduce, reuse, and recycle waste.

BEMERE

BERHNBBREER HLD
SR W BERYNEE T
BlEERYEERR-

In recognition of its efforts in waste reduction and
management, the Group was awarded the Wastewi$e
Certificate under the Hong Kong Green Organisation
Certification programme.

AEEEREBRORIERERENHEES T

LA 2 RPEREREENERSENEN -

Recognising the environmental risks associated with improper waste handling,
we have developed a Solid Waste Management Handbook to guide all frontline
staff on proper waste disposal procedures. Employees are trained to sort waste
into specific categories and store it in designated, clean, and well-ventilated waste
storage areas. Qualified waste management companies are engaged to collect

and process waste regularly, ensuring compliance with regulatory standards.

The Group also addresses hazardous waste generated during production, such
as waste equipment oil, chemical containers, and residues. These materials are
handled with strict adherence to safety and environmental protocols to prevent
pollution caused by improper storage, handling, or disposal.

To minimise operational waste and promoting circular economy practices,
Sinomax has established recycling facilities at all production sites to collect waste
foam generated during manufacturing. These facilities recycle scrap foam and
offcuts into regenerated foam, further converting them into resalable materials.

Beyond operational measures, Sinomax emphasises the importance of resource
efficiency by raising employee awareness through regular training sessions. These
sessions encourage staff to adopt waste sorting and recycling practices, fostering
a culture of sustainability within the organisation.
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In 2024, our total waste generation increased by |1% compared to 2023,
primarily due to expanded operational demands. First, our foam production
capacity growth necessitated greater use of cleaning agents including methanol
and other solvents, resulting in higher liquid hazardous waste generation. Second,
our 17% workforce expansion naturally led to increased general waste volumes.

Our recycled waste volume increased from 730 tonnes in 2023 to 813 tonnes
in 2024, an |1% year-over-year change. This increase was primarily due to a
facility equipment decommissioning project that contributed to recyclable
materials, as well as improvements in our waste segregation practices across
production areas.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed
to reducing both the hazardous and non-hazardous waste intensity by 3%
compared to the baseline year ended 31 December 2024 in the next reporting
year

RIE- B RELHRS

120245 BFNEZEYELES
B023FEEM I 1% TEHRNEE
ERER-BL BREEENN
RAFERE (BEREREMEA
E) WERSEIN ERREEE
BEYNEEE LA -HX BT
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AEMAIREEERL AEER
TRERT—HREFENEER
BREBEZYEEREE2024F12
A3 HIEEEFETRE3%-

Total Waste
Generated by Type

BRERIINERNELRE

Total Non-hazardous
Waste Generated by Type &
Treatment Method
RERESTNEEERYE
CHBEREERE

Liquid

hazardous —

waste, 127t \

TREEH EE

) 1278 =
- Total B2

1,384

tonnes M#
(Last year &%F:1,244)

Solid

hazardous —
waste, 266t
EfEEE
Y
26618

0.24

_~ Non-hazardous
- Waste, 991t
EREZEY) - 9911

Plastic recycled,
186t
BRIEEIY -
18613
Metal recycled,

168t
SEREU
16803

Paper recycled,

458t
ERE -
4588

Non-hazardous
waste produced,
177t
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7.6 Packaging material

The Group is committed to increasing the use of recyclable and sustainable
packaging materials to help reduce its environmental footprint, recognising that
packaging waste is a significant contributor to overall waste generation. To ensure
responsible sourcing, the Group selects Forest Stewardship Council (“FSC")-
certified paper and other necessary materials, supporting the use of paper from
responsibly managed forests.

Additionally, the Group has adopted measures to minimise packaging waste
during raw material procurement by purchasing refillable-packaged raw materials
instead of barrel-packaged alternatives.

During the year, the Group observed an increase in packaging material usage
by 42%, driven primarily by higher production volumes. Moving forward, the
Group will continue to explore and implement measures to optimise packaging
practices and further reduce its environmental impact.

Packaging Materials Unit
BEME B
Plastic Tonnes
ik W
Cardboard Tonnes
AR WA
Total Packaging Materials Used Tonnes
EREEMEHES W
Tonnes/M’
Intensity of Packaging Materials Used* Revenue
fEH KM =RE W
BEHBA

The intensity of packaging materials used for the Reporting Year is disclosed in accordance
with “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” to “"How to Prepare an ESG
Report: A Step-by-Step Guide to ESG Reporting” issued by the Stock Exchange to display the
more comprehensive performance of the Group. Relevant data during last reporting year has

been disclosed for meaningful comparison.
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GIVING BACK TO THE COMMUNITY

Sinomax prioritises community support as a cornerstone of sustainable business
development. Aligning with the 1SO 26000 Guidance on social responsibility, we actively
invest in community initiatives and encourages employee participation. Below are key
activities organised during the Reporting Year to foster community engagement and

harmony:

Partnered with A Drop of Life and Christian

and Missionary Alliance to visit elderly

residents and distribute 4,200 care packages.

rEANERESREBHEEES
B A REEF LIRE4 2000 B R -

Participated in the “AVEDA Walk For Water

2024” fundraising event to raise awareness

about global water scarcity and support
sustainable water projects in remote areas
like Nepal and Cambodia.
2 @ AVEDARE 1 7K1T2024 1 B RRIEE) -
MRBARH 2K E R T HR =B
HUTHEARRRAREREME

BRI FHEK B IRIEE ©

During the Reporting Year, the Group contributed approximately HKD 217,000 to
various charity foundations, including Hong Kong Young Women's Christian Association,
A Drop of Life and Sheng Kung Hui St. Christopher's Home. Besides, the Group
participated in 2,998 hours of volunteer work, with 823 staff members participating in
these community initiatives.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group is steadfast in its commitment to integrating sustainability principles into
every aspect of our business operations and services. By prioritising the well-being of
our employees and the communities we serve, we aim to align our long-term goals
with the creation of a sustainable environment and society. We believe that customer-
centric innovation is essential to enhancing sleep health and improving quality of life.
Together with the dedication of our management and staff, we will strive to build a
sustainable, resilient future for all.

RIE- B RELHRS

O+t &

BREBHEYERATFEEREEN
B FAKISO 26000 ¥t B S5/
WERA) ZMBEBEARLERIEE W5
EEE2H - UTARSEENERREN
BIEE EERENESHAEMNE

Collaborated with Sheng Kung Hui St.

Christopher’s Home to hold a Christmas
celebration event for children and donated
bed products and furniture to both the
Home and low-income families.
HENEERERERSEENERE
MES RREHRRE ARRERK
BRARERER EARMEKE-

RBREEE AEEARSREZHER
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BERRE
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10 PERFORMANCE TABLE 10 &\M&
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Environmental Performance Unit 2024 2023
HE2024F B E2023F
RIZEX B RA3IBLLEE NA3IHEEE
GHG Emissions
BEREHK
Scope |: Direct emission tCOzr-e 922 1,744
HE BB WS EE
Scope 2: Indirect emission tCOz-e 6,153 6,438
EED BN WS EE
Total emissions tCOs-e 7,075 8,182
B E WS EE
GHG emissions intensity tCO»-e/M’ Revenue 1.73 227
BERBHNZE M_SEHEE/ BBRA
Energy Consumption
AEIRRFE
Direct energy consumption
BERAERHE
— Diesel MWh 3,198 6,825
— 4R I B
— Petrol MWh 80 71
—AH I B
— Natural gas MWh 214 248
—RAR I B
— Solar energy MWh 4426 2,859
— K58 I B
Indirect energy consumption
B A RHAE
— Electricity MWh 10,147 11,278
-85 I B
— Heating MWh 1,808 N/A
— iR I B ~EHA
Total energy consumption MWh 19,873 21,281
fERARFEE I B
Energy consumption intensity MWHh/M' Revenue 4.86 590
SEREFEEE KEE,/ BEKA
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Year ended

3| December

Environmental Performance Unit 2024 2023
BE20245F HE2023F

RGN B RAIBLEE NRANHEFE

Vehicle Air Pollutant Emissions

AEERSRIMGEN

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 5118 3902

RAIEM(NOX) R

Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg 5.19 534

I 1EH(SOx) NI

Particulate Matter (PM) kg 389 376

FERY(PM) NI

Water Consumption

EEIS

Total water consumption m? 170,136 113,296

HRFEKE UK

Water consumption intensity m?/M'’ Revenue 41.59 31.39

FEREE UFHR/ BBEA

Hazardous Waste

HEEEY

Total hazardous waste generated Tonnes 393 356

BEERYELRE M

Hazardous waste intensity Tonnes/M' Revenue 0.10 0.10

BERERYEE M,/ BEBWA

Non-hazardous Waste

BEBEEY

Total non-hazardous waste generated Tonnes 991 888

BEBERYELTRE M

Total waste recycled Tonnes 813 730

BERYENEE 0

Waste recycling rate % 82% 82%

EERYEIUER %

Non-hazardous waste intensity Tonnes/M’ Revenue 0.24 025

BERRYEE W/ BEWA

Packaging Materials

BEME

Plastic Tonnes 1,270 [,057

B L]

Cardboard Tonnes 4,654 3,113

AR 0

Total packaging materials used Tonnes 5,924 4,170

EREEMHEE M

Intensity of packaging materials used Tonnes/M' Revenue 1.45 l.16

EREEMHEE

g,/ BB A

BEEBEERAA
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Year ended

3| December

Year ended

3| December

Social Performance 2024 2023
HE2024%F #HE20235
HEEY RA3IBLEE NA3IHEEE
Workforce Profile
STHR
Total workforce 2,295 1,975
BTHEY
By gender Male 1,086 925
e dilEps) S
Female 1,209 1,050
7
By age group 30 years old or below 328 212
BEHRAERBD 30m U T
31 to 50 years old 1,482 1,305
3B ES0RR
51 years old or above 485 458
SIEREME
By geographical region Hong Kong 126 108
‘it &85 BB
The PRC 2,169 1,867
e
By employment type Full time 2,254 1,936
RERRESD 28
Part time 41 39
FE
Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Year ended

3| December

Year ended

3| December

Social Performance 2024 2023
BE20145F BE0BEF
HEEN RA3IBLEE 12A3IBLEFE
Employee Turnover Rate
EBERKLEE
Total turnover rate 20% 18%
EEHTE
By gender Male 21% 18%
L Ipa) St
Female 19% 18%
pegid
By age group 30 years old or below 34% 46%
BEHRAERBD 30m U T
31 to 50 years old 20% 16%
3158 E£508%
51 years old or above 10% 9%
SImE L
By geographical region Hong Kong 26% 17%
‘it &85 BB
The PRC 19% 18%
e
By employment type Full time 19% 18%
RERRESD 28
Part time 39% 5%
FE
Occupational Health and Safety
BERREZR
Lost days due to work injury 1,246 [,555
AIBERIFEH
Number of fatalities 0 0
FETAH
Rate of fatalities 0 0
FETHhX

BEEBEERAA
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Social Performance 2024 2023
BE20245F HE2023F
HERK 2A3IBLEE NRANHEFE
Training and Development®
1R AR B R
Total® Training % 91% 82%
5t ZIBENL
Average Training hour 13 [5
R HEH
By gender Male Training % 99% 52%
ZItERIE D B RilEDLE
Average Training hour I5 17
R
Female Training % 84% 48%
it ZIBENL
Average Training hour 10 13
RlTRH
By employment type Management Training % 100% 1%
REREEE D g ZIBENL
Average Training hour 13 46
R HEH
Senior Training % 100% 3%
Sl RIBEDL
Average Training hour 17 26
R HEH
Junior Training % 90% 96%
— AR AR ZIBERL
Average Training hour 12 14
RAITFHIEH
Supply Chain Management
HAEREE
Number of suppliers Local 381 477
IR ] A
Overseas 9 12
=Rl

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category for the Reporting
Year is disclosed and calculated by employees in the specified category who took part in the

training divided by employees who took part in training.

Training data of all employees is disclosed in this Reporting Year for a more comprehensive

disclosure of the Report.
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I BRE-HEREBRBRIIR

Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
B SRR B EH AR
A. Environment
A IRIR
Al Emissions
Al HEBH
General Disclosure Information on: PROTECTING THE NATURE 102-122
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
—RINE BREBRKEEREBHR AR - AER FREBARE
BEBRYNELESH:
(a) BUSR 5 &
(b) BTHETABEAX EEMEERRG
SELE
KPIALI The types of emissions and respective emissions data. PROTECTING THE NATURE — [16-117
Air quality
PERFORMANCE TABLE — 125
Environmental performance
PSR AEMIERAL PERERR R AR R I R © REEBARE-TREE
RUR-IRIBEN
KPIAL2 Direct (Scope ) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — [H1-114
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per Tackling climate change
unit of production volume, per facility). PERFORMANCE TABLE — 124
Environmental performance
PR AEIRIRAI 2 i (BE) RERME @E) BEREBHFNE W FESARE-BEREEE
MEE) k (NER) BE MUSEEEN SERM BUR-REEY
8) o
KPIAI3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — 120-121
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Waste management
facility). PERFORMANCE TABLE — 125

RREMISIZAL 3

&

FREEAZEREYEE CIEE) K QER) BE (N
SBESEU BERETE °

Environmental performance

REBARRE-BEEYER

BUR-RBEN

BEEBEERAA

200 EERSE
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
B B BH B AR
KPIAL4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — 120-121
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Waste management
facility). PERFORMANCE TABLE — 125
Environmental performance
FBEMIERAIA FRELAEZERYEE CIMEERE) K MER BRE ML RFRESARE-BERYERE
SESE( SERMHE) ° RMR-IRIBEN
KPIALS Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE 107-117
them.
FRRIEISIRALS WA UMBIMERRRAEIEEERARNNY RFREBARER
o
KPIAL6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — [20-121

FAREMIERALG

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HEREREEREEEENMNT L RERAT IR
BERAAERELEERMEMNT K-
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
B B BH B AR
A2 Use of Resources
A2 BRfER
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE [12-115,
and other raw materials. [18-119
—fRIKEE BMERER (BEER  KREMRME) BBE- REBRIRE
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.  PROTECTING THE NATURE — [T1-114
electricity, gas or oil) in total (KWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. Tackling climate change
per unit of production volume, per facility). PERFORMANCE TABLE — 124
Environmental performance
R EIEIRAL R NNERR/FEEERWE RN BEE FRESARE-RERGEETE
UTFETEEHE RBE WUEEBEM 8ER BUR-RRER
HiEtH)
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE - [18-119
production volume, per facility). Water management
PERFORMANCE TABLE - 125
Environmental performance
RREIERA22 RIEKERTE WNSEBEM BERMHE) REBARREKEREE
BUR-IRIBEN
KPIA23 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — [13-115
to achieve them. Tackling climate change
FARENIEIRAL3 BTN RERANEERRAZIBELERAR FRESNRE-BERELZE
BB B o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE - [18-119
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken Water management
to achieve them.
RRRENIERA24 B KREGE AR LRI B EREE URFETINAK (REBARE-KERE
M B R SEDELERRMRIATER-
KPIA25 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — 122
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Packaging material
PERFORMANCE TABLE - 125

RRREIEIRALS

B BT EEMEAEE CUIEE) & WER) 8%
EBEE-

Environmental performance
REBRRE—BEMK
BMER-IRIGER

BEEBEERAA
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.

B B BH B AR

A3 The Environmental and Natural Resources

A3 IRIBRRAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the =~ PROTECTING THE NATURE 107-122
environment and natural resources.

—fRIKEE REETABRERRAEREMNEATZENER REBRRE

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE 107-122
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

FRREIEIRAS BAEHIZHHRERRAERNEAZEREENE FREBARER
BERYENTH-

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIREE

General Disclosure Policies climate-related on identification and mitigation of ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — [08-111
significant issues which have impacted, and those which may Tackling climate change
impact, the issuer.

—fRIKEE B REHEERITEEHETAELRENEARG FRESRRE-BHERGEL
HRAEENEBR

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have ~ PROTECTING THE NATURE — [08-111
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Tackling climate change
actions taken to manage them.

R EIEIRAL.| BABEKIEGHETAELEXENEAREERE FREBARG-BEREE(E

B REHTE-
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.

B B BH B AR

B. Social

B.#E

Bl Employment

BI fEf&

General Disclosure Information on: CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 100-103
(a) the policies; and People-oriented approach
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 106

significant impact on the issuer Employee engagement and well-

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and being
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

— RN EE BERFMRRE BEREM LERE-RITEH  ATEE-UARETNEERL#
227 RERUREMTBREFB AEBE-BIRBENES R
(@) B3R 5 & B
(b) BT HET ABEARZENERERRIRG
BYE K}

KPIBI.I Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 102
or part-time), age group and geographical region. People-oriented approach

PERFORMANCE TABLE — 126
Social performance

PRGNS 1RBI | ZIR - BEEE W2RIERE  FRANKMER D ATEE-UARENEERRH
RES4RE- BUR-HEEN

KPIBI.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 103
region. People-oriented approach

PERFORMANCE TABLE — 127

PSR AR RIS 1EB1 2

BiER FRAER RMES DREERKRLEX

Social performance
A BBE-UABETHNERR §#
BUMR-HEEN

BEEBEERAA
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
B B BH B AR
B2 Health and Safety
B2 BRERE%E
General Disclosure Information on: CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 105-106
(a) the policies; and Occupational health and safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
—fRIKEE BRRHEZE2IFRERFFEEESBEZRBELEREN: ATEE-BERREZSE
(@) B3R 5 &
(b) BT HETABEARZENERERRRG
BB o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 106
the past three years including the Reporting Year. Occupational health and safety
PERFORMANCE TABLE — 127
Social performance
PR G5 1%B2.| BEZF (BEERFE) SFAITHNABKRILEEXR  ATEE-BERREZS
BUMR-HEEN
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 106
Occupational health and safety
PERFORMANCE TABLE — 127
Social performance
PRGN 513822 RIGEEIIEHH- ANTEE-BERREZE
BUR-HEEN
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 105-106
how they are implemented and monitored. Occupational health and safety
PR EIE1RB23 BHFTRMNBERERZ2HER URERATRE ATHEE-HERREZE

BhHike
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Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
B B BH B AR
B3 Development and Training
B3 & Rl
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees knowledge and skills for ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 103-104
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Talent development
—fRIKEE BRRARERTILERSHNBRKENBR I ATEE-ATEE
=R
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 104
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Talent development
PERFORMANCE TABLE — 128
Social performance
PRGN E1RB3.| BUHRRESER MEREER -PREER) 3NN ATHEE-ATEE
RilEEB DL BUMR-HEEN
KPI'B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 104
and employee category. Talent development
PERFORMANCE TABLE — 128
Social performance
PRGN IE1RB32 B REEENE D SREETARINTHRH ATEE-ATHR
BUMR-HEEN
B4 Labour Standards
B4 B T#RI
General Disclosure Information on: CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 100
(a) the policies; and People-oriented approach
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—MRIKEE BRARLEE TR H%E TH : A BBE-UABETHNERR §#
(@) B3R 5 &
(b) BT HETABEARZENERERRIRG
BB o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to ~ CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 100
avoid child and forced labour. People-oriented approach
PRGN 1RB4.| R EREANERERET REHIE T AABBE-UABETHNERR #
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when — CULTIVATING OUR PEOPLE — 100
discovered. People-oriented approach
FRSR B H51RB4.2 WS RERBREHRERIE R REE S 5 AA BB -UABKNEERR
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Aspect Description Statement/Section

B A

Page no.

B EH BN

B5 Supply Chain Management

BS {HFEEEIE

General Disclosure

—RinE

KPI B5.1

o SR AR R 45 1385 |

KPI B5.2

A SR A A 1ER5.2

KPIB5.3

e S4B U 1EB5 3

KPI B5.4

B R A 5 1ER5 4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

chain.

BEHERNRE RS RRBER

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

mtRE N HERHE

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

WA RMERMERENES  mERITHMERNMRE
BHE UREARITRER %

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BB EEESERANRRE R ERAKNE
B> LR RTRER S

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
HREREHEERREES BRAERKRRBEER
DUIRABRAAITRER %
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DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 91-94
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Sustainable procurement
LiREHES BRI R E BN
BEE-FIRERE
DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 94
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Sustainable procurement
PERFORMANCE TABLE — 128
Social performance
LRstEsREEULES AN
BlEE-FIRERE
BRI EER
DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 91-94
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Sustainable procurement
LRstEsREEULES AN
BlEE-FIRERE
DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 91-94
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Sustainable procurement
LiREHES BRI R E BN
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DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 91-94
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Sustainable procurement
LRstEsREEULES AN
BlEE-FIRERE



Aspect
B

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Description

A

RIE- B RELHRS

Statement/Section Page no.

B EH BN

Bé Product and Service Responsibility

B¢ EmMIREERE

General Disclosure

—RiRE

KPI Bé6. |

e SR AE S 1R |

KPI B6.2

R SR AR XI5 1%B6.2

KPI B6.3

e SR AE U 1ER6.3

KPI B6.4

R SR AR XI5 1%B6 4

KPI B6.5

PR B RIE1RB6.S

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress.

BRFRHERNRBNRREZE B RERTL

BEEURMRS AR

(@) B3R 5 &

(b) BT HETABEARZENERERRRG

BYE K}

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

EENCEXERBHETRZ2RREEMRMARLIKRA
Bt

Number of products and service related complaints received

and how they are dealt with.

BEMRERRRBORFEEUREET %

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

Tt R KRR A A E B RIS -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HHEEREBENERORERF-

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

BIUHBEERRERMRER UREERATRER
J3ike

DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 94-99
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Quality assurance

LiREHES BRI R E SN
EEE-HERTE

DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 95

AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE

CHAIN — Quality assurance

R EBRREIHEEEEN

BEE-BERTE

DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 98
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Quality assurance

MU stEERREELEa AN
BEE-BEWT

DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 89-90
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Innovative design

st e ERE EHE T AN
BEE-EIMRE

DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 94-99
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Quality assurance

MU stiEEREELEa AN
BEE-BEWT

DESIGNING FOR WELL-BEING 99
AND RESPONSIBLE VALUE
CHAIN — Quality assurance

st e ERE EE T AN
BEE-BERTE

L

S
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RIE-HERERHRS

Aspect Description Statement/Section Page no.
B B BH B AR
B7 Anti-corruption
BIRES
General Disclosure Information on: FACILITATING ROBUST 88-89
(a) the policies; and GOVERNANCE — Business ethics
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—RRiR R BRAM LR $R MFERLRER BREEZNEA-BHRER
() Bk 5 &
(b) BTHETABEARENEREERAL
VR
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices ~ FACILITATING ROBUST 89
brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting GOVERNANCE - Business ethics
Year and the outcomes of the cases.
PR IG5 1%87 | RERPAHETASEESRETIEEENESHA BERENEL-BXER
EHNBERFRER-
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures, how they are implemented ~ FACILITATING ROBUST 88-89
and monitored. GOVERNANCE — Business ethics
PR E 51387 2 AR LURARATRER S %o BERENEL-BXER
KPI'B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and ~ FACILITATING ROBUST 88-89

PR RIE1RBT 3

B8 Community Investment

B8 HHERE

General Disclosure

—RINE

KPI B8.1

R SR AR XI5 1388 |

KPI B8.2

R SR AR XI5 13882

staff.
HMAREERETRENRESHE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
BRMAMBR2ERTHETANEEREHREZMNRERF
HEBEHEERHEN EHER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEMER MHAE BREE-FIFR BE X
-85 o

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIHBABHAER MNEBREH)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

_E
pwc

To the Shareholders of Sinomax Group Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sinomax Group Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (the “Group"), which are set out on pages 149 to 299, comprise:
. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

. the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the

year then ended;

0 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting

policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

AR ER S Gl

B Rk E

BBEEEERABDKRR
RESHSZEMATIERAE)

-]
EZEBHINE

BHEEREARAR (BAR) KEKNEART
=3
BwK B

. FR2024F 1283 BNESHHR T
S

« BEZALFENGGEmKkEME
HWEE ;

+  HBEZHLFENGAEZER

. EBEZALEENGAERESRER,

XA

«  GEMBRERNE SEETEGSK
REHKREMMRALEER

BEENER
BERR KEUBERRERETEGS

g ((ERGHMAE)) BHEN(EERM
BREER) (ERMBRMEERN) BEEM
AT BEBENR2024F128318
NEEMERIREBEEZD LFENLR
BHMBRERAEGERERE UEER
ER(REARANNEERTEE AEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ HENR S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our

report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a

basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“‘the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Provision for inventories

. Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment on trade receivables
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Provision for inventories

FRERE

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
FELRRAMBRRIE22

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross inventories of
approximately HK$555.6 million and provision of approximately
HK$79.0 million.

20245128310 SEEREEFRBENS5.6ERAT
RBHELA70EE BT

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The cost of such inventories may not be recoverable if they
are damaged or become obsolete, or if their selling prices have

declined.

FENENAKRAEEFENREELE - WRILER
EXBRBR AHFEER TR IEREEEZR
EO

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
I HENER S

MEEtEE (@

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the provision

for inventories included:

STHNEERNFERFENT L AREFaE

- Obtained an understanding of the management's internal control and
assessment process of estimating provision for inventories and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management bias
or fraud;

-  THREEEBRMEFERENAES KGR LEB
R 2 THBEREE R HEME A B BRREZRKF (0
BN THEIE EPRHEEERRAMFOHRAL) FREE
RERBRABIEE R ;

= Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over net realisable value

of different types of inventories;

- TR FEMAESEEETERFENRRES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Provision for inventories (continued)

FREE (@

The Group's management regularly reviews its inventory level,
ageing and condition in order to identify slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and assesses if provision for obsolescence is needed.
Management also reviews and estimates, if necessary, the subsequent
selling price and the estimated cost to sale of the inventory and
compares with the corresponding carrying cost and estimated cost
to completion to assess if the net realisable value is lower than its
carrying amount. When management identifies items of inventories
which are slow-moving, obsolete, or having a net realisable value
lower than its carrying amount, management estimates the amount
of provision for inventories by assessing their ageing and conditions,
or comparing the inventory items" corresponding carrying costs and
estimated costs to completion with their subsequent selling price and
the estimated cost to sale.
EEEEEBENBEREFENKT IRE KRR > IR A
RREFE UHEEERERRERE EEBTEEL
ERBERAGHRENECURMGHFEHENRE L EN
RRIRE M AR T TR AETLER  LEHE 2R % E
EEERAEKEE EEEEAH DFH REXIEFFE
BREREEENFERER EEEBBTGLTENRE
R St REFENERREM AN Gt T IRAEER
BEBNMMHERE At FERFEEE-

We focus on this area due to the significance of the inventory balance
and, management judgement and estimates involved in determining
the provision.
ESFEMAILERE AR FEEREAREEREIRE
BEFIEMfhste
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MRSt EE (B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

- Tested, on a sample basis, the net realisable value of finished goods, by
comparing the carrying amounts of the inventory items against their
respective selling price and the cost to sale subsequent to the year end.
For raw materials and work in progress, we also tested, on a sample
basis, their subsequent utilisation. For those inventory items which have
not been sold subsequently, we evaluated management's assessment
and checked to the source data on a sample basis, in which they made
reference to the historical sales information and performed research on
the market price information and compared with the estimated selling
price;

- FEWMELALEBRFERENKEERARFARNEER
HEMAS HRESRAERFEETARA BRI RAER
mME EFTHEREEABRETHENS - BRREXRE
HNEFEER ESTEEEENTGILHEREREE B
PRESERLHEBH T NHZERENETRE URE
RGFTEBRITLER,

= Attended the inventory observation to observe the inventory

condition;
- BNEERMUBTEERR;

- Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing profile of individual
inventory items by checking to the underlying supporting documents.

- HEREERXFEER KASELNFEEREREOER
fto

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management’s
judgements and estimates applied on the inventories provision were
supported by available evidence.

BERFATHER EEXREEEMF R G AR k&t
BEA/EEXFC



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL’) assessment on trade receivables

BB HENERE SR ((TAREEER) T

Refer to note 3.1(ii)(b)(ii) and note 23 to the consolidated financial

statements.

B2 R A RERW () b) (i) K230

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross trade receivables
of approximately HK$649.4 million and provision for impairment of
approximately of HK$23.4 million.

2024128310 EXRERAEZERTIRERN4948
BETKRERBENBAEEHETT

Management applied the simplified approach to measure the lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The Group measured
the expected credit losses on an individual and a collective basis.
For customers with public financial information to assess the credit
rating, they were assessed individually for the expected credit losses,
the remaining customers with shared credit risk characteristics were
grouped into different categories and assessed collectively based
on their historical loss rates, taking into account the nature of the
customers and their geographical location.
EEERBECAIEBEMBEZRNTENEMENBR
Bt SREEUENRAREZFERREERRE HNE
ARAMBEMALUFEERSMNER  REREHEE
FEREHEEHER HRAAHREEARBEHENERBA
AEER REEBERAXARERETP HERAMIEN
ERHAREENG

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
I HENER S

PSSt EE (B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

Our key procedures in relation to management's assessment of the ECL on

trade receivables included:

EERNEEEYESRENENENEEERT G ZARERFE

&

Obtained an understanding of the management's internal control
and assessment process of estimating expected credit loss allowance
for trade receivables and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;
THREEEMNEFEZRBRENRAGEESERENA
EEH TR WRBE RSt 2 THBEENEE KA
MEARBRARNKT &M THRE - ZHRHEERER
RSIEFFRSURE) SHEE KRR E S AR ;

Understood, evaluated and tested key controls over the estimation of

loss allowances for impairment;

T FHERAE R E R R A SRR

For expected credit losses of trade receivables assessed individually,
with the assistance of our in-house valuation expert, on a sample basis,
we performed market research of the loss given default rate and the
debtors’ credit rating which are publicly available. We evaluated the
credit rating as probability of default which included forward-looking
factor as well as combining the loss given default rate, and compared
with the expected credit loss rates applied by management;
HREBIENEZRRENRBEERRE N GESR
KM T EEFH LRI SNENEREREBANERFTR
ETHETHRE  BERERTREAEORRTML Hp
BEAREERR TESEOBERE TRAEEERABNEN
BEEBERRETLR,;
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ENVR PR Gl

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
REHEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL’) assessment on trade receivables

(continued)

B2 EWHIENEREE SR (TAREEER)) 7k (@

In developing the loss allowances of trade receivables, the expected
credit loss rates are based on historical payment profiles of sales, the
corresponding historical credit losses rate, the external default data,
and adjusted by management’s assessment to reflect the current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
AHTEEZBURENERERE RRAGEBEREXDER
HENEENTRT HEELEEBER INBENEE
TREEEEEARMEZERT R BEBEFTURENNEE
RERRNER RATEEER T EFHRE

We focused on this area due to the significance of the trade
receivables balance and the management's ECL assessment on trade
receivables involved judgements and estimates.
EEEMHILEEANEREURBEHREANEEE
HE 7 RUCGIRR R E S BRI KA B G

PSSt EE (B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEEEEATHAREHERNEESX

For expected credit losses of trade receivables assessed collectively, we
evaluated the appropriateness of the management's grouping. We then
tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade
receivables as at the reporting date used in management's assessment
to the invoices and other relevant documents. We evaluated the
appropriateness of adjustments for forward-looking information based
on the analysis of macro-economic factors, with the assistance of our
in-house valuation expert; and
HRHREEFGNEZBEENRREEREMNS &
ST EEBNBNBEL EENRNEERBTGTHER
REMARXHERRRE BHNE S BIRTENRE
MEREETHENS -ERBEEEROBH T ERY
BRERRNDN BESTE 7 BBt ERETHENE
{E3d

BE N D OHE AR

Recomputed the historical loss rate calculation and evaluated the
appropriateness and tested the accuracy of the major data inputs
including historical settlement pattern of trade receivables used in
the expected credit losses models, on a sample basis, to the Group's
accounting records.

BNt EEEERERAE HR SEENGSCH KA
BANHEIEBAME CRRBEEEREATEANE
ZREBRENBEEEREN) NEEN LR EER Y-

Based on the procedures performed, we considered management's
judgements and estimates applied on the expected credit loss assessment on
trade receivables were supported by available evidence.
BERFATHNER ESTREEENEZRWNENRAEES
BTGP AR BT R LS EE RS RE S -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information

and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resutting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error; as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

g Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

0 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or; if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for

purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE BB HE A HRRRAENSTE @)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that NUEBEZEZEGEBENETET BEEET
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current HABG SN BRENETE %gj SN
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's B AMEKBERESEE - TETZH
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in R ERERZEEE RIFERIER
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in AAFLAHAEEZEFEER AEBKER
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to HER T HEBERRAEEERETER
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. HEEEANEamBERBHELEN AR

i AIEFREFTEERETEBEBZER

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Lee, Kin HEBUZHMBENEABEESREAR

Wah, Albert. FfpEo
PricewaterhouseCoopers BERKEGENERFR
Certified Public Accountants PEE5TED

Hong Kong, 18 March 2025 &% 2025638 18H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

reEm REMEERER

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE0AF12A3IBIEEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Y&t FAET TAT

Revenue WA 5 4,091,144 3,608,894
Cost of sales HE A 9 (3,044,162) (2,689,171)
Gross profit EF 1,046,982 919,723
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHFZ 9 (494,324) (458,364)
Administrative expenses THEEX 9 (267,354) (250,197)
Research and development costs MR A 9 (87,966) (80,178)
Net reversal of/(provision for) impairment losses ~ RYE ERERIERR B FE

of financial assets 3.1(i))(b) 4,158 (1,321)
Other income HAthig A 6 54,936 27,866
Other (losses)/gains, net Hih (B8 /Was > P88 7 (11,877) 14,868
Operating profit R 244,555 172,397
Finance costs i E PN 8 (50,085) (49,785)
Share of profit of an associate FE(LEHE A B A A 12 5,025 =
Profit before income tax BRATSIR AT F] 199,495 122,612
Income tax expense PSR 3 (36,846) (42,110)
Profit for the year FREM 162,649 80,502
Other comprehensive income HthxEWHE
tems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: EMPEERE=NIER !
Currency translation differences arising on translation MAE B EBELNEBEINEEEE

of foreign operations (38,465) (26,761)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMZMEmEE (38,465) (26761)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREE WL 124,184 53,741
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEmkEMEERTER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE2014F 12831 HLEE

2024 2023
20244 2023
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
By st FAET TAT
Profit for the year attributable to: THALEEENEF
Owners of the Company Vi /NCIEZZEDN 138,068 62,593
Non-controlling interests SRR R 24,581 17,909
162,649 80,502
Total comprehensive income for the year THATEEFRZERGLEEE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company E/NCIEZZS DN 88,197 37,557
Non-controlling interests el 35,987 16,184
124,184 53,741
Earnings per share BRREN
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —BAREE (BL) 5 7.89 358

The notes on page |55 to 299 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. FISSE2ENNEAZEGZEVHTRER
B—E5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRR

At 3| December 2024
2045128315

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
s FTAET FHRT
Assets BE
Non-current assets 3F5ﬁ§]ﬁ§
Property, plant and equipment L EN e 16 415,760 441,688
Right-of-use assets FRREE 17 299,327 235303
Investment properties BEYE 18 28,026 31,525
Goodwill [ 19 5,170 5348
Intangible assets B EE 20 7,621 9399
Interest in an associate REE AR 12 54,654 -
Deposits and other receivables e REMEWIA 23 29,822 19,272
Deferred tax assets RERIBEE 21 51,512 57,086
891,892 799,621
Current assets TEEE
Inventories Z8 22 476,548 508,747
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EME WA 23 777,273 686,747
Bill receivables e E 4 24 112,365 66977
Trade receivables at fair value through FEEMEERGERA AR
other comprehensive income B 5 e EE 25 36,472 34,129
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEY 27 262,436 309,923
1,665,094 1,606,523
Total assets BE®RE 2,556,986 2,406,144
Equity i
Equity attributable to the Company’s IATEERE AR GER
equity holders
Share capital A 3 175,000 175,000
Reserves e 798,705 750,758
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KAB BB ARG ED 973,705 925,758
Non-controlling interests iz 38 26,051 (7.268)
Total equity R 4R 999,756 918,490

BEEBEERAA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMEBIRR

At 3| December 2024
120245128318

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 FTAET FHRT
Liabilities &
Non-current liabilities El =L
Lease liabilities HEER 17 250,763 208,107
Deferred government grant IRIEE AT # B 28 494 900
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBER 21 11,077 11,541
262,334 220,548
Current liabilities P I
Trade and other payables B 5% RHEMENRIE 28 743,366 675364
Bl payables NS 29 29,690 31,183
Contract liabilities aHaf 5(iv) 12,701 15,629
Unsecured bank borrowings BEITIRIRITIER 30 401,102 441,878
Lease liabilities HE&E 17 91,926 72,633
Taxation payable FEITRR 16,111 30419
1,294,896 1,267,106
Total liabilities BfEHE%E 1,557,230 1,487,654
Total equity and liabilities i ke EeEE 2,556,986 2,406,144

The consolidated financial statements on pages 149 to 299 were approved by the Board of BI49IEVIBFE LR B M B IRMRIN2025F

Directors on |8 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. SAISHEZEEGHERBERETIZ  AHT

JIEFHRE
Mr. Cheung Tung Mr. Lam Kam Cheung
RERSTE MEREEE
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on page |55 to 299 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. BISSE2IENMFAZELEMBRE
B —& 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

n\7|'\ *Ei-ﬁ & @J 1%

For the year ended 3| December 2024
BE204F 12331 HIEFE

FRRER NEGRD
Share Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Capital options  Translation Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total
B ROEE AHEE FERE EARE BREEE ERERE R2EF Nt FEERERG st
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKE000  HK§000  HKFO00  HKFO00  HK$000  HK$000  HKFO0O  HK$000
TEr TEr TExr TEx FEx TExT  TEn  TEx  FEx  TExT  TER
(note (i))
(=)
At | January 2023 R203EIA1H 175,000 404520 (403835) 69,745 1510 3439 (18924) 663746 895,201 (8261) 886940
Profit for the year FREF = - - - - - - 62593 62,593 17,909 80,502
Exchange differences arising on HERIERELN
translation of foreign operation ERER - - - - - - (25036) - (25,036) (1725 (26761
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome  FR2TE (§518) /&
for the year ] - - - - - - (25036) 62593 37,557 16,184 53,741
Dividend paid BRRE - - - - - - - (7,000) (70000 (1519)  (2191)
Lapse of share options BRELN = = = = = (2,174) = 2174 - - -
Transfers of statutory reserve BREERE - S S 24756 - - - (24,756) - - -
At 31 December 2023 #2023 128318 175,000 404520 (403835) 94,501 1510 1,265 (43960) 696,757 925,758 (7268) 918490
At | January 2024 *204E 1A 18 175,000 404520 (403,835) 94,501 1,510 1,265 (43960) 696,757 925,758 (7,268) 918,490
Profit for the year ERiat - - - - - - - 138,068 138,068 24,581 162,649
Exchange differences arising on HEBNERELEN
translation of foreign operation EREH - - - - - - (49871) - (49871) 11406 (38465)
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome  ER2TE (§518) /&
for the year ez = = = = = - (49.871) 138,068 88,197 35,987 124,184
Dividend paid BARS - - - - - = - (40250)  (40,250) (2668)  (42918)
Lapse of share options BRELN = = - - - (1,265) - 1,265 - - -
Transfers of statutory reserve BEATHE - - - 5,975 - - - (5,975) - - -
At 31 December 2024 *204E 128318 175,000 404520  (403835) 100476 1,510 - (93831) 789,865 973,705 26,051 999,756
Notes: By st

REREARANE (THE) NBERARE
ATTENRBEARABEBINENBEZ
ERBEROIETEIERAACERESS
e -ZBEERMEZEBADIKREA
ET - MiEHRAEGHCEBRIMELZ
50% BRI B R E L EHME - HEN
BREHERFER (0R) EMERELR-
TRERN ZERETEREDIKe

0) Pursuant to applicable People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") regulations, certain PRC ()
subsidiaries are required to transfer a portion of their profits after taxation to the statutory
reserve and allocation to the statutory reserve which shall be approved by the board of
directors of the entity. The transfer had been made before the distribution of a dividend
to equity owners. The appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance of the
statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered capital of the entity. The reserve can
be applied either to set off accumulated losses, if any or to increase registered capital. The

statutory reserve is non-distributable other than upon liquidation. PR3

BISSE2NBENMFAZE LS
B—Ea o

M RE

The notes on page 155 to 299 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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154

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\7l' = EE@/}ILE‘IEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2004F 12831 BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
By EE FHET TATT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRENE
Cash generated from operations KEMBRE 33(a) 295,966 458,613
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEAFIEH (7,024) (2214)
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”) paid BAFREIRERER ((EEMER) (28,001) (24,893)
Oversea tax paid BEIMAIE (5,967) =
PRC withholding tax paid B hEIENR (5.038) (11,158)
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEEIREMATE 249,936 420,348
Cash flows from investing activities RETHRERE
Payments for purchase of property BEME -BREMREZAM
plant and equipment (65,835) (62,238)
Proceeds from disposal of property HEME  BRER&EZEHRIE
plant and equipment 33(b) 860 1,773
Consideration proceeds from LR E—BRBABMEAE
prior disposal of a subsidiary 23(a) 27,137 1,125
Interest received BUH 2 6,310 2,469
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BE — R B A &) - (2,592)
Acquisition of an associate WHE—BE AT 12 (51,170) =
Net cash outflow from investing activities RETHIRE R B (82,698) (49,463)
Cash flows from financing activities MEESRERE
Proceeds from unsecured bank borrowings EILIPIRITERFTER0E 33(c) 741,809 1,092,721
Repayments of unsecured bank borrowings BIREIRMRITEN 33(c) (778,655) (1,170,034)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEEEE 33(c) (84,243) (82,140)
Interest paid BAFHE (50,085) (49,785)
Dividends paid 2RE 33(c) (42,918) (22,191
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEHRESRLFE (214,092) (231,429)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERFSEBYW (AL SEMPE
cash equivalents (46,854) 139456
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ENRERFEEEN
of the year 309,923 168,955
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExEEHNTE (633) 1512
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRIRERFEEEY 27 262,436 309,923
The notes on page 155 to 299 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. FISSE2IENMEARERSMBERE

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

B —Z 2



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

The Group manufactures and sells health and household products. The Company
acts as an investment holding company and the principal activities of the Group are

conducted by its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
address of its registered office is PO. Box 309, Ugland House, KYI-1104, Cayman

Islands.

The ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is a subsidiary of Sinomax Enterprises Limited (“Sinomax Enterprises”),

a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
unless otherwise stated, and have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors

(the “Board™) on 18 March 2025.

LR E MR RMEE

—REE

FEBLERHERBARBEMO
KABAREERAT AEBNE
BEXHHEIEWNBADRE #1B
E RV

ARBR—ERRAEHSEMAIL
MBERAR HEMPEEHMIUS
PO. Box 309, Ugland House, KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands °

ARBEBREEEHGRBAAR
REVER L

ERABREFEACERRAT (T2
BEX) WHBAR Z A8 R—ME
REBRYESEMAILNRE -

BRAARBIN BFEREFHRELU

#r (T#T) 25 2 1R2025838
IBHEEEE (EFF) HETZ-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

2

156

BASIS OF PREPARATION

()  Compliance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") as
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the

applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622).

HKFRSs comprise the following authoritative literature:

. Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

. Hong Kong Accounting Standards

. Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

(i)  Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for certain trade receivables at fair value through other

comprehensive income which were stated at fair value.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(ii)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amendments to standards and an interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments to standards and an

interpretation for the first time for its annual reporting period commencing |

January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS |
Amendments to HKAS |

Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of aTerm Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments to standards and an interpretation listed above did not have

any material impact on the amounts recognised in prior and are not expected

to significantly affect the current or future periods.

LR E MR RMEE

2 RREE®

(i)

BEEBEERAA

A EE BRI RERET A

REEDR2024%F 1B I BE%
NWEERSHBENERUT

AR RBEBITAR
BEEGHER REENEAR
Bk (BT BIIERY
BEGH RN  NEEENIER

Bk (E:IH BER
BERRES HHERRIER-
(B (EFTX) BERAHES
BREXBER
MEBHER
ispay s
EEMBRS  BERBRNEE
£ 1657 &R
CHES)
EBEEN  HEBRERH
FTRRER
BHREER
EYEACHE:Y

L ER R ERET RS LA
HEES S BLBETFNER
FE BRI EHEHBEN
ARBEEATE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
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AT IR R MIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(iv)

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

New standards and amendments to standards and an interpretation not

yet adopted

Certain new standards and amendments to standards and an interpretation
have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These new standards
and amendments to standards and an interpretation are not expected to have a
material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on

foreseeable future transactions:

2 RREE®

v ERERANEIRTE TR R AE AR AR
EEIES

LITET#s] 28 R ERIHM 2
BESTAB MM BR20245F 12
A3IBZ RS HERRG EX
BEXAERTERERM -ZF
#rE] E R R E R 2 BET X
AT EHBRENEASRK
REPEHTRRKNRZE
BARE:
Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

RUTHBRZ &R%E
B EEREER
Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS | Lack of Exchangeability | January 2025
ERGHENBRREEMBRS RZ AR 2025F1 818
ZRIFB 15K (BT
HKFRS SI General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability- I August 2025
related Financial Information
ERUMBREIRBREER S IR AIFERRM B E B REN—REX 2025888 1H
HKFRS S2 Climate-related Disclosures I August 2025
EBUBREIRBREERB2R RIRMERIRE 2025688 1H
Amendments to HKAS 9 and HKFRS 7 Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments | January 2026
BRGS R EIRKRBBYHRS TRMIANDENE 20261 81H
ZR BT (BT )
Amendments to HKFRS [, HKFRS 9, Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards | January 2026
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7
BREMBREEE F EEMBRE FTEUBRSERGHENNEELE 202651818
ZRIFIR BBYBREENE 05K
BB RSB (B5TX)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements | January 2027
BBMHREERE 85 B RRNT IR R 20071818
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures | January 2027
BBMHBREERE 199 FARTHEEMNNBLRE  WKE 20271 81H
Amendments to HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification | January 2027
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
BBREESR (BITH) FHREI B -ERAHESREREERRD 20271818

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMBREERB KRB EGS
ZRIF285% (BFT )

BEHRERNDE

Sale of Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

REEUHME NN EEENEELEY
TE

To be confirmed
by the HKICPA

BEBRHDLERSR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(iv)

New standards and amendments to standards and an interpretation not

yet adopted (continued)

The directors of the Group are of the opinion that the adoption of the above
new standards and amendments to standards and an interpretation would not
have a material impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions. The Group intends to adopt the above
new standards and amendments to standards and an interpretation when they

become effective.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk),

credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out by
the senior management of the Company under policies approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company. The finance department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group's operating units to cope
with overall risk management as well as specific areas such as market risk, credit

risk and liquidity risk.

LR E MR RMEE

2 RREE®

®

Il R RN ETRT ST 2E R R 22 RG22
18314 (8)

AEEERERRN KW LR
TEA R EAM R RBET AR
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BREIRRRNZIZEEAE
B-REERN LMHETER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT IR R MIEE

4= A
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk

@

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China (“the PRC"),
Hong Kong, United States (“the U.S.”) and Vietnam.

The functional currency of the Hong Kong reporting entities
is HK$ and the transactions are mostly denominated in HK$
and United States dollar (“US$"). For transactions or balances
denominated in US$ are reasonably stable with the HK$ under
the Linked Exchange Rate System, the directors are of the opinion
that the Group does not have significant foreign exchange risk, the
exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates will only arise from the
translation to the presentation currency of the Group. Accordingly,

no sensitivity analysis is performed.

The functional currency of the PRC reporting entities is Renminbi
(“RMB") and the transactions are mostly denominated in RMB
and HK$.The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control

promulgated by the PRC government.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report

3

MBRERERE (B

3l

M ERER (@)

®

T

@

SMNER B

AEBTERTE
mit (ThE)) &
B xE (TRE) &
HMEEEXR-

BEERERENY
SEEME BT MK
BREAUBTR
%7 (I®Rm) sHE-
MUUETEERR
BEEERT S > TE
BEXFIETET
RETHEFREGE
RENKT BEHRH
AEBTES K
R ERREA
BRERBEER
EEENERRE
FoRFIL MRS
BRE D -

TEHZ2ZREEN
NEEBRAARE
(TAER®)) M=
ZRABAUARE
KETEHE ARE
RMBINERAET
o [ BT 4R A B9 S
EEHRAKER



3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

@

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The functional currency of Vietnamese reporting entities is
Vietnamese dong (“VND") and the transactions are mostly
denominated in VND and USS$. The conversion of VND into
foreign currencies is subjected to the rules and regulation of
the foreign exchange control promulgated by the State Bank of

Vietnam.

At 31 December 2024, if Hong Kong dollar had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against Renminbi with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$6,859,000 (2023: HK$3,013,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation
of Renminbi denominated bank deposits, unsecured bank

borrowings, trade receivables and trade payables.

3

4= A
777 g |

AR R MIE
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BEEBEERAA
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@) SMNEEE #E

HEEHRERE®
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20241283180
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT IR R MIEE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Market risk (continued)

@

®)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

At 31 December 2024, if Hong Kong dollar had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against VND with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,557,000 (2023: HK$737,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of VND denominated bank deposits, unsecured bank borrowings,

trade receivables and trade payables.

Interest rate risk

The Group's main interest rate risk arises from unsecured
borrowings with variable rates, which expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. The Group's borrowings and receivables
are carried at amortised cost. The Group monitors closely its
interest rate exposure by maintaining an appropriate floating
rate on borrowings and considers hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise. The position is regularly
monitored and evaluated by reference of anticipated changes in

market interest rate.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

()

Market risk (continued)

()

Interest rate risk (continued)

Unsecured borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest-rate risk. As at 31 December 2024, if interest
rate had increased/decreased by 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) with all other variable constant, the Group's post-tax profit
and total comprehensive profit would have been approximately
HK$ 1,675,000 (2023: HK$1,845,000) lower/higher:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk

@

Risk management

Credit risk arises if a customer or other counterparty fails to
meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from credit exposures to customers, including both trade
receivables carried at amortised cost and at fair value through
other comprehensive income, bill receivables, deposits and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and
financial institutions. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk

is the carrying amounts of these financial assets.

The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure
to any financial institutions. Substantially all the deposits in banks
are held in reputable financial institutions located in Hong Kong,
the PRC, the US. and Vietnam, which management believes are of
high credit quality and management does not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these counterparties, therefore,

the expected credit loss for cash and bank balances is minimal.
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

@

Risk management (continued)

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products are made to customers with a solid credit history. Sales
to large or long-established customers with sound repayment
history comprise a significant proportion of the total sales of
the Group for the year ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.
The Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers,
taking into account their financial position, history of default and
other factors, and management does not expect any material

losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether
through exposure to individual customers, specific industry sectors

and/or regions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

3

166

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to

the expected credit loss model:

) cash and cash equivalents
. trade receivables at amortised cost,
. trade receivables at fair value through other

comprehensive income,

0 other financial assets at amortised cost, including bill

receivables, other receivables and deposits
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

All bank balances and bank deposits are held at
reputable financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and there is no significant concentration risk to a single
counterparty and there is no history of defaults from these
counterparties. The expected credit losses are close to
zero as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

3

168

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Trade receivables at amortised cost

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics

and the days past due.
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before
the end of each reporting period, respectively, and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within
each of the period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the Gross Domestic Product index of the
countries, Export index, and Consumer Price Index to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusted the
historical loss rate based on expected changes in these

factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT IR R MIEE

4= A
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.

170

| Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

The Group grouped those trade receivables into two
categories which reflect their credit risks and how the loss

allowances are determined for each of those categories.

Measurement of expected credit losses on individual basis

For trade receivables relating to corporate customers
with publicly available credit rating, they are assessed
individually for impairment allowances. As at 31 December
2024, the balances of such individually assessed trade
receivables and the corresponding loss allowances are
HK$46,256,000 (2023: HK$50,150,000) and HK$126,000
(2023: HK$85,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Measurement of expected credit losses on collective basis

Other than those trade receivables which were assessed
by individual basis, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared similar credit risk characteristics and the

days past due.

The following tables present the balances of gross carrying
amounts and loss allowances in respect of the collectively
assessed trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 and

2023:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

3 MBAKREE®
3 MEEBREZ @
(i) EEREE &)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) (b) EHEELBE &
(i) Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) (i) YREIER AT
B2ZB5ER
B (B
Measurement of expected credit losses on collective basis HEETEE
(continued) EEEE B
Past due
il
Not ~ Within 3160 6190  91-180 181-35  Over
yetdue 30 days days days days days 365 Days Total
31 December 2024 204£ 128318 WRAH AR 3IE0B 6IF08 9IZI0R 181F365H #iB365H st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HKS$000
TEr TEr ThEx TEx TExn FEx FEr  TExn
Trade receivables BREWE 45972 83070 2533 7368 9570 782 3980 603113
Expected loss rate REEEX 1.0% 12%  102%  158%  636%  474%  995% 3.9%
Loss allowances iR 4686 1033 2,59 166 6088 3707 3962 23236
Past due
ki
Not — Withn 310 6190 91180  181-365 Over
yetdue  30days days days days days 365 Days Total
31 December 2023 203128318 BRBS  0BR 3IE0E 6IF08 9IZI08 I81F365H BiE36sH it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
TEr TEx ThEx Tix TEx TExn TEr  Thx
Trade receivables BHRWEE 305074 125701 44270 10215 3533 Tedl 16849 53383
Expected loss rate BHERX 1.5% 29% 3% 2% 34 4% 3% 58%
Loss allowances BERE 4664 359 | 457 1,149 L8 6295  1BI 305%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERRE (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) () EHEENEE (B
(i) Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued) (i) YREIER AT
BZE5RNK
A ()
Measurement of expected credit losses on collective basis HEF=TEH
(continued) EEHE @&
The movements of loss allowances for trade receivables, R2024F &
on both individual and collective basis, as at 31 December 2023F 12831
2024 and 2023 are as follows: H>BE Kkt
A ENEZ
FEW R IE R 18
BEZ23mW
T
2024 2023
20244 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Opening loss allowances at | January %18 | B VRIS 18 55 30,679 32,529
Net (reversal of)/provision forloss R 18z HE SRR SR
allowances recognised in profit (B[R &EFHE
or loss (4,158) 1,321
Receivables written off during F PR A U BT 85 e U R IR
the year as uncollectible (2,826) (2,533)
Exchange differences b (333) (638)
Closing loss allowances RI2B3I BRER BB E
at 31 December 23,362 30,679
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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174

AT IR R MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i

Trade receivables at amortised cost (continued)

Measurement of expected credit losses on collective basis

(continued)

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual

payments for a period of greater than 360 days past due.

Reversal of/provision for impairment losses on trade
receivables are presented as net reversal of/provision for
impairment losses within statement of profit and loss and
other comprehensive income. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the

same line item.
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(il

Trade receivables at fair value through other comprehensive

income

The Group uses trade receivables factoring facilities to
manage the credit risk of certain trade debtors. As at
31 December 2024, trade receivables of approximately
HK$36,472,000 (2023: HK$34,129,000) were subject
to non-recourse factoring arrangements and classified
as trade receivables at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

The loss allowances for trade receivables at fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in
profit or loss and reduce the fair value loss otherwise
recognised in other comprehensive income. The Group
considers credit risk of these financial assets is low and

expected credit losses are immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBEREE G
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(i) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERRE (&)
(b)  Impairment of financial assets (continued) b)) EHEELEE B
(iv)  Other financial assets at amortised cost, including bil (v) IREIER AT
receivables, other receivables and deposits ENHEMER
BE (BERK
FE AR
MREE)
Other financial assets at amortised cost include bill 1248 38 B AR 5t
receivables, other receivables and deposits. They are ENHMER
considered to be of low credit risk primarily because EEBERK
historically they had no history of default and the debtors ZHECHME
had a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow W g o
obligations in the near term. The Group considers credit ZETMEE
risk of these financial assets is low and expected credit WAREER
losses are immaterial. BERE X2
RARZER
MEEBEIL
N
BEHBAER
REEHERER
NETHESK
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3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(i)

Liquidity risk

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims to maintain
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and ensure the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of available financing, including short-
term bank borrowings. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining
adequate amount of cash and cash equivalents and flexibility in funding

through having available sources of financing.

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group
approximated HK$262,436,000 (2023: HK$309,923,000).

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 requires a term loan that contains a clause
that gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time
shall be classified in total by the borrower as current in the statement
of financial position. This is irrespective of whether a default event has
occurred and notwithstanding any other terms and maturity stated in the
loan agreement. As at 31 December 2024, borrowings of approximately
HK$5,720,000 (2023: HK$29,644,000) was classified as current liabilities

due to this requirement.

3

LR E MR RMEE

MBRERERE (B

3l

BEEBEERAA

M ERER (@)

(i)

HHEEmE

BREENRDEARE
B AEENEREER
EHNRERREEBE
W) IR B R IR T
EREANTETARE
RERETH A A -H
N EEES A E e
FEEBBERENHER
ERRESBYRERE
ENBEEE TRBER
A BB S RIRREFTE
EREE M

R2024%E 128318 A&
BMReRIREEEBIN
#£262,436,00078 75 (2023
£ 309,923,000 75) ©

ERARBERRTE H
P—EERETERRE
] B B AR W D1 B =0 B9
RANERET BERA
EEFBRRRPRELE
SRAZERALTHR
HaB SHRERER
NEHER BEERD
EPHTE T EEEMKR
FHAMRTR A o AR L IB AR
T FR2024FE 128310 18
FN#95,720,00058 75 (2023
£ 129,644,000 7T) D
BansagE-.

200 EERSE

177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

3

178

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iij)  Liquidity risk (continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve
(comprising the undrawn borrowing facilities below) and cash and cash

equivalents (note 27) on the basis of expected cash flows.

This is generally carried out at local level in the operating companies of
the Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the Group. These
limits vary by location to take into account the liquidity of the market in
which the entity operates. In addition, the Group's liquidity management
policy involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and considering
the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance
sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements

and maintaining debt financing plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

LR E MR RMEE

MBRERERE (B

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
(iii)  Liquidity risk (continued) (i)  TEELER (&)
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant TRUAEENEREE
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the ARSI AR R B H
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed BEHEREGHNIHEN
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. ReREABIET DM o R
KENTEARMESY
b A
On demand Total
or within One to Two to Over  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years five years cash flows amounts
RER RERRE
£ —E@E C"ELf BRI  NELE IREfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
Thn TAr ThR Thn TER THn
At 31 December 2024 #2024E 128318
Trade and other payables (excluding B REMETFHIE (R
deferred government grant) BEREMNFE) 74,9 = = = 74,91 742,91
Bil payables SNES 29,690 - - - 29,690 29,690
Lease liabilities and interest payments ~ FAE&BERF B 108,529 91,008 185,246 = 384,783 342,689
Bank borrowings HBITER 401,102 - - - 401,102 401,102
1,282,312 91,008 185,246 - 1,558,566 1,516,472
At 31 December 2023 #2023% 128318
Trade and other payables (excluding B R REMELTFIE (F
deferred government grant) BIEREBN B 674976 = = = 674976 674976
Bil payables NS 31,183 = = = 31,183 31,183
Lease liabilties and interest payments T E&ERF S 85828 69,184 138,549 23692 317,53 280,740
Bank borrowings RITEEM 441878 = = = 441878 441878
1233865 69,184 138,549 23,692 1,465,290 1428777

Bank borrowings with settlement subject to repayment on demand

clauses based on scheduled repayments including interest payable.

TIERMEREREE
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E (BEEMHE) ET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

32

3 HMEERER @

Financial risk factors (continued) 31 MEBEBER @
Total
Within One to Two to Over  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years five years cash flows amounts
KUERRE
—FR  —ERF C"ERF BRIF  RELH REE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TR TER
At 31 December 2024 120245128318
Bank borrowings and interest payments BTERRAEMAR 416,664 = 416,664 401,102
At 31 December 2023 120235128318
Bank borrowings and interest payments RITERRFBAR 465386 = 465386 441878
Capital management 32 BrERE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to
continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis
of the gearing ratio, which calculated as net debt (as defined below) divided
by total equity (as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position,
including non-controlling interests). Accordingly, the net debt to equity ratio as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

32

33

Capital management (continued)

3

MR

LR E MR RMEE

EE @

32 EBEXREE®

2024 2023
20244 20235

HK$'000 HK$ 000

FHET FET

Unsecured bank borrowings BITIRIRITIER 401,102 441,878
Cash and cash equivalents RBERREEEY (262,436) (309,923)
Net debt FEE 138,666 131,955
Total equity e 999,756 918,490
Net debt to equity ratio FEEHEGIEE 14% 14%

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at fair value
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by level of inputs to valuation techniques

used to measure the fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels

within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

. quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities (level 1);

. inputs other than quoted prices included within level | that are

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); and

. inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data. (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3)

33 AFEEE

TRIBRHELAFEMBAZGEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial assets carried at fair value as

at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

3 HMEERER @

33 AFEGE @

TRENAKEBR2024F K
2023F 12831 B A FETER

ZEMEE
Fair value Valuation technique
Financial asset Fair value as at hierarchy and key inputs Sensitivity
fhERMR
EWEE RUTRBZATE ATFEER FBHARE BRE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20244 20234
12H31H 12A318
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Trade receivables at fair 36,742 34,129 Level 3 + Discounted cash flows ¢ An increase in risk-
value through other F=E - BRBERE adjusted discount rates

comprehensive income
BRHMEERDERAT
BYBRZ B R EWRIA

There were no transfers between levels |, 2 and 3 for recurring fair value

measurements during the year For transfer into and out of level 3 measurement

see (iii) below.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy

levels as at the end of the year.

182
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Estimated settlement
period from these
trade receivables and
risk adjusted discount
rates of 549% to
6.99% (31 December
2023:6.01% to 7.51%)
per annum quoted by
the banks

- ZEEFRIIEZ
b sHE A HARE KR
TR 7 BB ER AT
RER/GEFSANE
6.99% (2023 12831
B 601%%E751%)

used would result in a
slight decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.
PR AR R R SR R 4T
BE FAHBERRTF
BEMALD > RZIR
SR o

An increase in
estimated settlement
period used would
result in a decrease

in fair value, and vice
versa.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3%

Fair value estimation (continued)

()

(i)

Financial instruments in level |

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, price services
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price already incorporates the market's assumptions with respect
to changes in economic climate such as rising interest rates and inflation,

as well as changes due to ESG risk.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in level 2.

3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(i)

3

MR

BE®

33 ATEfEE @

Financial instruments in level 3 (i) FE=EBHEMTA
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable H—IENZHEERSHIL
market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for FERITBREDHZHE
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a significant unobservable BlZeMIANAST=
adjustment. Mo-MRB-HERER
RREsIEERFAIEHE
AENTRAEILER
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments at RARihEBREMEER
fair value through other comprehensive income includes the present RARATEIENEHRT
value of the estimated future cash flows at the fixed rate stated in AR EMERTEER
factoring agreements plus SOFR. The group did not change any valuation RERETRRENEEF
techniques in determining the level 2 and level 3 fair values. 0 _ESOFR{H & AY K 2k
RERENRE-TRT
E_BBKRE=BHRAT
B RERTENEE
fAl i (B B Al
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the TREFNEE2024F K
years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023. 2023F 12831 HIEFER
F-EIAMEI -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
As at | January ®IAI8 34,129 22,962
Transfer from trade receivables BEEE SRS 407,570 352,449
Settlement o (405,685) (341,492
Fair value change ATHELE 458 210
As at 31 December 128318 36,472 34,129

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

34

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future event and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counter party.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which,

by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise

judgement in applying the group'’s accounting policies.

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

@

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group's past historical data, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key

assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 3.1(ii)(b).

3

4
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less estimated cost to completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. Management

reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill

and intangible assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment;
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined based on the
higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates. Management
judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test and as

a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(d)

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are
some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated taxes based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences would impact the current tax and

deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses
are recognised when management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilized. Where the expectation is different from the original estimates, such
difference will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax in
the period in which such estimates are changed.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Executive Directors have been identified as the CODM. The Executive Directors review

the Group’s internal reports in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Group is currently organised into the following three geographical markets:

China market

North American
market

Europe and other

overseas markets

Manufacture and sale of health and household products and
polyurethane foam for customers located in the PRC, Hong Kong

and Macau.

Manufacture and sale of health and household products for customers
located in the US, Canada and other North American countries.

Manufacture and sale of heafth and household products and foam for
customers located in overseas except for those customers located in
the China market and North American market.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(i)  Segment revenue 0 FEBBA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue by operating and reportable T XGRS K Al R 7
segments: DN AREBWARNDH
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F 12831 HEFE
Europe
North and other
China American overseas
market market markets Total
BRM R E fth
PETHE SIE R BINHIE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000

FAET FAET FAET FAET

External sales HIMNHE 1,748,790 1,624,615 717,739 4,091,144
Cost of sales HERA (3,044,162)
Selling and distribution expenses 5 K288 5 & (494,324)
Administrative expenses THREX (267,354)
Research and development costs Bff &% B 2K (87,966)
Net reversal of impairment THEENHESBREZEE

losses of financial assets 4,158
Other income Hr A 54,936
Other losses, net HhEsis 28 (11,877)
Finance costs R ®N (50,085)
Share of profit of an associate  FEILEHE A B EF] 5,025
Profit before income tax PRPISIR AT A 199,495
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

()  Segment revenue (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5

LR E MR RMEE

WARDERER (&)

0  IEUA @
BE20BFNABALEE

Europe

North and other

China American overseas
market market markets Total

B R ELAh
MEHS IEETHH BINTIH 85t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAET TAET TET
External sales HIMYE 1,589,634 1,384,678 634,582 3,608,894
Cost of sales HE R (2,689,171)
Selling and distribution expenses 4 & K $5BI (458,364)
Administrative expenses TR (250,197)
Research and development costs Bff 2% B ZX (80,178)

Net provision for impairment ~ ERIE E R ERIEEEH T8

losses of financial assets (1,321)
Other income HHA 27,866
Other gains, net Htlas > %28 14,868
Finance costs AR (49,785)
Profit before income tax PRENISHATE R 122,612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers i EREHRAMS
(a)  Type of major products @ ETEERFY
Revenue recognised at a point in time during the year is as follows: REANREEREMEDN
AT :
2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Sales of health and household products ~ $HERE MR EE @ 2,728,901 2365437
Sales of polyurethane foam HERABRERK 1,362,243 1,243,457
Total 85t 4,091,144 3,608,894
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

®)

Geographical markets

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the retail shops and concession

counters or location of customers for wholesales.

5

LR E MR RMEE

WA RS ERER ()
i BREHKAES @
(b)) HELE
AEBERBIIBERKA

MEHNIDRTEERTE
SEMAEUESHRHERR

FIEIEZR -
2024 2023
20244 20236
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
China market FEMS
—The PRC —HE 1,481,634 1,295,173
— Hong Kong, Macau and others — 5B RPIRH MM 267,156 294,461
North American market EEmE
—The US. — X[ 1,379,371 1,280,804
— Others —Hff 245,244 103,874
Europe and other overseas markets BN R H o5 717,739 634,582
Total HEt 4,091,144 3,608,894

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while the Group
operates its business primarily in China, North American, Europe and
other oversea markets. For the years ended 3| December 2024 and
2023, no revenue was generated from the Cayman Islands and no non-

current assets were located in the Cayman Islands.

AABRHEEHSHM
i MAEEFERR
IEESBUNREME
STEREXEH -BE
20244 2023F 128318
tEE IEEBRASH
SNWATREANRHEE
HENERBEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

5  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WARSEER @
(i)  Other segment information (i) Ht D EpER
Geographical information HIER
Information about the Group's non-current assets (excluding deposits and other FrEEFRBEE FOEES
receivables and deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographic T ELAth FE IR IE K R IE IR TE B
location of the assets: E)NERNREENMIEUE
275

2024 2023

2024%F 2023

HK$000 HK$'000

FAET FTBT

The US. ESE 386,711 405,703

The PRC s 253,569 283,880

Europe EPil 54,654 =

Hong Kong B 24,641 24,655

Vietnam e 90,983 27483

810,558 741,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

(iv)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with

customers:

LR E MR RMEE

WARDERER (&)

v HEERENARNGE

AEEERIUTREREN
BRENER:

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Receipt in advance from customers for the sales FTAWEFENBERREERBER
of health and household products 12,701 15,629

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the year was

related to carried forward contract liabilities.

TRINEARTAEBEN

Sales of health and household products

HERBERRKEER

BEBANKAELEE
2024 2023
20244 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FEx
15,629 11,993
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AT IR R MIEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods sold or services
performed, stated net of discounts, returns and value-added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the specific criteria have been met for each of the

Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when or as the control of goods is

transferred to a customer.

When determining the transaction price to be allocated to different
performance obligations, the Group first determines the service fees that
the Group entitles in the contract period and adjusts the transaction price
for variable considerations and significant financing component, if any. The
Group includes in the transaction price some of all of an amount of variable
considerations only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the

uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the
contract in the consolidated statement of financial position as a contract related
asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the entity's

performance and the customer's payment.

A contract related asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods and services that the Group has transferred to a customer or
cost to obtain a contract. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to a consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional if

only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

)

Accounting policies of revenue recoghnition (continued)

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of

consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service

to the customer, the Group presents the contract liability when the payment is

made or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the

Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from

the customer.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the principal revenue

streams of the Group.

@

Revenue from sales of health and household products — Retail

For sales of health and household products through the Group's retail
network, which comprising self-operated stand-alone retail shops,
concession counters in department stores, revenue is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the customer
purchases and receives the goods at the retail shops and concession

counters in department stores or when the goods are delivered.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer
purchases the goods and takes delivery in store or makes an order
online. Under the Group's standard contract term, the end customer has
no right to refund nor exchange for most of the household products,

including pillows and bedding products.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

)

Accounting policies of revenue recoghnition (continued)

@)

Revenue from sales of health and household products — Retail

(continued)

For sales of health and household products on internet, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customers,
being at the point the goods are delivered to and received by the
customers. Delivery occurs when the goods have been delivered to the
customer’s specific location. When the customers initially purchase the
goods online, the transaction price received by the Group is recognised
as a contract liability until the goods have been delivered to the

customers.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer
purchases the goods and takes delivery in store or makes an order
online. Under the Group's standard contract term, the end customer has

no right to exchange nor refund.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

)

Accounting policies of revenue recoghnition (continued)

®)

Revenue from sales of polyurethane foam and health and household

products — Wholesale

For sales of health and household products to the wholesalers, revenue is
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to and received by the wholesalers' specific
location, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the buyer's

acceptance of the products.

Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for

acceptance have been satisfied.

Under the Group's standard contract term, the customer has no rights to
return once the goods are accepted by the buyers. The Group generally

allows a credit period ranging from 7 days to 120 days upon delivery.

5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

6  OTHER INCOME 6  HfttA
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FH7 FET
Interest income from bank deposits RITERZFBIRA 5,209 2,133
Interest income from cash consideration receivables UIREREBZHFEWA 223 897
Imputed interest income from rental deposits HEZE 2 st FIRIRA 1,347 1,329
Interest income from investment in subleases DEREZFIBWA 88 156
Government subsidies (note) R RaRG (P 5E) 6,788 8,347
Rental income EEON 11,425 6752
Others Hith 29,856 8,252
54,936 27,866
Note: BisE
The amount mainly represents government grants provided by PRC government related ZEeBRFEETRENEEGHANETIER
to foreign capital injection, and new material technology development projects which is in BRI 75 BT & (R I T RO AR fiT R 2
cooperation with the local PRC government. JEE MBS B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

7 Hfth (558 et PR

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HE ¥ BB KRR ER (518) /W& (12,158) [211
Loss on initial recognition of investment in subleases BRERNHAKENEE - (761)
Net exchange differences R AP 28| 14418
(11,877) 14,868

FINANCE COSTS 8 MBI

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHT FHET

Interest on bank borrowings RITEMAE 23,271 29,829
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEHNE 17,893 15233
Interest and charges on factoring of trade receivables ~ IHIZE 5 ERUNFIBREZ FI E M EH 8,921 4723
50,085 49,785

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

9 EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 BRUHIHINREX
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BRARTNEENR 2,372,585 2,078,371
Employee benefits expenses (note |0) BERMEX (HEE0) 639,098 523,584
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 20) B EE#E (F520) 1,778 1,778
Auditor’s remuneration ZH AT =
— Audit service —BLRH 3210 3,110
— Non-audit service —IFB LR 1,180 880
Bank charges RITER 12,469 12,595
Concessionaire commission for department store BELDHEFTRERE ()
counters (note) 33,973 37,281
Expenses relating to short-term or low value leases BRI REEHERR
(note 17(b)) B (fIEE17(b)) 8,576 10,370
Depreciation of investment properties (note |8) REMEINE (Hiski8) 2,469 2516
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note |6) ¥)2  BRE KR BITE (MI5E16) 71,296 70,506
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 17) EREEETE (H:17) 84,138 75391
(Reversal of provision)/provision for inventories FE BERR) BE (15,425) 34,189
Legal and professional fees FEREEER 19,904 20,822
Marketing expenses TREEE 138,759 127,154
Transportation expenses EnE 117,036 112,693
Others Hth 402,760 366,670

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, HEMAHERDHEBESZ TH

administrative expenses, and research and 2 K bt 3% AR A 4R 3R

development costs 3,893,806 3477910
Note: BisE
Concessionaire commission for department store counters is generally calculated by applying BEARFEEEFLERE —RUSEEN
pre-determined percentages to actual sales made through respective counters. ERFERRAREEA DR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 0 {BEREFHX
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Wages and salaries (including directors emoluments) TERHE (BOFEEMS) (Hsta)

(note a) 585,069 483,729
Retirement benefits costs (note ) RIRTBRI B (FfEEc) 43,241 31,504
Other post-employment benefits HAMBER AT 10,788 8351

639,098 523,584
The employee benefits expenses amounting to HK$110,669,000 (2023: G EeBEEREME2ENRERA
HK$100,030,000) are recognised in selling and distribution expenses; HK$ 136,188,000 BERFHAZA#I10669,00087T
(2023: HK$113,214,000) in administrative expenses; HK$357,858,000 (2023: (20234 100,030,000787T) RIHE
HK$280,732,000) in cost of sales; and HK$34,383,000 (2023: HK$29,608,000) in KD SHR < REESTY ; 136,188,000 7T
research and development costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (20234 © 113,214,000570) FR4TELEE
other comprehensive income. S FRHESD 5 357,858,000/8 7T (20234 -

280,732,0005 70) RS E R ATRER ;
234,383,000 7T (20234 : 29,608,000
) B R R A R RESD o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 0 {EEEFHS @
(@)  Five highest paid individuals @ HREEHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the FRAEEAUREHFMAL
year included four directors (2023: four directors) whose emoluments are BENS (2023F : W2) EE
reflected in the analysis presented in note | I.The emoluments paid and payable BEZFHMPHE A58
to the remaining one individual (2023: one individual) during the year are as DEARE - EREN KE
follows: BT—RAT (203F —%A
1) WEFMTT
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Basic salaries, housing allowances, BEAfHHE EREN Hit2l K
other allowances and benefits in kind EbE 2,205 2,521
Retirement plan contributions RRETEIHM 56 97
2,261 2618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

@

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The emoluments for the one individual (2023: one individual) fall within the

following bands:

10

LR E MR RMEE

BE®=FIH2 (@

@ HaEREHMAL G
Z— AN+ (03F: —2 A1)

ZHINEREMT ¢
2024 2023
20244 20234
Number of Number of
Employees employees
BEAY BEAH

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

2,000,001 7875 22,500,00078 7T
2,500,001 7 75 23,000,000/ 7T

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals mentioned above as
performance based bonus, an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or

as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments for the three senior management (2023: three senior

management) fall within the following bands:

HE24FENB3IHEFE &
ERUTERELXFARELERS
FMATZOEAME FA
BURE - MATRMARE
B ZRMIKERAUZBE
(20234 : £E) o

SREERE (2023F : =%
SHREERE) MEMERNT :

2024 2023

20244 2023

Number of senior Number of senior
management management

BREEEAE SREEEAK

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 FE 1,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T E 1,500,000 7T
HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,007 70 52,000,000 7T

| 2
| |
| -
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AT IR R MIEE

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(©

Retirement benefit plans

The Group participates in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualified employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under
the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at a rate of 5% specified in the rules, but
subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The only obligation of the Group
with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable

in the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC and Vietnam are members of the state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC and Vietnam
government, respectively. The PRC and Vietnam subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their basic payroll to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under
the schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution

payable in future years.

The Group maintains multiple qualified contributory saving plans as allowed
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code in the US. These plans
are defined contribution plans covering employees employed in the US and
provide for voluntary contributions by employees, subject to certain limits.
The contributions are made by both the employees and the employer. The
employees’ contributions are primarily based on specified dollar amounts or

percentages of employee compensation.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

©

Retirement benefit plans (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total contributions charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$43,421,000 (2023: HK$31,504,000).

The abolition of the use of the accrued benefits derived from employers'
“mandatory” contributions to MPF and the Occupational Retirement Schemes
("ORSQO") to offset the long service payment (“LSP") and severance payment
(the “Amendment”) accrued from the transition date (no later than 2025) was
enacted on |7 June 2022. As the LSP is a defined benefit plan, the Amendment
changes the employer’'s legal obligation which is considered as a plan
amendment under HKAS 19.The Group recognised provision for LSP which is

included in other payable.

LR E MR RMEE

0 {EEREFHS @

©

RINMERIEE (B

BE004ENA3IBLEEE B
FeBEaRkAMEZEKRRE R
BrEV R ABEE A43,421,0008 7T
(20234 : 31,504,000 7T) ©

2002568178 BUEE R ®E
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5HEI)) BE(EHA Bk 3t
NEHEEGEEHRESE (F
ER2025F) BN RBRS
T (TRERE)) REHE (TE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS Il ERNENRED
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ EERESTHAEME
The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the years ended 31 B E2024F K2023F 128318
December 2024 and 2023 is set out below: FFESUEERESITHA
BRNMEHIIMT
Performance Share  Retirement
Salaries related based benefit
and incentive payment scheme
Fee  allowances payments expenses  contributions Total
MR %

wEk RFEW  BROR BHRER
ik 2E RBA% Fx SRR st
HK$000  HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEr TEr TEr TER FEr FEr

For the year ended HE2024F 128318

31 December 2024 LEE
Executive directors HTER
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (note i) &R E (HEH) - 1,361 855 - - 2216
Mr. Cheung Tung (note i) SRR (Eti) - 2,084 1,466 - 8 3,568
Mr. Chen Feng BRiE A - 2,344 LI - - 3,455
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung MR - 1,669 1,087 - 8 2,774
Ms. Lam Fei Man MEELL - 1,135 1,087 - 8 2,240

Independent non-executive ~ HIFFRITESR

directors
Mr.Wong Chi Keung FERRE 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie REERE 240 - - - = 240
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung (note iv) SREESR1E L (B Fiv) 240 = = = = 240

720 8,593 5,606 = 54 14,973
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued) I EENENREDR @
(a)  Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued) @ EERESTHASME @
Performance Share  Retirement
Salaries related based benefit
and incentive payment scheme
Fee  allowances payments expenses  contributions Total
LRI
ek  RREBR O BROR BWNEN
i3k =TI I NE Bx R 45t

HK$000  HK$O00  HK$000  HKFOOO  HK000  HK$O0O
TET TET TET TET TET TET

For the year ended HE2023E12A31H

31 December 2023 HEFE
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Lam Chi Fan (note 1) ME NS (F3H) = 2021 = = 18 2,039
Mr. Cheung Tung (note i) SRR AE (BEEi) = 2092 = = 8 2110
Mr. Chen Feng BRiE T4 = 2294 = = 2294
Mr. Lam Kam Cheung ML = 1,654 250 = 8 1922
Ms. Lam Fei Man MERL T = 134 100 = 18 1252

Independent non-executive BIEYTER

directors
Mr.Wong Chi Keung FERAE 240 = = = = 240
Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon Ml Yt ¥tz (M 5Ev)

(note v) 120 = = = = 120
Mr. Zhang Hwo Jie REERE 240 = = = = 240
Mr.Wu Tak Lung (note v) SERELE () 120 = = = = 120
Dr. Cheung Wah Keung (note iv) REESRTE L (HisEv) 120 - - = = 120

840 9,195 350 - 72 10,457

BREEERAE 0usExs 207



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Mr Lam Chi Fan, redesignated from executive director to non-executive
director of the Company with effective from | August 2024 is also the

Chairman of the Board.

Mr: Cheung Tung, an executive director of the Company; is also the President of

the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments have been paid

by the Group to the directors mentioned above as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

Dr. Cheung Wah Keung was appointed on 16 June 2023

Professor Lam Sing Kwong, Simon and Mr.Wu Tak Lung resigned (as directors

of the Company) on 12 June 2023 and 28 June 2023, respectively.

(b)  Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits during the

year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

(c)  Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Il BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(d)

(e)

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’

services

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Company did not pay
consideration to any third parties for making available directors’ services (2023:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such

directors

During the year ended 3| December 2024, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled body

corporates and connected entities of such directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 34, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the Company's
subsidiary was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or at any

time during the years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

210

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

12 REEASED

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHT FHT

As at | January RIAIH = -

Acquisition of an associate (note) g1 —YN=IN(i 3] 51,170 -

Share of profit of an associate FEAL B A B AT 5,025 -

Exchange difference ERELR (1,541) =

As at 31 December »®12831H 54,654 =
Note: Bzt

On 14 October 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Subsidiary”) and,
among others, M DK Holdings ApS entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement’) pursuant to which the Subsidiary agreed to subscribe for 45% equity interest
of M DK Holdings ApS upon closing at a consideration of EUR 6,000,000 (equivalent to

approximately HK$51,170,000).

Set out below is the associate of the Group as at 3| December 2024 that is
considered material to the Group. The entity listed below has share capital consisting
solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The country of

incorporation s also its principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership

interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

R2024F 108 148 KX RE—H2EWN B
2B (TZMBAR)) & (HREE)M DK

Holdings ApSs] 1IsRE ek ((REEWEE)) -

Bt ZHBRARENTEREURE

6,000,00081 7T (18 & H24351,170,00078 7T) 328

M DK Holdings ApSHI45%& & o

TXEHR2024E 1283 B R A H
FEEBEAMAERBE AT T
FIERNEAEREBRMAR BE
EEEEREFE EMMIEARTAH
TESEME BEEERNLEG R
PR R ERI LB o

Place of
incorporation/
operations/ Measurement
Name of associate establishment % of ownership interest method Carrying amount
RIS
-YNSIEaE DAvEIE hE R FEFEE IREE
2024 2024 2023
20244 20235 20245 20236
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
M DK Holdings ApS Denmark 45% Equity method 54,654 N/A
M DK Holdings ApS & 45% Bk 54,654 TER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

(i)

LR E MR RMEE

12 REEAEERD (8

Summarised financial information for an associate ) HEATNMBEREE
The tables below provide summarised financial information for the Group's TRERAEBEAHBELT
material associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in N BERBE-MIRENSE
the financial statements of the relevant associate and not the Group's share of MR BRAER S AR B RE
those amounts. The amounts have been amended to reflect adjustments made PR EEE ML IERNER
by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustments and PREEHNEBE ZEEEEHE
modifications for differences in accounting policies. Bl UMz ERTEEAE
AR ENBE GFAT
EFBRM G ERERMF
R
2024
20245
HK$’000
FHERT
Financial position as at 31 December 2024 1220245 12831 BB ARR
Current assets BB E 287,129
Non-current assets FERBEE 27,673
Current liabilities neaE (261,850)
Non-current liabilities ERBERG (55,523)
Net liabilities BEEE (2,571)
Profit or loss for the period from B20245 108 14B#£E20245F 12831 H
14 October 2024 to 31 December 2024 AR RV IR
Revenue WA 303,965
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period HAR & A K 2 E W s 4R 88 11,165
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AT IR R MIEE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

(i)

Summarised financial information for an associate (continued)

REFE AT RER (8)

) BEIRANMBENRE @

2024
20245
HK$'000
FHET
Reconciliation to carrying amounts: AREEHAR :
Opening net liabilities at book value as at acquisition date RUHE BRI ARE E SRR B R %8R (14,068)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the period from BH2024F 108 14B#EE20245F 1283181k
14 October 2024 to 31 December 2024 HEEAN R 2 ER R 11,165
Exchange difference EREH 332
Closing net assets as at 3| December RI2A3 HNERBEEE (2,571)
Group's share in % REBPILE% 45%
Group's share of closing net liabilities FEEBLIAREERE (1,157)
Notional goodwill (note) LEHE () 55811
Carrying value as at 31 December R12B31 BREREE 54,654

Note:

Through the investment of the associate, the Group penetrated into the markets of

Denmark and the European Union with the existing customers of the associate. The

notional goodwill represents the market presence, and the synergies by contributing

the Group's expertise in the manufacturing technology know-how and products to the

associate in connection with sales with existing customers and expansions to the U.S.

and other Europe markets.

Commitments and contingent liabilities in respect of an associate

The Group's associate did not have any significant capital commitments and

contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: None).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

I3 INCOME TAX EXPENSE SR
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Current tax: BIERTRIA

Hong Kong profits tax (note i) ERMER (HEH) 506 7,521

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") (note ii) PRI PSR (TREMRER)
(B =Ei) 21212 25,231
Overseas taxation BIMRIE 4,987 =

PRC withholding tax on distributed profits from REFEHEABE DR
PRC subsidiaries FREITEIR 5,038 11,158
31,743 43910

Over provision in prior years; BEFEBEEE.
Hong Kong Profits Tax EHENER @1 (44)
PRCEIT REl PR HR - 10
(21) (34)
Deferred taxation (note 21) RIERRIA (REE21) 5,124 (1,766)
36,846 42,110
Notes: BieE

(i) On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%, while only one entity nominated by a group of
“connected entities” will be entitled to select the lower tax rate. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be

taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

() R0I8E[/NIB BBULERET
(2017F1% (BT (B75%) HRAIE
Z) (T8E)) »ZERSIATMEF
BRREGIE - ZEEN2018F3H28
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FoREMBANEHRRXFE /TS
BENNEESENEEERATA
Tl 8. 5% BR2EEATH
i FIAZ 1 6.5% R M — 4 TR E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

13

214

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits

above HK$2 million.

(i) Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, PRC EIT is calculated based on
the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profit of those subsidiaries established in
the PRC for both years, except for certain PRC subsidiaries being approved as High
and New Technology Enterprise by the relevant government authorities which are

subject to a preferential tax rate of 15% for a 3-year period which will expire in 2026.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before income tax

per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

follows:

FrSHR (&)

FRMSHAXERS

BmRkHEME

T W i 5% B9 Bk P 1S 70 A 0 ) 3 AR

T

2024 2023
20245 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Profit before income tax PREFSIR AT 199,495 122,612
Less: Share of profit of an associate B EAEEE AR (5,025) -
194,470 122,612
Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate at 16.5% BEBNBHRRE 65%
(2023: 16.5%) (20234 © 165%) FHHHRIE 32,088 2023
Effect on different tax rates of subsidiaries operatingin  EEMBZEREBZNIB AR
other jurisdictions B ES A 11,190 14,139
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes ] 170 B &z BUFR 7% 57 & 3,475 6,147
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes BEMMNIRANRZEZE (9,243) (22,186)
Over provision in prior years BEFEBEREE @21) (34)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised KEDRBEENRBELE 1,864 19472
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognised HRBFRBINBES (7,289) (17)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of FREIFE A B R D IRE A A TEIR
PRC subsidiaries 4,947 4523
Income tax on concessionary rate REBREGFENMER (165) (165)
Income tax expense FrigMBx 36,846 42,110
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

216

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$1.0 cents per share, amounting to approximately
HK$17,500,000 in total was paid on 10 October 2024. Subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, a final dividend of HK$!1.3 cents (2023: HK$I1.3 cents) per
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, amounting to approximately
HK$22,750,000 has been proposed by the board of directors and is subject to approval
of shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed final dividend

is not recognised as a liability as at 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a subsidiary of the Company paid dividend
amounting to approximately HK$2,668,000 (2023: HK$15,191,000) to non-controlling

interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EARNINGS PER SHARE 15

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners

LR E MR RMEE

SREF

AREEEANREERESREER

of the Company is based on the following data: FHRBEU T E8IEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FHT
Earnings for the purpose of basic and SEESREAREERN 2 BA
diluted earnings per share:
Profit for the year attributable to owners RNRE R NEEER T
of the Company 138,068 62,593
Number of shares for the purpose of basic and diluted stESRERREEEE Y
loss per share: (000) BHEE : (TR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares forthe ~ sTEESRERNEERAIZ
purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share EERMETIH 1,750,002 1,750,002
Basic and diluted earnings per share (HK cents) BREAREERF GBI 7.89 358

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 does not assume the exercise of the share options as the exercise prices of
those share options are higher than the average market price of shares and they are

antidilutive during the years ended 3| December 2024 and 2023.

STEEE2024F 522023F 12831 H IE
FENSREERI I ERIBERE
BT REARZEBERENTEE
SRBHREE2024F K2023F 128
3B EFENFHEImERLEAS R#E
%E&ﬁﬁo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% BRERRE

Leasehold
improvements,
Freehold furniture Construction
land and Plant and and Motor in
buildings machinery fixtures vehicles progress Total
ik
KAERE BER MERE.
THRET WE BLRRE HE fRRIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T

Cost %

At | January 2023 20231818 138,105 524315 270,088 1,628 20497 964,633
Additions NE - 18414 8619 812 34393 62,238
Disposals HE - (658) (15) (225) (353) (1251)
Transfer from construction in progress & BEE T2 - 4273 = = (4273) =
Transfer to investment properties BREREME (H:L18)

(note 18) (12,060) - - = = (12,060)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—EREAT = = 3 = - 3
Exchange differences ERER (3.983) 6721 2.079) 316) (66) (13,165)
At 31 December 2023 2023 128318 122,062 539,623 276,644 11899 50,198 1000426
Additions RE 74 3122 3,106 1,725 19,808 65,835
Disposals HE = (6,108) (31,275) (1,059) (941) (39,383)
Transfer from construction in progress ## BTERET12 = 695 1,344 = (12,039) =
Exchange differences ERER (4.155) (9,345) (3,066) (412) (956) (17934)
At 31 December 2024 20245 128315 117,981 555,987 266,753 12,153 56070 1008944
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PA TS ER R M 5T

fe= A
77 o = |

l6  ¥%E- BERRE (@

Leasehold
improvements,
Freehold furniture Construction
land and Plant and and Motor in
buildings machinery fixtures vehicles progress Total
g
kAR BER MEEE.
THREF WE BLREE AE HBRIE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
Depreciation and impairment ERRE
At | January 2023 R023EIB1H 72,502 270,193 149,596 9,480 - 501,771
Depreciation for the year (note b) ~ FAITE (izb) 6,137 41270 22430 669 = 70,506
Disposals HE = (479) 4) (206) - (689)
Transfer to investment properties B EREVE (Hi5F18)

(note 18) (5,347) - - - - (5,347)
Exchange differences ERES (2204) (3,586) (1,454) (259) = (7,503)
At 31 December 2023 R2023%12831H 71,088 307,398 170568 9,684 - 558,738
Depreciation for the year (note b)  ZEP94TE (HfzEb) 5930 39,856 24748 762 = 71,296
Disposals HE = (5,503) (19.900) (962) = (26,365)
Exchange differences ERER (2656) (5,189) (2319) 3210 = (10485)
At 31 December 2024 20245 128318 74,362 336,562 173,097 9,163 = 593,184
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2024 120245 128315 43619 219425 93,656 2990 56,070 415,760
At 31 December 2023 12023 128315 50974 232,225 106,076 2215 50,198 441,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |
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220

AT IR R MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

@

Depreciation methods and useful lives

Property, plant and equipment, comprising buildings, plant and machinery,
leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures, and motor vehicles are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are

incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost over its estimated useful lives, at the following

rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements, 0% to 33.3% or over the term

furniture and fixtures of the lease, whichever is shorter

Buildings Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 35 years
Plant and machinery 10% -20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The assets' useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each

consolidated statement of financial position date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

@

Depreciation methods and useful lives (continued)

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable

amount.

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
the carrying amount and are recognised within administrative expenses in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under
construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less impairment losses,
if any. No provision for depreciation is made on assets under construction in
progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and available
for their intended use. On completion, the relevant assets are transferred to

property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of approximately HK$1,782,000 (2023: HK$624,000) is included
in selling and distribution expenses; and HK$6,569,000 (2023: HK$6,944,000) in
administrative expenses; HK$59,807,000 (2023: HK$61,949,000) in cost of sales;
and HK$3,138,000 (2023: HK$989,000) in research and development costs in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
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222

AT IR R MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(©

Impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets

As a result of the unfavourable performance of certain subsidiaries
incorporated/established in the US, and the PRC (the “Under-Performing
Subsidiaries”) which subsidiaries are operating manufacturing and wholesale
of health and household products, and operating retail shops during the year
ended 31 December 2024, respectively, the management conducted impairment
assessments of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the
Under-Performing Subsidiaries. The Under-Performing Subsidiaries are separated
into certain cash generating units (“CGU") for the purpose of the impairment
assessment which are the US. CGU and PRC CGUs. A CGU is considered to
be impaired when its recoverable amount declines below its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of

disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

©

Impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets (continued)

The management conducted impairment assessments of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the US. CGU as at 31 December 2024.
The recoverable amounts of the US. CGU was determined based on value
in use calculations and certain key assumptions. Value in use calculations used
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management
covering a five-year period. The model assumes an average growth rate of 10%
(2023: 10%) for the five-year period, a pre-tax discount rates of 16.9% (2023:
17.1%). Cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using growth
rate of 2% (2023: 2%). Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that
reflects market assessment of the time value of money and specific risk relating

to the industry.

Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as
the recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the
average growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% (2023:
19) lower than management’s estimates at 3|1 December 2024, the Group
would have had to recognise an impairment amounting to HK$15,657,000
(2023: HK$12,759,000).

The management conducted impairment assessments of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the PRC CGUs as at 31 December 2024.
Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as

the recoverable amount of the CGUs was higher than its carrying value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT IR R MIEE

4= A
Wi 3

17  LEASES

@

Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

17

HE

@ REEEERRREINEEE

Leased land Leasehold
use right properties Machinery Total
HELH
et HEME s it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT FATT FHT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
At | January 2023 1R2023F 1B 18 19,570 219,072 9275 247917
Additions B = 61,252 5,169 66,421
Transfer to investment in EEREARKRE (W)
sublease (note i) = (2,149) = (2,149)
Depreciation (note i) E (s (568) (71,777) (3,046) (75,391)
Exchange differences EREH (547) (939) 9) (1,495)
At 31 December 2023 12023% 128311 18,455 205,459 11,389 235,303
Additions RE = 148,468 3900 152,368
Depreciation (note ii) & (=) (558) (79.953) (3,627) (84,138)
Exchange differences EREH (610) (3,556) (40) (4,206)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 17,287 270,418 11,622 299,327
As at 31 December 2023 2023128318
Cost DN 26,709 412,462 15,396 454,567
Accumulated depreciation REITERABE
and impairment (8254) (207,003) (4,007) (219,264)
Net book amount REEE 18,455 205,459 11,389 235303
As at 3| December 2024 20245128318
Cost %N 25,820 442,534 19,041 487,395
Accumulated depreciation REHTERRE
and impairment (8533) (172,116) (7419) (188,068)
Net book amount REEE 17,287 270418 11,622 299,327
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17  LEASES (continued)

@

Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued)

()

A subsidiary has entered into sub-lease agreements regarding a leased
property. The portion of right-of-use assets that was associated with the

sublease agreement has been derecognised accordingly.

Depreciation expenses of HK$59,691,000 (2023: HK$52,464,000) has
been charged in cost of sales, HK$5450,000 (2023: HK$4,772,000)
charged in administrative expenses and HK$18,997,000 (2023:
HK$18,155,000) in selling and distribution expenses respectively.

7 FHE®

@

LR E MR RMEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

7  LEASES (continued) 17 MHE®
(@)  Amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet (continued) @ RESEELRREINEE @
Leasehold
properties Machinery Total
HEME HaR #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Lease liabilities HEaF
At | January 2023 1R2023F 1B 15 290,370 9,371 299,741
Additions nE 58,719 5226 63,945
Payments (e (93,807) (3,566) (97,373)
Interest expenses F 2Rz 14,632 601 15233
Exchange differences EREE (796) (10) (806)
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 269,118 11,622 280,740
Additions = 145,684 3,900 149,584
Payments (N (98,023) (4,113) (102,136)
Interest expenses FERZ 17,238 655 17,893
Exchange differences ERELE (3,350) (42) (3392)
At 3| December 2024 1220245128318 330,667 12,022 342,689
As at 31 December 2023 20235128315
Representing; 5
Current BNHER 69,621 3012 72,633
Non-current JERNER 199,497 8610 208,107
Total AR5t 269,118 11,622 280,740
As at 3| December 2024 20245128318
Representing; 15
Current AR 88,043 3,883 91926
Non-current JERDER 242,624 8,139 250,763
Total #BEt 330,667 12,022 342,689
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LR E MR RMEE

LEASES (continued) 17 MHE®
Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement: b REFEREREDEEE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) %HE BENFE (HEE8) 17,893 15233
Expense relating in short-term or low-valued WHREENREBERERRAN
leases (note 9) ﬁ?ﬂfi (PF5E9) 8,576 10,370
Concessionaire commission for department BERREEFTEEMRE (H:9)
store counters (note 9) 33,973 37,281
60,442 62,884

(©

(e)

()

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash outflow for leases was
HK$ 144,685,000 (2023: HK$145,024,000).

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor: Leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes. Details of the lease maturity analysis

of lease liabilities are set out in notes 3.1(ii).

See note 16(c) for further details of impairment assessment on right-of-use

assets.

Accounting policies of leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Rental contracts
are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to |0 years. Lease terms are negotiated

on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

17

228

LEASES (continued)

() Accounting policies of leases (continued)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease

component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease

payments:
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease

incentives receivable

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise that option, and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17  LEASES (continued)

(®

Accounting policies of leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also

included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where possible, uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was

received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for

each period.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12

months or less.

LR E MR RMEE

7 FHE®

BEEBEERAA

HENE SR (@

RESEETEREZERFY
MEENRITSARRNE.

MEMRRBHEERREZ R
RFLUFR-HELZEZEE
ZHR (FEENEE—REIL
BER) AERAEANLEE
B RUH R > BDE B AT A £ 48
DU EIR IR AR EOURR 1]
RRFHESEERESER
ERELNEEMBRESMA
SATHIRE o

RHEEEEERNE £&HE
CRENEREBARLERZS
ZHMERESE LFHBA
BURMBESE=AREU
RRERFZEF o

HENRHORASHMBER
MEBOE VUHERNRELN
FHNERDNINMG UFHE
HEERBEEGECEEE
BRI o

REHEEREBNTRZER
BERGAREakHEMEER
mERAEE R - EHEE
EHERANNERIUTHAE

B

200 EERSE

229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A
777 g |

230

AT IR R MIEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REME
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TET
As at | January ISEEI=! 31,525 28,073
Depreciation for the year FRITE (2,469) (2,516)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 16) B2 - BE K& H (5E16) = 6,713
Exchange differences FERELR (1,030) (745)
As at 31 December ®12A831H 28,026 31,525
Fair value, as at 31 December (note i) RI2B31 BN ATE (Hz) 151,484 190,292
Notes: B5E
() The fair value of the investment properties was determined by an independent valuer, () REVENLAFELRAGRIEE

Asset Appraisal Limited, who holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification
and has recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties
being valued (2023: same).

The fair values of the investment properties were determined based on the market
comparable approach which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The inputs used in the fair value measurements mainly include the market unit sale
rate of comparable properties of similar size, nature and location. There has been
no change from the valuation technique used in the prior year and there were no

transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The above investment properties are depreciated

on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, depreciation expense has been charged in

administrative expenses (2023: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LR E MR RMEE

GOODWILL meE
HK$'000
FAET
As at | January 2023 023FE 181/ =
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries R E AR EE 5518
Exchange differences ERERR (170)
As at 31 December 2023 120235128318 5,348
As at | January 2024 and 3| December 2023 7202451 B | B 520235128315 5,348
Exchange differences ERELR (178)
As at 31 December 2024 120245128318 5,170

Management monitors and reviews the business performance at the cash-generating
unit (“CGU") level. On 21 April 2023, the Group acquired 100% of shares in Sinomax
(Dongguan) Sleep Technology Limited. The Group recognised goodwill in relation to

such acquisition and allocated to the CGU at the acquisition date.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculation.
These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. The model assumes an average
growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%) for the five-year period, a pre-tax discount rate of 29.2%
(2023: 29.0%). Cash flows beyond the five years period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates of 2% (2023: 2%).

Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects market assessment of the

time value of money and specific risk relating to the industry.

Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as the
recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the average
growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% (2023: 1%) lower
than management’s estimates at 31 December 2024, the Group would have had to
recognise an impairment amounting to HK$104,000 (2023: HK$600,000).
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20 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 0 ®‘EEE
Customer
Brand name relationship Total
mhs ERRM% Mt
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TET TET FET
At | January 2023 1R2023F 1818
Cost B A 85,483 62,769 148252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R FH 3 KR E (76,391) (60,684) (137,075)
Net book amount REDEE 9,092 2,085 1,177
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE0BF1NA3NBLEEE
Opening net book amount HRERE 9,092 2,085 11,177
Amortisation charges (note b) BEER (b) (1,137) (641 (1,778)
Closing net book amount HRERERE 7,955 | 444 9,399
At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024  }420235F 128318 K&
20241818
Cost B A 85,483 62,769 148252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R ET 3 KRB (77,528) (61,325) (138,853)
Net book amount REDEE 7955 | 444 9,399
Year ended 3| December 2024 HE04F 1283 HLEEE
Opening net book amount HYRERE 7955 | 444 9399
Amortisation charges (note b) BEER (3b) (1,137) (641 (1,778)
Closing net book amount BACRERMEZE 6818 803 7,621
At 31 December 2024 2024128318
Cost A 85,483 62,769 148,252
Accumulated amortisation and impairment & 5H 8 KRB (78,665) (61,966) (140,631)
Net book amount REFE 6818 803 7,621
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

@

Amortisation methods and useful lives

()

(i)

Customer relationship

Customer relationship was acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a finite useful life
and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and

impairment losses.

The customer relationship has finite useful lives ranging from 7 years
to 10 years and is amortised on a straight-line basis. Its useful life was
determined with reference to a number of factors, including historical
customer data and management's experience and industry knowledge.
Useful lives of customer relationship are reviewed at the end of each

reporting period by considering the changes in above factors.

Brand name

Brand name was acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the brand name is developed through years of advertising,
promotional campaigns and customer satisfaction. Brand name has a
definite useful life of [0 years and is subsequently carried at cost less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

20

234

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(b)

(©

Amortisation of intangible assets of HK$641,000 (2023: HK$641,000) is
included in selling and distribution expenses and HK$1,137,000 (2023:
HK$1,137,000) is included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment on intangible assets

Management monitors and reviews the business performance at the cash-
generating units (“CGU") level. In 2016, the Group acquired 51% equity interest
in Dormeo North America, LLC (“Dormeo”). The Group recognised intangible
assets of brand name and customer relationship in relation to such acquisition
and allocated to the Dormeo CGU at the acquisition date.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use
calculation. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The
model assumes an average growth rate of 3% (2023: 4%) for the five-year
period, a pre-tax discount rate of 18.7% (2023: 17.9%). Cash flows beyond
the five years period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates of 2%
(2023: 29%). Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects market

assessment of the time value of money and specific risk relating to the industry.

Based on the value-in-use calculations, there are no impairment recognised as
the recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than its carrying value. If the
average growth rate used in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% (2023:
19%) lower than management’s estimates at 3| December 2024, the Group
would have had to recognise an impairment amounting to HK$2,564,000 (2023:
HK$1,677,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

DEFERRED TAXATION 2 EERRIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting UNTARPBRESEHNRIERBLS
purposes: vt
2024 2023
20244F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TATT
Deferred tax assets FIERIEEE 51,512 57,086
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEAE (11,077) (11,541)
40,435 45,545
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) assets recognised and UTFAREFERBEFEERIN
movements thereon during the current and prior years: BRILERBEE (BR) REEZ
g .

(@) Deferred tax assets

o) IEIERIAEE

—

Allowance for

Unrealised inventories

profit in Tax and credit
inventories losses losses Lease Others Total

FERH ZEREE
RERET nEEE BHEEE HE Hith st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

At | January 2023 *203FIBI1H 7,846 41,249 11,728 = 1,776 62,599
(Charged)/credited to profitorloss X382 (0B) /5 A (4749) (21,556) 18,867 13,041 (249) 5,354
Exchange differences ERESR - 83 (200) - = (117)
At 31 December 2023 720235128318 3097 19,776 30,395 13,041 1527 67,836
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss 1338z 5t A/ (F163) 127 774 (3422) 9,535 (83) 6931
Exchange differences ERELH S (86) (206) = - (292)
At 31 December 2024 720245128318 3204 20464 26,767 22576 1444 4475
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(b)

BTSRRI EE
21 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 2l RERRIE (@
Deferred tax liabilities b IEERERE
Undistributed Fair value
profits of adjustment
PRC  on intangible
subsidiaries assets Lease Total
B =
REZFR BEZR
kiR TERR HE w5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET
At | January 2023 72023181 H (16879) (2,348) - (19227
(Charged)/credited to REE (N FtA
profit or loss (4523) 373 (10,750) (14900)
Release upon payment of NEZ A E RO
dividends to profit or loss 11,312 = = 1,312
Exchange differences (R =R 524 = = 524
At 31 December 2023 72023128318 (9.566) (1975) (10750) 22291)
(Charged)/credited to KB (08) FTA
profit or loss (4947) 373 (12213) (16787)
Release upon payment of INSRN AN ST ey
dividends to profit or loss 4732 = = 4732
Exchange differences EREH 306 - - 306
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 (9,475) (1,602) (22,963) (34,040)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21  DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

(b)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, no deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of tax loss amounting to HK$338,318,000 (2023: HK$378,107,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of HK$I16,107,000 (2023: HK$163,662,000) and
HK$56,039,000 (2023: HK$56,039,000) that will be expired from 2024 to 2028
and from 2037 to 2038, respectively. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of deductible temporary differences arising from allowance inventories
and credit loss amounting to HK$3,469,000 (2023: HK$13,507,000) as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
at 10% in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to the
undistributed profit of certain PRC subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024
amounting to HK$ 188,785,000 (2023: HK$163,741,000), as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable

that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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INVENTORIES =8
2024 2023
20245 2023%
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Raw materials Rkt 199,443 216,131
Work in progress T8G 43242 61,031
Finished goods ECy ) 233,863 231,585
476,548 508,747

The cost of inventories is recognised as expenses and included in cost of sales

amounted to HK$2,372,585,000 (2023: HK$2,078,371,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the inventories of the Group are stated after a provision for

impairment on inventories of approximately HK$79,032,000 (2023: HK$94,457,000).

Accounting policies of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods comprises merchandises
and other direct costs. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the
basis of weighted average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in

the ordinary course of business less estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Sinomax Group Limited 2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B BRRHEMERRE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Trade receivables EZERE 649,369 573,533
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 3.1 (ii)(b)(ii)) B EEBEBEE IEE.13) b)) (23,362) (30,679)
Trade receivables, net BB EWEIE 35 626,007 542,854
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables B& BT RRIE R HAN R WGRIE
Cash consideration receivables (note a) FEUCR S RE (Mista) - 28918
Prepayments for purchasing raw materials and BERMENBEMNREREERX
operating expenses 93,499 58,689
Rental and other deposits HEeREMEZE 45,406 38,642
Other taxes recoverable HMERIEIRIE 32,066 26,300
Net investment in sublease DHEFRE 858 2,448
Others Hith 9,259 8,168
181,088 163,165
Total trade and other receivables B 5% R HME W RIEARE 807,095 706,019
Less: DN
Non-current portion of other receivables HA W RIERI FERNER SR (29,822) (19272)
Current portion BRERER 73 777273 686,747

BEEBEERAA
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AT IR R MIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

@

The balance represents the consideration receivables in relation to the disposal
of 51% equity interest in Chengdu Xingang Sponge Co. Ltd. completed in 2019.
According to the sale and purchase agreement, the total cash consideration of

the disposal was agreed to be settled in four instalments.

According to a supplemental agreement between B35 (H)T) & EEH M
APFRAE (Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology Limited*), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and the purchaser of 51% equity interest
in Chengdu Xingang Sponge Co. Ltd. dated Il March 2022, the payment
arrangement of the fourth instalment (the “Fourth Instalment”) was revised as

follows:

(i) RMB22,000,000 of the Fourth Instalment shall be paid by |5 March 2022;

(i) RMBI0,000,000 of the Fourth Instalment shall be paid by |5 March 2023;

and

(i) the remaining balance of RMB25,000,000 of the Fourth Instalment shall
be paid by |5 March 2024,

together with the payable interest which shall accrue from and including the
Second Payment Due Date (as defined in the sale and purchase agreement)
until and including the respective dates of actual payments as set out in (i), (ii)

and (iii) above, respectively, at the rate of 3% per annum.

The Group received the settlement of RMB25,000,000 and RMB10,000,000
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, respectively,

as set out in (iii) and (i) above.

*  English translated name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group's retail sales are made through both its retail network comprising stand-
alone retail shops and concession counters in department stores, and internet sales.
The Group also sells heatth and household products directly to overseas wholesalers
and retailers, and the polyurethane foam to furniture manufacturers in the PRC. Sales
at self-operated retail shops and sales through retailers in the PRC and internet sales
are transacted either by cash or credit cards. For sales made at concession counters,
the department stores collect cash from the end customers and then repay the balance
after deducting the concessionaire commission to the Group. The credit period granted
to the department stores ranges from 30 days to 120 days. For sales to wholesalers,
retailers and furniture manufacturers, the Group generally allows a credit period ranging

from 7 days to 90 days.

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses,

presented based on invoice date.
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2024 2023

2024%F 20235

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHT FHT

Within 30 days 30B A 299,538 291,527
31 to 60 days 3I1E60H 182,853 166,643
61 to 90 days 61E90H 96,867 80,161
91 to 180 days 91E180H 32,678 3,188
181 to 365 days 181 2365H 14,071 1,335
626,007 542,854
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ATk R MI5E

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services

performed in the ordinary course of business.

They are generally due for settlement within one year and therefore are all
classified as current assets. Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose contractual
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, were factored
to reputable financial institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement
according to the Group's daily fund management needs. These trade receivable's
business model is therefore achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling of these assets. Such trade receivables were therefore classified as

financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income.

For details of the accounting policies and impairment policies, please refer to
note 3.1(ii)(b).

Fair value of trade receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount

is considered to be the same as their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii)

Impairment and risk exposure

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables. Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the

group's exposure to credit risk and foreign currency risk can be found in note

3.1ii)(b).

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade receivables balance

are debtors with aggregate net carrying amount of HK$122,599,000 (2023:

HK$183,846,000) which are past due as at 31 December 2024. Out of the
past due balances, HK$7,615,000 (2023: HK$8,290,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by considering the background
of the trade receivables and historical payment arrangement of these trade

receivables. The Group does not hold any collateral over the balances.

LR E MR RMEE
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24  BILL RECEIVABLES 24 RWE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Bill receivables BWRRE 117,599 72211
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEERERE (5.234) (5234)
112,365 66977
The amount represents bill receivables which are not yet due at the end of the ZETEARBRESHARERAANE
reporting periods. The following is the aging analysis of bill receivables, net of allowance WEE - UTANEREHRZHEIH
for credit losses, based on their time to maturities as at the end of reporting periods: NEZINEKER (KNREES
BER REDF !
2024 2023
20245 20236
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FTAT
Within 30 days 30B A 23,374 11949
31 to 60 days 31E60H 18,956 1,614
61 to 90 days 61E90H 23810 11,691
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 43,704 31,723
181 to 365 days I81ZE365H 2,521 =
112,365 66977
Included in the bill receivables above amounting to approximately HK$94,968,000 (31 FHEWREES494,968,0008 T
December 2023: HK$40,649,000) had been endorsed for settling the trade payables (2023512831 H : 40,649,00078 7T)
for which the maturity dates of the bill receivables have not yet fallen due as at the end EEMLERNEBNEZRORIE B
of the reporting period. All bill receivables of the Group are with a maturity period of PRKEZEENISHERREARER
less than one year. FHE - AE BN AR ERN I

BRI DI — o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE RECEIVABLES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose contractual cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, were factored to reputable financial
institutions under non-recourse factoring arrangement. The Group's business model is
therefore achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling of these assets.
Such trade receivables was therefore classified as financial assets carried at fair value

through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

As at 31 December 2024, the effective interest rates of the factored trade receivables
at FVOCI ranged from 549% to 6.99% per annum (2023: 6.01% to 7.51% per
annum). Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs adopted for their fair value
measurements are disclosed in note 3.3. As at 3| December 2024 and 2023, the fair
value changes on trade receivables at FVOCI are insignificant and accordingly, no fair

value changes are recognised in equity as FVOCI reserve.
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246

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (BY CATEGORY)

(i)

Categories of financial instruments

% EETAR GHERESD)

() ERTEAER

2024
20244
Financial

assets at fair

2023
20234
Financial

assets at fair

Financial ~ value through Financial  value through
assets at other assets at other
amortised comprehensive amortised comprehensive
cost income cost income
EREM BiEHAM
2EKE 2HWE
msHEmA BATE mEHEME BRYE
SRRz SRRz SRz HIiRZ
ERMEE ERMEE EHMEE EHEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET FHET
Financial assets TREE
Trade receivables B SR EIE 626,007 - 547,854 =
Bill receivables BWER 112,365 - 66977 -
Deposits and other receivables e REMAEWRIE
(excluding prepayments and FEEERMRIER
other taxes recoverable) HthERIETRIE) 55,523 - 78,176 -
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIREEEY 262,436 = 309923 =
Trade receivables at fair value through 48 ELfth 2 E U &=
other comprehensive income BAFEHRZ
B 5 BIRIAR - 36,472 - 34,129
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26  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (BY CATEGORY) (continued)

()  Categories of financial instruments (continued)

26

EMTA GERED) @

() SRTAMNLER @@

2024 2023
20244 20234
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised amortised
cost cost
R A R A
FERZ HIRZ
ERaE TREE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7T THT
Financial liabilities EREE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENIE
(excluding deferred government grant) (R BRI AT #EE)) 742,991 674976
Bill payables INEE 29,690 31,183
Bank borrowings RITE™N 401,102 441,878
Lease liabilities HE&E 342,689 280,740

Note:

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost approximate their

carrying amounts.

Bi5E -

REERAY Rz EREERBEZ

AT ERHEREERE-

BEEBEERAA
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248

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERFEEEY
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash at banks and in hand RITRFERES 262,436 309,923
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Denominated in: LU EsEsHE
— HK$ —B7T 41,762 30,238
- RMB - AR 126,679 147,922
— US$ —E7T 87,074 118,638
—VND —WEE 3,274 10,714
— Canadian Dollars — 7T 3,633 2,396
— Others —HAth 14 15
262,436 309,923
Note: Mt

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group performed impairment
assessment on bank balances and concluded that the probability of defaults of the

counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$126,679,000 (2023: HK$147,922,000), approximately
HK$ 126,656,000 (2023: HK$147,920,000) of which was domiciled in the mainland China. The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies in the mainland China, however, under
the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 8 BRRHEMEMRE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Trade payables B RENIE 487,035 452711
Accrued operating expenses PR ERE 90,303 85,355
Accrued salaries st 89,572 58,615
Other taxes payable HMEMARTR 27,700 32,228
Accrued royalties fEstHEEREE 33,226 26,238
Refundable deposits received BWAIRERSE 9,794 15,044
Deferred government grant LU AR B 869 |,288
Others Hith 5,361 4785
256,825 223,553
Total trade and other payables B 5 REMBEARIAEE 743,860 676,264
Less: P
Non-current portion of deferred government grant EEB B 2 FERNERER (494) (900)
Current portion ENERER 743,366 675,364
Included in trade and other payables above amounting to HK$94,968,000 (2023: ra B REMEMTREF
HK$40,649,000) had been settled by endorsed bills for which the maturity dates of the 94,968,000 7T (20234 : 40,649,0007%
bills receivables are not yet fallen due as at the end of the reporting period (note 24). T BUEHERBREG HEKE
BB RN REAREREEA (M
#24) o

BREESRAE 0uF5EHs 249
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28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 8  BESREMECGRE @

BRBRMRENEERNFI0E60
H-UTRARERBHRE2INEZE

The credit period of trade payables ranged from 30 to 60 days. The following is the

aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date.

IRUIBR AR A7 o

2024 2023
20245 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Within 30 days 30BMUA 302,254 304,211
31 to 60 days 31E60H 96,598 95418
61 to 90 days 61908 38,806 22,820
91 to 180 days 91%180H 39,894 23251
Over 180 days B 180H 9,483 7011
487,035 452711

29  BILL PAYABLES 29 EEER

UFARBREHARRELERRE
SIBYFE A AR IR B D AT

The following is the aging analysis of bill payables at the end of the reporting periods

presented based on bills issue dates:

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FEx

Within 30 days 30H MR 3,305 7,340
31 to 60 days 31E60H 2,151 10,002
61 to 90 days 61 E90H = 5010
91 to 180 days 91ZE180H 24,234 8831
29,690 31,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS 30 EIKIPIRITRERR
2024 2023
20245 20235
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH7 FET
Trade financing BomE 278,182 284,034
Revolving borrowings BIRE™M 117,200 128,200
Term borrowings TEHET 5,720 29,644
401,102 441,878

All bank borrowings carry a variable-rate interest with reference to Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate, Secured Overnight Financing Rate and Loan Prime Rate plus a

specific margin of the relevant banks.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates)

FRERTERARIDINER  2EF
BRITAZRENE - BRFRER
BHXRREBIEMM N LAERMIR
THREFERER -

FEENERERMNE (HTESR

on the Group's borrowings, are as follows: FTAYFIXR) SEMT
2024 2023
20244F 20235
Effective interest rates (per annum): BERAX (8F)
Variable-rate borrowings FENFEER 2.80%-6.43% 3.109%-741%

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than HK$ are set

FEELBTLOMIEBIIERNER

out below: B2l R N
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
RMB AR 227,743 249,168
US$ ESiv 62,139 52,578

BEEBEERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E MR R

30 UNSECURED BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 30

The Group's banking facilities are secured by the corporate guarantees given by

the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company except for a guarantee at
RMB13,200,000 (2023: RMB13,200,000) the bank facilities granted to a subsidiary of

the Group was provided by a non-controlling shareholder of this subsidiary of the

Group.

EIIRIRITER (8

FEBZRTREURNRTRARAT
HETHBRARMREZ ARERABIE
oAEE—REE AR ERNIR
TRYE AR 813,200,0007T (20234 :
AK13,200,0007T) BAEBZNE
NEIMFEE R IR ER IR AR RBRIN o

31 SHARE CAPITAL 3 R
Number of
shares Amount
R &E L]
'000 HK$'000
TE& FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.| each SREECIATNEER
Authorised: EE
At | January 2023, 3| December 2023 and P2023F 1 A1H2023F12831B &
31 December 2024 20247 12831H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Number of
shares Amount
LeanE =] Eal]
‘000 HK$'000
B FET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRERE :
At | January 2023, 3| December 2023 and F2023% 1 BIH 20235128318 %
31 December 2024 20244 12831H 1,750,002 175,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 4 March 2014, a share option scheme was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company (the "Post-IPO Share Option Scheme"). The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
becomes valid and effective on 10 July 2014 and will expire on the business day
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof. Subject to the rules of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, grantees may exercise the share options granted under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period commencing from the date of

grant and up to such expiry date as determined by the Board.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants with an opportunity to acquire the equity interests in the
Company, for their contributions to, and continuing efforts to promote the interest of
the Group or for such other purposes as the board of directors of the Company may
approve from time to time, linking their interests with the interests of the Group and
thereby attracting and encouraging those parties to work better for the interests of the

Group.

The eligible participants include any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any suppliers, customers, consultants,
agents and advisers who, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, will contribute

or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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254

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

The subscription price of a share of the Company in respect of any particular share
option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
directors of the Company in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price shall at least be the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share options may be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 0% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue at the Listing Date (without taking into account any shares that may
be issued upon the full exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme), being 165,000,000 shares of the company (“Option Limit"). Options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
(or any other share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Option Limit. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of
the Company, the Company may refresh the Option Limit at any time provided that (i)
the Option Limit as refreshed does not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of the approval by the shareholders of the Company; and (i) the
options previously granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance
with the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Option Limit as refreshed. The
Company may also, with the approval of the shareholders of the Company, grant
share options in respect of shares of the Company in excess of the Option Limit
(as refreshed from time to time) to eligible participants specifically identified by the

Company before such approval is sought.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group at any time shall not
exceed 30% of the issued shares of the Company from time to time. No share options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme) if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and which fall to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to
each grantee in any |2-month period up to the date of offer to grant shall not exceed
19 of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

In addition, any grant of share options to a director; chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates is required to be
approved by the independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is proposed to be an option holder) of the Company.
If the Company proposes to grant share options to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive director of the Company or their respective associates
which will result in the number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of share options granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of offer of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue; and having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, based
on the closing price of the Company's shares at the date of offer of each grant, such
further grant of share options will be subject to, in addition to the approval of the
independent non-executive directors, the approval of shareholders of the Company in

general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 3 BRETE @
The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued) BRAFRRERBRESS (@
The below table discloses movements of the Company's share options held by the TREBHAEEES - SHEEE
Group's directors, senior management and employees: REERENERATEBIRESSH .
Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
at Lapsed at Lapsed at
| January during 3| December during 3| December
Options Vesting period Exercise period 2023 the year 2023 the year 2024
Ik} RBE 120045
IRIE RER  1A3IA RER AR
ki BEH 17feH W RITHE K% EKRTE x¥ EKRTE
(Note) (Note)
(HizE) (MizE)
Directors
EZ
Tranche | 2601.2017-2601.2018  26.01.2018 - 25.01.2023 3,600,000 (3,600,000) = = -
s WITFIRBAE WISFIA6AE
2018%F 1 A26H 2023F 15250
Tranche 2 26012017-26012019 26012019 - 25012024 3,600,000 (900,000) 2,700,000 (2,700,000) -
BT WI7FIA6EE 0I9FIA26AE
2019818268 202418258
7,200,000 (4,500,000) 2,700,000 (2,700,000) -
Senior management
BREEE
Tranche | 26012017-26012018 26012018 -25.01.2023 700,000 (700,000) = = -
s WI7FEIABEE WIBFIABAE
201815268 2023F1525H
Tranche 2 26012017 -26012019 26012019 - 25012024 700,000 (250,000) 450,000 (450,000) -
ETH WI7EIFUEE WIYEIFUEE
W19F 1 A26H 202451 A25H
1,400,000 (950,000) 450,000 (450,000) -

BEEBEERAA

200 EERSE

257



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

32

258

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

R fEkiESE (@

BRAREERBRIESS (8

Outstanding Outstanding Outstanding
at Lapsed at Lapsed at
| January during 31 December during 31 December
Options Vesting period Exercise period 2023 the year 2023 the year 2024
Lk 3 103% 12045
IRIE RER  1RA3IA RER  1A3IA
faluig BRH T8 HRITE ES SN OE S ES SN OF S
(Note) (Note)
() ()
Employees
&5
Tranche | 2601.2017-2601.2018  2601.2018 - 2501.2023 5,250,000 (5250,000) = = =
s WI7EIABEE WIBFIABAE
2018F 15268 2023F 15250
Tranche 2 26012017-26012019 26012019 - 25012024 5,250,000 - 5,250,000 (5250,000) -
ETH WI7EIFUEE WIYEIFUEE
W019F 1 A26H 20241 A25H
10,500,000 (5250,000) 5,250,000 (5250,000) -
19,100000  (10,700,000) 8,400,000 (8,400,000) =
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 19,100,000 8,400,000 -
RREPRAFIHE
Note: BisE

Three eligible participants, who have been granted share options under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme have ceased to be eligible participants upon termination of employment and
the said share options have automatically lapsed during the year ended 3| December 2023.
All options expired during the year ended 31 December 2024. The lapsed share options
amounting to HK$1265,000 (2023: HK$2,174,000) are transferred from share options

reserve to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme (continued)

Details of the share options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are as

N FERESE (8

BRAREERBRIESS (8

REERAREERBRES RS

follows: HEREEBOT

Number of Fair value

share options Exercise per share

Date of grant granted Exercise period price option

R ERE SHBRE

REBH ¥B8 1T TEE ZATE

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Tranche | — Directors 26012017 3,750,000 26.01.2018-2501.2023 0.69 02022
E—H-EB= 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche | — Senior management ~ 26.01.2017 950,000 26.01.2018-25.01.2023 0.69 0.2041
F-H-SREER 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche | — Employees 26012017 10,700,000 26.01.2018-25.01.2023 0.69 0.2041
E—H—EE 201751 8268 201851 H26HE
20231 B25H

Tranche 2 — Directors 26012017 3,750,000 26.01.2019-25.01.2024 0.69 0.2002
E_H-EBS 201751 8268 20191 B26AE
202441 B25H

Tranche 2 — Senior management ~ 26.01.2017 950,000 26.01.2019-25.01.2024 0.69 0.2027
FIM-BREER 201751 8268 20191 H26BE
202441 B25H

Tranche 2 — Employees 26012017 10,700,000 26.01.2019-25.01.2024 0.69 0.2027
E_H—EE 201751 8268 20191 B26AE
202441 B25H

No outstanding share option as at 3| December 2024. (2023: The weighted average

remaining contractual lives is 0.07 years.)

The fair value of the share options at the grant date, calculated using the Binomial
Model was approximately HK$6,249,000. The Group did not recognise any expense
(2023: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2024 in relation to the share options
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme granted by the Company.

20245 12831 H WEEKITHEN
BERGHE (2023 | METHFGEL
FHIA0.074F) o

BREREEBBEEAZBARRE
HZATEA46,249,0008 T EE
2004 12B3 I BIEFE AEBHE
MARBARENERABEERE
R EIIEB T 2 BREEITARES
(20234 : &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS B GERERERME
(a)  Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash generated from @  PRFASIRENEFEBCEELREF
operations: RERVEHER
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHATT
Profit before income tax BRFTISIAT R A 199,495 122,612
Adjustments for: RT5IRIERE
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EEH 1,778 1,778
Depreciation of investment properties REYMEITE 2,469 2516
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)Z# BB KR EITE 71,296 70,506
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 84,138 75391
Finance costs B RLAR 50,085 49,785
Net (reversal of)/provision for CHEERERE (BR) BEFHE
impairment losses of financial assets (4,158) 1,321
Interest income FEUWA (6,867) (4515)
Gain on change in fair value of trade BiRHMEEWGEEATETIRZ
receivables at fair value through B 5 RINEIE 2 A EEE RS
other comprehensive income (458) (210)
Loss on initial recognition of investment BRERNAKRE 2B
in subleases = 761
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property plant HEME -BERREN
and equipment 518,/ (&) 12,158 (1211
(Reversal of provision)/provision for inventories 775 (B EE) / #iE (15,425) 34,189
Share of profit of an associate FEML I E A B EF (5,025) -
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33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

(continued)

@)

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash generated from

3 GRARSRERMEE @

@ FRERSRATEFREEEEREF

operations: (continued) ERAVEIER © (@
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Operating profit before working capital changes =18 & & 28 5 & 389,486 352,923
Changes in working capital: EEETEH
Changes in inventories FEEE) 38,878 7,070
Changes in trade and other receivables B 5% REMEWIEES) (143,698) (126,792)
Changes in trade receivables at fair value FREMEEE AR ATEIER Y
through other comprehensive income B3 REWIEEE) (1,885) (10,957)
Changes in bill receivables FE LSt ZE 45 S (46,937) 4534
Changes in trade and other payables B 5% REMENFRIEES) 62,908 202,091
Changes in contract liabilities GHNEEEY (2,761) 3,620
Changes in bill payables INEEES ) (460) 25901
Changes in net investment in sublease NEREFEEH 814 594
Changes in deferred government grant IRIEBUN fE Bh & & (379) (371)
Net cash generated from operations S ESIRSIFEE 295,966 458,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS B EABEERERME @

(continued)

(b)  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment b) HEME- -BERRHEZFAER
15
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, RiEeaRERERT LEY
plant and equipment comprise: X BERZRBZMERELS
&
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Net book amount: BRERE -
Property, plant and equipment (note 16) I R Rkt (5E16) 13,018 562
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEYE BERZEN
equipment (note 7) (B518) Mz (H5E7) (12,158) 1211
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEKREEZFTETRE
plant and equipment 860 1,773
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33

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PA TS ER R M 5T

(continued)

fe= A
777 g |

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS B GERERERME @
Net debt reconciliation © FafHK
Unsecured
bank Lease Dividend
borrowings liabilities payable Total
it
RITE™M HE&R FEfTRE R =L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT FATT FHT
Net debt as at | January 2023 720231 B I BBV FEE (522,259) (299,741) (3,779) (825,779)
Financing cash flows METHER 107,142 97373 22,191 226,706
Non-cash changes: FREEE
Finance costs b IB®N (29,829) (15,233) = (45,062)
Net movement of leases HEZEFHE - (63,945) - (63,945)
Dividends declared to EERFIFERERZZRE
non-controlling interests - - (18,412) (18,412)
Foreign exchange translation SNEIRE 3,068 806 = 3,874
Net debt as at 03 ENA3IANFARE
31 December 2023 (441,878) (280,740) - (722618)
Financing cash flows MEREM 60,117 102,136 42918 205,171
Non-cash changes: FEREEE
Finance costs AR (23271) (17,893) = (41,164)
Net movement of leases HEEHFEE = (149,584) = (149,584)
Dividend declared to EERTREZRE
shareholders = = (40,250) (40,250)
Dividend declared to EERTIFERERZEKE
non-controlling interests = = (2,668) (2,668)
Foreign exchange translation SMNERE 3,930 3,392 - 7322
Net debt as at P04ENB3I BN FAE
31 December 2024 (401,102) (342,689) = (743791)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

34

264

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the

Group has the following transactions and balances with related parties:

34

g INE

BRraMBREAMBOMNES
S AEBBEBERB NIRG R
B

Relationship Nature of transactions/balances 2024 2023
1% X5/ GERNE 20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Fellow subsidiary Repayment of operating lease 10,902 9541

BEENG

BELEHEE

In addition, certain trademarks owned by fellow subsidiaries of the Company were

used by the Group free of charge during both years.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other member of key management during the

reporting period was as follows:

Wi RmEFER AEBHRE
ERARBRANBARDFANET
BiRe

TEEEASHFM

EEREMTEEEEMENREH
MR T

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

Salaries and allowances e KR ah 11,336 12,183
Performance related incentive payments RIGIEFAREIT 7,057 887
Retirement benefit schemes contributions BRERIEHEIEZR 110 135
18,503 13,205

The performance related incentive disclosed above include HK$7,057,000 (2023:
HK$887,000) of bonuses payable under a performance related incentive scheme
which were unpaid as at year end and are included in other payables. In addition, the
retirement benefit scheme contributions disclosed in note 10 include HK$110,000

(2023: HK$135,000) of obligations payable to the key management personnel.
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36

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was HK$11,425,000 (2023:

HK$6,752,000) and all of the properties held for rental purpose have committed

lessees for the next few months to sixteen years (2023: few months to seventeen

years).

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

LR E MR RMEE

35 EEHERT AR

FEERBHEA

RERNBRNZMEHRETRASR
11,425,0005 7T (20234 : 6,752,00078
7o) RBWEBRBEENIBEZREA
MERKKREBE+/EF (2023F ¢
HAE+LH) HEEEEERMEA-

A ERKNREEERENT

2024 2023

20244 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHET FHT

Within one year —FR 6,823 9,040
In the second year S 3,446 5,787
In the third year F=F 3,528 3375
In the fourth year EPNF 3,613 3,404
In the fifth year ERF 1,900 3273
After five years HEMNE 711 2710
20,021 27,589

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting periods but

36 BAEIE

REEHRBITNELRERSER

not recognised as liabilities is as follows: NEAERFEIZNT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of property, FLUTEYIZE BB MREETL
plant and equipment contracted for but not provided ~ BRR 4R & S IR&FBEN
in the consolidated financial statements e 19,610 17,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

37

266

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/

operations/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/
registered capital/

charter capital/

37 FAAREEMBARRE

NS NS L

Proportion of share capital/
registered capital/
charter capital/quota capital

and voting power held

Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BETREERE KRARAFERE,/
AL AfMEs ERER/ AfMEs ERER/
MBAEHE RE/HuMYE TREL EHEEFRRRENLE FTEEH
At 3| December
1®12A318
2024 2023
204F 20235F
Directly owned
ERRE
Treasure Range Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$27 100% 100% Investment holding
Treasure Range Holdings Limited &8 ZRERTAET 100% 100% HEER
Indirectly owned
BEEE
Ascension International The BV Ordinary shares US$ | 100% 100% Investment holding
Development Limited

BEERERERAT EERUEE EERIER 100% 100% RELK
Fullelite Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
HRERRAE RERIHEE  BERIOXT 100% 100% REZER
Year Prosper Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
BEARRAT KERUBE SERIER 100% 100% REER
Wonderful Health Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding
Wonderful Health Limited RERIHEE  BERIOXT 100% 100% REZER
Sinomax International Investment Limited The BVI Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100% Investment holding and

provision of treasury

management services
EHRBEERRERR AT HKERUEE BERIET 100% 100% BEERRREHEHE

EERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully

3V ERRTEMBABFE @

Proportion of share capital/

Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BETRBRERE, KREFERE/
AL AmEs ERER/ AmEs ERER/
MEARAE RE/RUMYE TEEL EHEFTRREEOLE FTEEH
At 3| December
1®12A318
2024 2023
20245 203EF
Sinomax Health & Household Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
Products Limited HK$ 1,000,000 and household products
PHEREREARAERAT BE EIER 10000007 100% 100% FERHEERERXEE
m
Sinomax International Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of health and
HK$10,000 household products
PEBERESERAR BE EiBMR100008 7T 100% 100% BEKRRKEEMEE
Dongguan Sinohome Limited* (note 1) The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
HK$32,000,000 health and household
products
REBEXEARERAR W)  PE R EA32,00000087 100% 100% RERHERERREE
m
Shandong Sinomax Household Products and  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Processing, manufacturing and
Technology Limited* (note I) RMB30,000,000 sales of polyurethane foam
IIRBZERERRBRAR W)  PE s E A A R 130,000,000 100% 100% M REKRFEERRE
7T AR
Shanghai Luen Tai Polyurethane Co,, Ltd* The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Sales of polyurethane foam
(note 1) RMB20,000,000
LEBABRERAT (W) E SEAE A A #20,000,000 100% 100% SHERREERA
7T
Sinohome Household Products (Shenzhen) — The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
Limited* (note I) HK$ 1,000,000 and household products
BnxEAm (R ARAR (W) E R EZ1,000,000% 7T 100% 100% FERMERERREE

[alx|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

37 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 37 EATTEMBATFE @

(continued)

Issued and fully Proportion of share capital/
Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BETRBRERE, KREFERE/
AL AmEs ERER/ AmEs ERER/
MEARAE ge/Hihd TRES EHEETRRRENLH FEEH
At 3| December
1®12A318
2024 2023
20245 203EF
Sinomax (Zhejiang) Polyurethane Technology -~ The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited* (note I) US$52,000,000 health and household
products
B (D) RalBiARAS ] R EZ52,000000% 7T 100% 100% RERBERERREE
(P=E1) i
Sinomax Kuka (Zhejiang) Foam Co. Limited*  The PRC Registered capital 51% 51% Manufacture and sale of
(note 2) (“Sinomax Kuka") US$2,100,000 polyurethane foam
AIEREBKERERAT I SR EZA2,100000% 7T 51% 51% REMHERAERLA
(P5x2) (TEEsEERRER)
Sinomax (Dongguan) Sleep Technology The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% Retail and wholesale of health
Limited* (notes | and 3) RMB5,000,000 and household products
ik (R%) ERRKRARAR h B A AR #5,000000 100% 100% FERMLERERXEE
(PH3EIR3) T m
Sinomax USA, Inc. The US |00 shares of common 100% 100% Wholesale of health and
stock of no par value household products
Sinomax USA, Inc. X 0 EEEEER 100% 100% HERERREERD
Sinomax East, Inc. The US | share of common stock 100% 100% Manufacture of health and
with no par value household products
Sinomax East, Inc. %6 IREEETER 100% 100% BERENRKEER
Dormeo North American, LLC (“Dormeo”)  The US Issued and fully paid share 51.31% 51.31% Investment holding
capital US$50,481,560
Dormeo North American, LLC (TDormeo ) =[] BEITRAERAR 51.31% 5131% REER

50481 560 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Issued and fully

4= AR
17 (= B

A F5 R R M E

3 FRARTEMBARFE @

Proportion of share capital/

Place of paid share capital/ registered capital/
incorporation/ registered capital/ charter capital/quota capital
operations/ charter capital/ and voting power held
Name of subsidiary establishment quota capital by the Company Principal activities
BETRBRERE, KREFERE/
AL AmEs ERER/ AmEs ERER/
MEARAE RE/RUMYE TEEL EHEFTRREEOLE FTEEH
At 3| December
1®12A318
2024 2023
20245 203EF
Dormeo Canada Limited (previously Canada 1,000 shares of common 51.31% 51.31% Retail and wholesale of health
known as TSTV Canada Limited) stock of no par value and household products
Dormeo Canada Limited JIIEDN 1 0008% B BB R 51.31% 5131% BERMERBERREE
(RIFETSTV Canada Limited) &
Sinomax (Vietnam) Polyurethane Technology ~ Vietnam Charter capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited (note ) US$1,100,000 polyurethane foam
Sinomax (Vietnam) Polyurethane Technology ~ #473 ERREXI 100000% 7T 100% 100% HERHERIRE L
Limited (HZE1)
Sinomax (Vietnam) Household Products Vietnam Charter capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited (note ) US$ 1,500,000 health and household
products
Sinomax (Vietnam) Household Products HiE EREKI500000E 7T 100% 100% HERFERRRKEE
Limited (Fit&E|) i
Notes: g

(1) The companies are registered in the form of wholly foreign owned enterprise.

(2)  The companies are registered in the form of sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(3)  The company was acquired on 21 April 2023.

All the principal subsidiaries operate predominantly in their respective places of
incorporation/establishment. None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

the end of or any time during the reporting periods.

= English translated name is for identification purpose only.

() ZERVWIERELERAEMo

FREUPIHEERET Ao

&
%

Q)  ZABR2023F482 B

FFEEENBARETENEZBEMAA
i/ﬁkiiﬂﬂﬁ E-HENBRRNR

HAR S H PR I B B AT R 8
%o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e HRRMEE

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Place of establishment

and principal place

38 IEIERGHER

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting rights held  Profit/(loss) allocated to  Accumulated non-controlling

Name of subsidiary of business by non-controlling interests ~ non-controlling interests interests
DAvEiLEY FEREDFREEE  OREFEREDZ
MEARAE TEEE M s iR R LLA B (518) REtIEER S
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20235 20244 20235 20244 20235
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAT FHET TAT
Sinomax Kuka The PRC 49% 49% 25,243 20,344 79,554 51,037
DEEER R
Dormeo The US 48.69% 48.69% (662) (2435) (53,503) (58,305)
xH
24,581 17,909 26,051 (7.268)

(@)  Sinomax Kuka

@  EDFREREAX

Summarised financial information in respect of each of Group's subsidiaries that UTHIAEBZBEREKR
had material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial FEREGNNBABNEE
information below represents amounts before the elimination of intragroup MBEER -UTHERTER
transactions. PR2F &R RIBHERARAR
5o
At 31 December
128318
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
Current assets RENEE 226,536 175,583
Non-current assets FERESEE 28,156 38,721
Current liabilities Gk =R (92,337) (110,146)
Net assets BEFE 162,355 104,158
Total equity attributable to TN TREE R AREE
— owners of the Company e VNCIEZ= DN 82,801 53,121
— non-controlling interests —JEIER S 79,554 51,037
162,355 104,158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 38 FEIERRED (@
(@  Sinomax Kuka (continued) @ EREERG@
Year ended 3| December
BENAJBLFE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
Revenue WA 415,660 414,067
Expenses 553 (364,144) (372,545)
Profit for the year FRET 51,516 41,522
Profit for the year attributable to TN LG E AT
— owners of the Company S VNGIE =P 26,273 21,178
— non-controlling interests —JEERER 25,243 20,344
51,516 41,522
Other comprehensive income/(expense) THATEEFREMEE
for the year attributable to Wi/ ()
— owners of the Company . VNCIEZZS DN 1,530 (1,621)
— non-controlling interests — RS 1,470 (1,557)
3,000 (3,178)
Total comprehensive income for the year THALTREFENEERGEEEE
attributable to
— owners of the Company e VNCIE 2= DN 27,803 19,555
— non-controlling interests —JEEER S 26,713 18,789
54,516 38,344
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests A FIRERERZ R 2,668 15,191
Net cash inflow from operating activities REFHREMAREE 71,897 56,172
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEHREMLFH (1,134) (2,680)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEEIRE R FE (36,518) (42,612)
Net cash inflow REMNFEE 34,245 10,880
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E MR R

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

(b) Dormeo

B FHERERD (B

(b) Dormeo

At 31 December

128318
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
Current assets MENEE 85,871 71,998
Non-current assets FERBEE 324 1,246
Current liabilities MENEE (196,080) (193016)
Net liabilities aEEsE (109,885) (119,772)

Total deficit attributable to THIA TR AL AR EE

— owners of the Company e VNCIEZ= DN (56,382) (61,467)
— non-controlling interests —JEE RS (53,503) (58,305)
(109,885) (119,772)
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LR E MR RMEE

38 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 38 FEIERRED (@
(b)  Dormeo (continued) ()  Domeo (&)
Year ended 3| December
BENRANBILFE
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TAT
Revenue DN 293,009 279,125
Expenses 553 (294,369) (284,126)
Loss for the year FREE (1,360) (5,001)
Loss for the year attributable to THALREGFEREE
— owners of the Company I YNCIEZ 2PN (698) (2,566)
— non-controlling interests —JEERER (662) (2,435)
(1,360) (5,001)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TIATEEFREAERS L5
attributable to
— owners of the Company . VNCIEZZS DN (698) (2,569)
— non-controlling interests —JFERES (662) (2,435)
(1,360) (5,004)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REFHREMA/ (") P28
operating activities 3,049 (978)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REESHREMLFHE (165) (142)
Net cash inflow from financing activities MEEHRERATHE - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BERA/ () 28 2,884 (1,120)
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R E MR R

39

274

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND RESERVES OF FATMBER R ERE
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
20245 2023€
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries N AL 779,389 779,389
Current assets TMENEE
Other receivables HhpEW RIS 139 516
Bank balances and cash IRITERNIRE 296 304
435 820
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables HARETIE 1,056 106
Amounts due to subsidiaries I B ATIE 132,267 88,444
133,323 88,550
Net current liabilities BB AR (132,888) (87,730)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRSHAE 646,501 691,659
Capital and reserves BARRH#E
Share capital & 175,000 175,000
Reserves HE 471,501 516,659
Total equity REABER 646,501 691,659
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND RESERVES OF 39 FRARUBERRBERE @
THE COMPANY (continued)
Movements in the Company’s reserves AT EE
Share
Share Capital options Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ROEBE ELRHE BRERE GREF a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At | January 2023 1202351 B I1H 404,520 5) 3,439 119,239 527,193
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEEREEMSEE
expense for the year = = = (3534) (3.534)
Dividend paid BAKRE = = - (7,000) (7,000)
Lapse of share options S PR - - (2,174 2,174 =
At 31 December 2023 12023% 128318 404,520 () 1,265 110,879 516,659
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREERZ B
expense for the year - - - (4,908) (4908)
Dividend paid BARE - = = (40,250) (40,250)
Lapse of share options IR = = (1,265) 1,265 -
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 404,520 () - 66,986 471,501
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

40.1

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the

Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations by the Group (except for business combination
under common control) are accounted for using the acquisition method.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in

equity and consolidated statement of financial position respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.1

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(i)

An Associate

An associates is an entity over which the Group has significant influence
but not control or joint control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in
an associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting after

initially being recognised at cost.

When the Group's share of losses in an equity accounted investment
equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured
long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the

other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the entity. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investee have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investment is tested for

impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 40.7.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ATk R MI5E

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.1  Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in an “other reserve” within

equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to

another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.2

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary

comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred,

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;

. equity interests issued by the Group;

. fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration

arrangement, and

. fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired entity's net

identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.2 Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The excess of the:

g consideration transferred,

0 amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

. acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired
entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of
the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts
payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an

independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial asset.
Amounts classified as a financial asset are subsequently remeasured to fair value

with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying
value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from

such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.3

40.4

40.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are

accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the

investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal

reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM").

The executive directors of the Group (the "Executive Directors") are regarded
as the CODM who will review the operating results of the Group on a

consolidated basis, and make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars

("HK$") which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains or losses are presented in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at
fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through other

comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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40

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

40.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(i)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

405

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group entities that have

a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(@)  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial

position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that consolidated statement of financial position;

(b)  income and expenses for each consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at

average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on

the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are

translated at the dates of the transactions); and

() all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a

foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and

translated at the closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.
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ATk R MI5E

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.6

40.7

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising land and buildings, is held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by
the Group. It also includes properties that are being constructed or developed
for future use as investment properties. Investment property is initially measured
at cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at carrying values,
representing cost less depreciation and impairment provision. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over their

estimated useful lives of 20 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of

each reporting period.
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40

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.8

Investment and other financial assets and liabilities

()

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the follow

measurement categories:

O those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through

other comprehensive income or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing
the financial assets and liabilities and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded
in profit or loss or other comprehensive income (OCI). For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through

other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business

model for managing those assets changes.
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AT IR R MIEE

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.8

Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i)

(i)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or liability at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets

carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment

of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR E MR RMEE

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 40 EHtrseBEEND SHEREE @
POLICIES (continued)

40.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued) 408 KERHMESHEERERE @

(iii)  Measurement (continued) (i)  FE (&)

Debt instruments EFILR
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's BEHETANEBETSIUR
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics RAEERNEEZEE
of the asset. There are two measurement categories into which the MEBEARZEENR
Group classifies its debt instruments: ERERH - AERRHE
BEHEIAESMEsER

Bl

0 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual 0 BN A RIS
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of WREREMFEA
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest NEE MzERE
income from these financial assets is included in finance income REEAXNAE
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising RFIERIERMEE
on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and BREH A B o %
presented in “other losses, net” together with foreign exchange ZEMEENTE
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line L ONDS=1 ¥ 97
item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other STAMFEUA o & 1
comprehensive income. WBRMMEENEM
WamNEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 40 EHtrseBEEND SHEREE @
POLICIES (continued)

08 RERHMEMEERGE @

40.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii)  Measurement (continued) (i)  FE (&)
Debt instruments (continued) EETA (#B)

288

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash

flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are

ZREMEE R
BAFEIR B
WEBRENRERE

measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken AatEEMmEE
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or MFENEE HZ
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses ZEENRERE
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is ERZMNEERF

derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised

in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised

B RIBEREENE
BEMEE R DR

in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets ANEEFIRE 2R
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate HEZHHERHE
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other fth 2 m U & 7 50
gains/(losses) and impairment expenses are presented as separate E L R 508 1B W &

line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.8 Investment and other financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iv)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there

has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. For other
receivables and deposits, the Group applies the general approach in
assessing the expected credit loss. See note 3.1(i)(b) for further details

of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

40.9 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.10 Share capital

40.11

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (note 31).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to
the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. These amounts
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented

as non-current liabilities.

These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

40.12 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawn
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as prepayment for

liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

40.12 Borrowings (continued)

40.13

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a

substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing

costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.14 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the

current period's taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate

for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities

attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period
in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be

paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amount will be available to utilise those temporary differences

and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the company is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances related to the same taxation authority. Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or

to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.15 Employee benefits

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until

the time of leave.

()

Retirement benefit costs

The Group participates in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans which are available to all relevant employees. These plans
are generally funded through payments to schemes established by

government or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefit relating to employee service in the current and

prior periods.

The Group also contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans and other employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, other welfare benefits, organised and administered by
the relevant governmental authorities in respect of its employees in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group contributes to these
plans based on certain percentages of the total salary of employees,

subject to certain ceiling, as stipulated by the relevant regulations.

Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.15 Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus is recognised as a liability when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation for payment of bonus as a
result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the

obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled within 12 months and are

measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

40.16 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the share
option scheme, including Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

Employee share option

The fair value of options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is

determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

0 including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity's share

price)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MR R

40

296

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.16 Share-based payments (continued)

Employee share option (continued)

. excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an

employee of the entity over a specified time period), and

. including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g. the requirement

for employees to save or hold shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end
of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

40.17 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are
recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are

not recognised for future operating losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

90 HtTsEREZNESHEEREE (@)

2017 #E @

40.17 Provisions (continued)

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations

may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the management's best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to

the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

40.18 Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted
for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and

excluding treasury shares.
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40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.18 Earnings per share (continued)

(i) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination

of basic earnings per share to take into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted
average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary

shares.

40.19 Leases

As a lessor

The Group classifies all leases as operating leases as the Group will not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor, is
recognised within “other income™ in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position based on their
nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for

assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

40.20 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair values when there is a
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply

with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities and current liabilities as deferred income
and are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives

of the related assets.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hEMBREE

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial

years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements is set out below:

FEERBELEMREREZEZEURE
ERGERE BREEEZGFEMBR
=) HIWT -

RESULTS e
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20215 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET FATT TAET TET
Revenue A 4,091,144 3,608,894 3,171,478 4,259,882 3,231,701
Profit/(loss) before tax BriRATaES, (B518) 199,495 122,612 (49,210) 37,869 69,002
Income tax (expenses)/credit Frigi () /1% (36,846) (42,110) 12,025 (6,434) (7,948)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (E518) 162,649 80,502 (37,185) 31,435 61,054
Attributable to: TE AL :
Owners of the Company ri/NCIEZZ=DN 138,068 62,593 (35,970) 15,305 58,523
Non-controlling interest FFER T 24,581 17,909 (1215) 16,130 2,531
162,649 80,502 (37,185) 31,435 61,054
ASSET AND LIABILITIES BEREE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20235 20224 20215 20205
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET FET
Total assets BERE 2,556,986 2,406,144 2,237,942 2,828,870 2514210
Total liabilities EEEEEE (1,557,230) (1,487,654) (1,351,002) (1,822,252) (1,557,751)
Total equity AR 999,756 918,490 886,940 1,006,618 956,459
Attributable to: THIA LR
Owners of the Company r/NCIEZZS DN 973,705 925758 895,201 992,819 954,511
Non-controlling interest FEER 26,051 (7,268) (8261) 13,799 1,948
999,756 918,490 886,940 1,006,618 956,459
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